
 
 

 
 
 
MONDAY, 24 JANUARY 2022 

 
 

TO: ALL MEMBERS OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL & PUBLIC 
PROTECTION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
 
I HEREBY SUMMON YOU TO ATTEND A VIRTUAL MEETING OF 
THE ENVIRONMENTAL & PUBLIC PROTECTION SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE WHICH WILL BE HELD IN THE AT 10.00 AM ON 
TUESDAY, 1ST FEBRUARY, 2022 FOR THE TRANSACTION OF 
THE BUSINESS OUTLINED ON THE ATTACHED AGENDA.  
 
 
 
 

Wendy Walters 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 
 
 
 

Democratic Officer: Janine Owen 

Telephone (Direct Line): 01267 224030 

E-Mail: JanineOwen@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 

Wendy Walters Prif Weithredwr, Chief Executive, 
Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin. SA31 1JP 
County Hall, Carmarthen. SA31 1JP 

 

 
 

Document Pack



 

 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL & PUBLIC PROTECTION 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

14 MEMBERS 
 

 
 

PLAID CYMRU GROUP – 7 MEMBERS 
   
1. Councillor Karen Davies 
2. Councillor Mansel Charles 
3. Councillor Jeanette Gilasbey 
4. Councillor Dorian Phillips 
5. Councillor Susan Phillips 
6. Councillor Dai Thomas 
7. Councillor Aled Vaughan Owen (Vice Chair) 
   
LABOUR GROUP – 3 MEMBERS 
   
1. Councillor Penny Edwards 
2. Councillor Tina Higgins 
3. Councillor John James (Chair) 
   
   
INDEPENDENT GROUP – 3 MEMBERS 
   
1. Councillor Arwel Davies 
2. Councillor Joseph Davies 
3. Councillor Alan Speake 
   
NEW INDEPENDENT GROUP – 1 MEMBER 
   
1. Councillor  Eryl Morgan 
   
 



 

 

AGENDA   
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

2. DECLARATIONS OF PERSONAL INTEREST INCLUDING ANY 
PARTY WHIPS ISSUED IN RELATION TO ANY AGENDA ITEM.  

 

3. PUBLIC QUESTIONS (NONE RECEIVED)   

4. REVENUE BUDGET STRATEGY CONSULTATION  
2022/23 TO 2024/25  

5 - 66 

5. REVENUE & CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING REPORT 2021/22  67 - 88 

6. LOCAL ENVIRONMENT QUALITY MANAGEMENT PLAN  
2022 - 2026  

89 - 130 

7. FORTHCOMING ITEMS  131 - 148 

8. TO SIGN AS A CORRECT RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE 
MEETING OF THE COMMITTEE HELD ON THE  
22 DECEMBER 2021  

149 - 154 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL & PUBLIC PROTECTION  
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

 
1st FEBRUARY 2022 

 

REVENUE BUDGET STRATEGY CONSULTATION  
2022/23 to 2024/25 

 

Appendix A – Corporate Budget Strategy 2022/23 to 2024/25 

Appendix A(i) – Efficiency summary for the Environment and Public Protection Services  

Appendix A(ii) – Growth Pressures summary for the Environment Service  

Appendix B – Budget monitoring report for the Environment and Public Protection Services 

Appendix C – Charging Digest for the Environment and Public Protection Services  

 

To consider and comment on the following issues: 
 

 Members consider and comment on the budget strategy proposals 

 Members consider and comment on the proposals for delivery of efficiency savings for 
their service area identified in Appendix A(i)  

 Members are also invited to bring forward any other proposals for efficiency savings 

 Members examine the Departmental Budgets 

 Members endorse the Charging Digests 
 

Reasons:  
 
The Cabinet at its meeting on 17th January 2022 will have considered the attached 
Revenue Budget Strategy 2022/23 to 2024/25 (Appendix A) and endorsed the report for 
consultation purposes.  A verbal update will be given at the meeting in relation to any 
changes or specific proposals made by the Cabinet if appropriate. 
 

To be referred to the Cabinet for decision: No 
 

Cabinet Member Portfolio Holders:  

 Cllr. Hazel Evans (Environment)  

 Cllr. Philip Hughes (Public Protection) 

 Cllr. Cefin Campbell (Communities and Rural Affairs) 

 Cllr. David Jenkins (Resources)  
Directorate: 
Corporate Services  

Name of Director: 
Chris Moore 

Report Author:  
Randal Hemingway 

 
 
 

Designation: 
Head of Financial Services  
  

 
Tel No. / E-Mail Address: 
 
01267 224886  
Rhemingway@carmarthenshire.go 
v.uk   

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL & PUBLIC PROTECTION  
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

 
1st FEBRUARY 2022 

 

REVENUE BUDGET STRATEGY CONSULTATION 

2022/23 to 2024/25 
 
The objective of the report is to allow members to consider the corporate budget strategy for 
the financial years 2022/23 to 2024/25 to consider the service delivery impact and options for 
the forthcoming years. 

The report is set out as follows:- 

Appendix A 

 The attached report is a copy of the Revenue Budget Strategy 2022/23 to 2024/25 that 
has been presented to the Cabinet. As part of the budget consultation process the report 
is presented to this Scrutiny Committee for your consideration.  
 

 The report provides members with an initial view of the revenue budget issues for the 
forthcoming year and also reflects departmental submissions.  

 
Appendix B 
Current budget extracts for the Environment and Public Protection Services. 
 
Appendix C 
Charging Digest for the Environment and Public Protection Services. The charges for 2022/23 
have yet to be adopted and any change to the proposed charges will impact on the 
budget/efficiency proposals. 
 

REPORTS ATTACHED? YES:- 
Appendix A – Corporate Budget Strategy 2022/23 to 2024/25 

Appendix A(i) – Efficiency summary for the Environment and 
Public Protection Services  

Appendix A(ii) – Growth Pressures summary for the 
Environment Service  

Appendix B – Budget monitoring report for the Environment 
and Public Protection Services 

Appendix C – Charging Digest for the Environment and Public 
Protection Services  

 

  

Page 6



 

IMPLICATIONS 
 
I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate 
Directors / Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications 
associated with this report.  
  
Signed:    Chris Moore  

 
Director of Corporate Services 

Policy, 
Crime & 
Disorder 
and 
Equalities 

Legal Finance ICT Risk 
Management 
Issues 

Staffing 
Implications 

Physical 
Assets  

 
YES 
 

 
NONE 
 

 
YES  
 

 
NONE 
 

 
NONE 
 

 
NONE 
 

 
NONE 
 

 

1. Policy and Crime & Disorder   

The budget is being prepared having regard to the Improvement Plan. 

 
3. Finance   

The report provides an initial view of the Budget Strategy for 2022/23, together with 
indicative figures for the 2023/24 and 2024/25 financial years. The impact on 
departmental spending will be dependent upon the final settlement from Welsh 
Government and the resultant final Budget adopted by County Council. 

 

 

CONSULTATIONS 
 
I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below: 
  
Signed:    Chris Moore  

 
Director of Corporate Services 

 
1. Local Member(s) – N/A  
2. Community / Town Council – N/A 
3. Relevant Partners – Consultation with relevant partners will be undertaken and 
results will be reported during the budget process. 
4. Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations – Consultation with other 
organisations will be undertaken and results will be reported during the budget process. 
 

CABINET MEMBER PORTFOLIO 
HOLDERS AWARE/CONSULTED? 
 

YES 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
 
THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW:  
Title of Document 
 

File Ref No. / Locations that the papers are available for public 
inspection 

2022/23 3 year 
Revenue Budget 

 
Corporate Services Department, County Hall, Carmarthen 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



DETAILED REPORT  

 1 

 

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

Environmental & Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
   

1st February 2022 
 

REVENUE BUDGET STRATEGY 2022/23 to 2024/25 
(Copy of Cabinet report 17/01/2022) 

HEAD OF SERVICE & DESIGNATION. 
 
C Moore, Director of Corporate Services 

DIRECTORATE 
 
Corporate 
Services 

TELEPHONE NO. 
 
01267 224121 

AUTHOR & DESIGNATION  
 

R Hemingway, Head of Financial Services 

DIRECTORATE 
 

Corporate 
Services 

TELEPHONE NO 
 

01267 224886 

 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. Cabinet in July 2021 received a report on the Revenue Budget Outlook 
for 2022/23 to 2024/25 which appraised Members of the financial 
outlook and the proposals for taking forward the budget preparation for 
the three year period. 

1.2. This report provides Members with the current view of the Revenue 
Budget for 2022/23 together with indicative figures for the 2023/24 and 
2024/25 financial years. The report is based on officers’ projections of 
spending requirements and takes account of the provisional settlement 
issued by Welsh Government on 21st December 2021.  

1.3. Whilst significant work has already been undertaken in preparing the 
budget, this represents an initial position statement which will be 
updated over the coming month as the budget is further developed, 
council members are engaged and public consultation takes place. The 
final settlement is due to be received from Welsh Government on 1st  
March 2022. 

1.4. The report is broken down into six parts: 

 

 Funding Projections 

 Budget Requirement 

 Impact on the Authority’s budget requirement 

 Consultation 

 Conclusion  

 Recommendations    

Page 9



DETAILED REPORT  

 2 

 

2. PROVISIONAL SETTLEMENT  

2.1. The provisional settlement was announced on Tuesday 21st December 
2021. Provisional figures for individual Local Authorities were provided 
for 2022/23, with indicative figures for 2023/24 and 2024/25.  

2.2. The Westminster Comprehensive Spending Review announced in  
November 2021 included a significant Barnett consequential, reported 
at £1.6 billion, though analysis from Cardiff University indicates that year 
on year Welsh Government’s budget still drops by over £1 billion due to 
the cessation of one off Covid-19 funding. There were also the following 
announcements which have a material impact on our budget 
considerations: 

2.2.1. A cessation of the pay freeze proposed by the Chancellor 
a year earlier.  

2.2.2. A national living wage of £9.50, an increase of 6.6% on the 
current £8.91, which is a significantly bigger increase than 
previous years. 

2.3. The main points of the Provisional Settlement 2022/23 on an all Wales 
basis are as follows: 

2.3.1. Local government revenue funding for 2022/23 set at 
£5.108 billion, an increase of 9.8% (£456 million) 
compared to 2021/22, before adjustments. On a like for 
like basis after adjustments of £19 million, the increase is 
9.4% on an all Wales basis.  

2.3.2. Our analysis of this is as follows: 

 

The settlement is said to include £36 million (all Wales) 
funding for Local Authorities to meet the cost of Welsh 
Government’s policy to pay social care workers a living 
wage, however this funding is neither clearly identifiable 

Page 10



DETAILED REPORT  

 3 

nor is it shown as a transfer into the settlement which 
would normally be expected.  

The settlement includes the part year effect of the 
September 2021 Teachers pay award, however this figure 
does not show as a transfer in, unlike previous years. 

£5million (10%) of the All Wales Social Care Workforce 
grant has been transferred in, however there are no details 
explaining this treatment.  

2.3.3. As with last year, there is no funding floor. Individual 
settlements range from +11.2% (Monmouthshire) to 
+8.4% (Blaenau Gwent).  

 

 

2.4. The Settlement figures for Carmarthenshire are: 

2.4.1. After adjustments for WG identified transfers, the increase 
in the provisional settlement is 9.2% (£26.335 million). The 
Aggregate External Finance (AEF) therefore increases to 
£311.957 million in 2022/23. This includes £302k in 
respect of Social Care Workforce grant.  

 

This settlement is significantly above our original assumption of +2.0%, 
however there is significant risk to our funding position as the 
minister explicitly requires Local Authorities to accommodate the 
risks of future pay awards, inflationary pressures and ongoing 
Covid-19 related costs and continuing income reduction. The scale 
of these uncertainties is genuinely unprecedented, as discussed in detail 
later in this report.  

We have adjusted our MTFP assumptions for 2023 and beyond in line 
with WG guidance and increased the assumed level of future inflation. 
Our proposed savings total £11.7 million over the three year MTFP 
period.  

2.5. Details of the Welsh Government Service Specific Grants were provided 
alongside the provisional settlement on 21 December 2021 at an all 
Wales level. It is notable that many remain at broadly at  similar level 
(cash value level) to previous years, which will in reality reduce outputs 
given the impact of pay awards and general inflation.  There are however 
some important exceptions: 

 

- WG funding to support schools catchup/ recovery activities from the 
ongoing impacts of COVID-19 on learners has been continued. The 
Recruit Recover Retain Standards (RRRS) Grant has been set at 

Page 11



DETAILED REPORT  

 4 

£37.5 million All Wales, which is expected to provide in excess of £2 
million for Carmarthenshire’s Schools. 

- The Additional Learning Needs grant, introduced two years ago, has 
doubled from £7 million to £14 million across Wales. This recognises 
the cost of implementing new legislation and is estimated to 
contibution c. £400k to Carmarthenshire. 

As with last year, there are a number of grant changes referred to in the 
text to the main WG budget narrative which are not reflected in the Local 
Government provisional grant tables, which it is assumed are due to be 
updated for the final settlement.  

3. BUDGET REQUIREMENT 2021/22 

3.1. Current Years performance (2021/22) 

3.1.1. As the Authority’s core spending requirements remains 
constant year on year, a review of current year’s 
performance is important in identifying whether there are 
any underlying problems within the base budget 

3.1.2. The current projection for the Revenue Outturn for 2021/22 
(based on the October 2021 monitoring) is as follows 

Service

Approved

Budget

Total

Expenditure

Forecast

Variance

Forecast 

For Year

£'000 £'000 £'000

Chief Executive 16,740 16,192 -548

Communities 108,104 108,273 169

Corporate Services 29,556 28,664 -892

Education and Children's Services 179,660 179,660 0

Environment 61,390 60,936 -454

Departmental Expenditure 395,451 393,725 -1,726

Cont from Dept/Earmarked  

Reserves 0

Capital Charges -20,155 -20,655 -500

Levies and Contributions 10,889 10,889 0

Transfer to/ from Reserves 0 946 946

Net Expenditure 386,185 384,906 -1,279

 

The main reasons for the departmental variances are as follows:  

o Chief Executive’s Department: shortfall in income generation 
from Commercial properties, offset by underspends across 
staffing budgets  

Page 12



DETAILED REPORT  

 5 

o Education and Children’s Services: the department’s core 
budget is currently forecasting to break even for the year, 
however schools working budgets are forecasting to utilise 
£4.7m of their reserves in the current year.  

o Communities Department: underspends in Older Peoples 
budgets offset by overspends in Learning Disabilities division. 
Without the support of the Covid Hardship Fund, the 
overspend would be significantly higher. 

o Corporate Services: Underspends on pre Local Government 
Reorganisation pension costs, Rent Allowances, and Housing 
Benefit Administration, partially offset by a forecast increase 
in demand for Council Tax Reduction Scheme.  

o Environment Department: Above target income on Property 
Maintenance and Planning service underspends, partially 
offset by increased demand and supplier costs in school 
transport  

At this point the Authority is currently forecasting a variance of 
£1.3 million. It is proposed that £500k from the forecast 
underspend is set aside for decarbonisation. Whilst the Welsh 
Government capital settlement provides additional funding for 
decarbonisation, this does not commence until 2023/24. Our 
action would allow us to accelerate our response to the climate 
emergency. This will be provided as funding into the Capital 
Programme. 

3.2. Validation 

3.2.1. Validation reflects the changes in expenditure requirements to 
deliver the current level of services in future years. Primarily 
this is inflation, but also includes some service specific changes. 
Some areas of inflation are currently at rates that have not been 

Page 13



DETAILED REPORT  

 6 

seen in recent years and present risks to our budget. The key 
validation factors are as follows: 

2022/23 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Original Proposed

General inflation - Expenditure 2.5% 4.0% 3.0% 2.5%

General inflation - Fees & Charges 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5%

Electricity* 2.5% 20.0% 5.0% 5.0%

Gas* 2.5% 20.0% 5.0% 5.0%

Fuel 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%

Pay Inflation - non teaching 2.50% 4.00% 2.50% 2.50%

Pay Inflation - Teaching 2.50% 4.00% 2.50% 2.50%

NI increase 0.00% 1.25% 0.00% 0.00%

Levies 2.9% 3.3% 2.5% 2.5%

Pension Contributions nil nil nil nil

Capital Charges £500k £500k £500k £500k

* 2022/23 increase explicitly recognised in pressures due to extraordinary scale   

 

3.2.2. Our previous planning assumptions include future annual pay 
awards of 2.50% for all staff. Since the budget outlook paper was 
considered in July 2021, the situation has evolved: 

o Teachers Pay - the September 2021 Teachers pay award has 
been implemented at 1.75% (vs our assumption of 2.5%), but 
the Office for Budget Responsibility has forecast next year’s 
pay award at 4% (UK) 

o Employers have made a final offer of 1.75% for NJC staff for 
2021/22, which Unions have rejected. This pay award, once 
agreed, will apply from April 2021 

 

3.2.3. The Council’s 2021/22 budget was set on the basis of a 2.5% 
award. Against this, the latest employers offer for the majority of 
NJC staff (the largest share of our payroll) was 1.75%, in line with 
the September 2021 teachers award. This provides some 
potential budget headroom. Our assumption next year is 
increased to allow for a 4% award from September 2022 for 
Teachers and April 2022 for NJC staff. Depending on the extent 
to which current inflation persists, even at this increased level, 
this could still be considered a real terms reduction.  

 

 
3.2.4. In September 2021, the Prime Minister announced an increase of 

2.5% to National Insurance, split equally between employee and 
employer, to provide increased funding for health and social care. 
We estimate the 1.25% increase in employer rates is worth c. 
£2.7 million to our budgets.  

 

3.2.5. We have received confirmation from the fire authority that their 
indicative budget assumes a levy increase of 3.24%. As with last 
year, this is based on the explicit understanding that firefighters 

Page 14



DETAILED REPORT  

 7 

pension cost increases continue to be met through direct grant 
award.  

3.2.6. As a result of these factors, validation is at its highest level ever 
in recent years and adds over £16 million to the current year’s 
budget. 

3.3. Cost Reduction Programme 

In anticipation of the settlement challenges, significant work to 
review service efficiencies/rationalisation proposals has been 
undertaken. This continues to be exceptionally challenging as the 
pandemic - and our response to it - continues to have a significant 
ongoing impact upon service delivery.  

3.3.1. The savings targets set for each financial year are as follows: 

 2022/23 
£m 

2023/24 
£m 

2024/25 
£m 

Original targets (July 
Budget Outlook report) 
 

5.209 5.333 5.024 

Proposed Savings 
(following Provisional 
Settlement) 

3.839 3.908 3.982 

3.3.2. Accordingly, departments have developed a range of proposals, 
and these efficiencies are included in Appendix A of this report. 

 The efficiency proposals are categorised as follows: 

Managerial – Efficiencies that result in no perceivable 
change to the overall level of service delivery.  

Policy – Efficiency or service rationalisation proposals 
that will directly affect service delivery. 

 2022/23 
£m 

2023/24 
£m 

2024/25 
£m 

Managerial 3.654 3.358 3.240 

Existing Policy 0.070 0.550 0.742 

New Policy 0.115 Nil Nil 

Total  3.839 3.908 3.982 

(Detail at Appendix A) 

3.3.3. The summary sheet at Appendix A sets out the savings targets 
set for individual departments and the value of savings currently 
identified.  

3.3.4. More work will need to be undertaken to further develop these 
efficiencies when the pandemic eases. 

  

Page 15



DETAILED REPORT  

 8 

3.4. New Expenditure Pressures 

3.4.1. New expenditure pressures are the combinations of additional 
cost to meet existing service needs e.g. increased client 
base/greater service take up and the costs of meeting change in 
service provision e.g. policy changes.   

3.4.2. The original budget outlook report included £5.5 million per 
annum to meet growth pressures. 

This year, an extraordinary level of initial growth bids were 
received from departments, exceeding £30 million. Based on an 
evaluation of the value and unavoidable nature of pressures 
submitted as well as additional funding identified through grants 
as explained in paragraph 2.5 above, core funding for specific 
pressures totalling £12.5 million have been funded (plus the NI 
increase of £2.7m reference in Para 3.2.4).  

For this budget round, social care pressures in particular have 
been at an unprecedented level: 

o Funding required for the National Living Wage increase is 
significantly increased, as the Chancellor’s announcement of 
£9.50/hour was much higher than expected (the figure 
forecast by the Office of Budget Responsibility). The Welsh 
Government has raised this even further with the 
commitment to raise pay in the care sector above the 
foundation living wage – currently £9.90/hour. Even with 
baseline inflation set at 4%, this adds a further £3.9 million to 
inescapable pressures. 

Last year’s budget papers foresaw that to achieve increasingly 
challenging statutory Welsh Government recycling targets, 
changes to the waste collection methodology in the coming 
years would be required. This budget includes a sum of £1.3 
million towards this, which will also contribute towards the 
decarbonisation agenda.   

3.4.3 The minister’s letter explicitly instructs Local Authorities to 
assess the future financial risk of COVID19 and provide for it 
from the improved settlement. Carmarthenshire’s total hardship 
claims since the start of the pandemic exceeds £50 million and 
we are currently claiming between £2-3 million per month. With 
the current uncertainty surrounding the Omicron variant, making 
any reliable assessment is almost impossible, and providing 
ongoing funding is frankly impossible given the scale of pay 
pressures and inflation. Given these issues, this budget strategy 
increases our existing Contingency budget of £1million to £2 
million and adds a separate fund to recompense income loss 
from services, which is highly likely to be drawn in full over the 
year. This provides total covid corporate contingency of £3 

Page 16



DETAILED REPORT  

 9 

million. In addition, there remains a dedicated £500k social care 
contingency within the base budget of Communities department. 
Should these be insufficient, the Authority would need to 
critically assess its reserves and forward commitments, with the 
first call being the review of uncommitted future capital 
schemes.  

In total, pressures funding adds £12.5 million to the budget. The 
detail is provided at Appendix B. 

3.5. Schools Delegated Budgets 

3.5.1 Over recent years, our MTFP has provided in full for known 
pressures to school budgets including inflationary costs and pay 
awards. Whilst school balances increased significantly this year, 
this represented one off grant funding to support covid recovery 
and raising standards following the impact of COVID-19 on 
learners and the education system overall. Our current forecast 
is that nearly £5m of this will be drawn down this year. We have 
had recent indications from WG of additional funds, much of 
which is likely to be carried forward into next year. Whist this will 
again enhance school balances this year, it is for specific 
activities, including repairs and maintenance, and is again only 
temporary in nature.  

Against this backdrop, we have maintained the existing 
approach, including funding for pay award increases, inflation on 
non-pay budgets and the assumed extraordinary increase in 
energy prices.  

 Members should note that as outlined in paragraph 2.5 above, 
the RRRS grant (which was not expected to continue) and 
increased ALN grant, provides a further £2.4 million. In total, 
Education and Children’s Services budgets will see increased 
funding of c. £11 million.  

    

3.6. Internal Funding 

3.6.1. Generally speaking whilst the use of reserves to support annual 
budgets should not be summarily discounted, it must be treated 
with caution. Funding on-going expenditure from such funds 
merely defers and compounds difficult financial problems to the 
following year. One-off items of expenditure within any budget 
proposal lend themselves better for such funding support. 

Page 17



DETAILED REPORT  

 10 

3.6.2. In deliberating this point however, members must bear in mind 
any inherent risks that may be built into the budget strategy. 
These include: 

- Uncertainty around the true economic impact of 
the new trading arrangements with Europe, which 
seem to evidently be impacting on commodity 
costs   

- The pace of deployment and efficacy of Covid-19 
vaccine upon the need for continuing public health 
restrictions  

- Future inflation/interest rates 
- The timing and severity of fiscal or expenditure 

measures brought in by Westminster Government 
to balance public sector finances.  

- Additional pressure on demand lead Services  
 
In addition it should be noted that whilst, for the first time in a 
number of years, Welsh Government have been able to provide 
indicative core funding allocations for 2023/24 and 2024/25, 
they are only indicative at this point in time and will be subject to 
change.  
 

3.6.3. The following table summarises the main categories of reserves 
held by the Authority. 

 1st Apr 
2021 
£’000 

31st Mch 
2022 
£’000 

31st Mch 
2023 
£’000 

31st Mch 
2024 
£’000 

Schools Reserves 7,266 2,525 2,525 2,525 

General Reserves 12,034 12,813 12,813 12,813 

Earmarked Reserves 114,805 76,484 55,294 50,941 

 

3.6.4. School Reserves 

 Schools have delegated responsibility for the 
management of their own finances.   The level of 
reserves held by an individual school at any point 
in time will depend on a number of factors 
including the level of contingency fund that the 
school governing body considers appropriate, 
and the particular plans each school has for 
expenditure. Officers have yet to be informed of 
any transfers to/from these reserves by individual 
schools for future years. 

 Legislation allows schools to carry forward 
reserves from one financial period to another.  
The School Funding (Wales) Regulations 2010 
requires schools to limit their accumulated 

Page 18



DETAILED REPORT  

 11 

reserves at year end to £50,000 for Primary 
Schools and £100,000 for Secondary and 
Special Schools or 5% of their budget dependent 
on what is greater. School Improvement officers 
are currently working with schools to ensure they 
comply with the guidance. As at 31st March 2021, 
23 primary, 4 secondary and 1 special schools 
were in deficit.  

 

3.6.5. General Reserves 

 In the changeable and challenging environment 
currently facing Local Government the Authority 
is committed to maintaining a reasonable level of 
General reserves or Balances.   Whilst there is 
no prescribed minimum level for Balances, 
Council has previously deemed 3% of net 
expenditure as being a prudent level, which has 
been accepted by our Auditors as being 
reasonable 

 The overall level of balances is taken into 
consideration each year when the annual budget 
is set and has on occasions been utilised to 
augment expenditure/reduce council tax. The 
2021/22 budget was set on the basis of no 
transfers from the General Reserves. Based 
upon the October Budget monitoring (outlined in 
paragraph 3.1.2 above) there could be a small 
increase of £779k to General Reserves and a fall  
of £4.7 million on school balances at the end of 
the current financial year. 

 Given the ongoing impact of the pandemic 
response on our budgets and the uncertainty of 
continued WG support into next year, it is 
deemed imprudent at this stage to assume any 
further support for future years budgets from the 
current General Reserves.  

3.6.6. Earmarked Reserves 

 The Authority holds earmarked reserves which 
have been set up to finance the delivery of 
specific projects, or in protecting the authority 

Page 19



DETAILED REPORT  

 12 

against future liabilities or issues.   The reserves 
can be summarised as follows: 

Reserve 

31 
March 
 2021 
£'000 

31 
March 
 2022 
£'000 

31 
March 
 2023 
£'000 

31 
March 
 2024 
£'000 

Insurance 12,906 13,658 14,908 15,658 

Capital Funds 51,944 19,348 12,440 13,867 

Development Fund (inc. Schools Dev Fund) 940 1,075 2,195 2,249 

Corporate Retirement Fund 5,276 4,276 3,276 2,276 

Joint Ventures 1,427 1,359 1,325 1,276 

Other 42,313 36,769 21,151 15,616 

TOTAL 114,805 76,484 55,294 50,941 

 

 As can be seen from the table above the level of 
earmarked reserves fluctuates greatly year on 
year, and whilst the level in each fund is not an 
exact science it is based on an informed estimate 
and past experience of the likely call on the 
authority in future years in line with the intended 
purpose of each reserve. Great care must 
therefore be taken when considering utilising 
such funds for purposes other than those which 
they were created as this could lead to the 
authority being faced with substantial unfunded 
liabilities in the future 

 The budget proposals therefore assume nil 
contribution from reserves in support of the 
revenue budget in 2022/23 and a further analysis 
of the reserves held will be undertaken over the 
coming months with any further proposed 
utilisation being considered at the budget 
finalisation stage. 

 Taking account of the proposals within this 
report, the Director of Corporate Services 
confirms that overall the estimated level of 
financial reserves (as indicated above) is 
adequate for the financial year 2022/23, with the 
General Reserves being at the appropriate level 
in line with guidelines and good practice, but is 
also very conscious of the significant risks of this 
Budget Strategy and the ongoing Pandemic.  

 The Director is also very conscious of the 
ongoing commitment to capital projects and of 

Page 20



DETAILED REPORT  

 13 

the demand on future services and therefore 
feels the reserves will need to be monitored 
closely going forward. 

4. IMPACT ON THE AUTHORITY’S BUDGET STRATEGY 

The table below provides an updated position on the current financial outlook 
taking account of the provisional settlement and also other recent validation 
changes.  

4.1. The Current Financial Outlook (updated for the Provisional Settlement) 
is set out in the table below: 

 

  
Current MTFP Proposed Financial Model 

 
2022/23 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2022/23 
£’000  

2023/24 
£’000  

2024/25 
£’000  

Previous Year’s Budget  386,185 396,609 386,185 417,799 432,744 

General Inflation  2,278 2,730 6,423 5,314 3,266 

Pay Inflation  6,287 6,271 9,804 6,212 6,307 

Transfers in & other*  1,568 1,642 5,923 1,827 1,298 

Growth  5,500 5,500 12,544 5,500 5,500 

Savings proposals  -4,644 -4,093 -3,839 -3,908 -3,982 

Further savings to be identified -565 -1,240 nil nil nil 

Funding unallocated  nil nil 757 nil nil 

Net Expenditure  396,609 407,419 417,799 432,744 445,133 

Funded by: 

Revenue Settlement  290,517 296,327 311,597 322,503 330,243 

Council Tax Receipts  106,092 111,092 106,202 110,241 114,890 

Council Tax Increase: 4.35% 4.40% 4.39% 3.42% 3.84% 

*includes funding allocation to Covid Contingency (paragraph 3.4.3) 

4.2. The total of budget reductions now required for 2022/23 is £3.8m and 
for the 3 year period are estimated at £12m.  

4.3. The 2022/23 draft budget currently includes a contingencies totalling  
£3.5m in respect of additional expenditure and income loss due to 
COVID19. The level of risk or uncertainty will continue to be assessed 

Page 21



DETAILED REPORT  

 14 

should there be either additions required or reductions possible as part 
of the final budget setting and will then be continually monitored during 
the year. 

4.4. The 2022/23 budget contains £757k which is as yet unallocated, which 
will allow members scope to consider additional information forthcoming 
in respect of: 

4.4.1. Responses to the consultation process 

4.4.2. Clarification of specific grants 

4.4.3. Further growth pressures not currently addressed 

4.4.4. Changes in the assessed implications of the Pandemic  

4.4.5. Changes arising from the final settlement 

5. CONSULTATION 

Budget consultation has been planned for the coming month and a summary 
of the individual approaches are as follows: 

5.1. Members seminars. (17-21 January 2022) 

5.2. The consultation process will commence from 17 January 2022. 

5.3. Town & Community Councils and  commercial ratepayers consultation 
in January 2022. 

5.4. Consultation with Scrutiny Committees during January & February 2022. 

5.5. Consultation with the Schools Budget Forum on 24 January 2022. 

5.6. Trade Union Consultation meeting on 26 January 2022 

6. WELLBEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS (WALES) ACT 2015 

6.1. In considering the budget proposals, members need to take into 
consideration the requirements of the Wellbeing of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015. The Act requires that we must carry out sustainable 
development, improving the economic, social environmental and 
cultural well-being of Wales.  

‘… the public body must act in a manner which seeks to ensure that the 
needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs’ 

6.2. In doing so, we must demonstrate the following 5 ways of working: 

 Looking at the long-term so that we do not compromise the ability 
of future generations to meet their own needs 

Page 22



DETAILED REPORT  

 15 

 Understanding the root causes of the issues to prevent them 
recurring 

 Taking an integrated approach so that we look at all well-being 
goals and objectives of other services and partners 

 Collaboration – Working with others in a collaborative way to find 
shared sustainable solutions 

 Involving a diversity of population in decisions that affect them 

6.3. Carmarthenshire’s Well Being objectives were updated in April 2021: 

Start Well  

1. Help to give every child the best start in life and improve their early life 
experiences 

2. Help children live healthy lifestyles 

Live Well 

3. Support and improve progress, achievement, and outcomes for all 
learners  

4. Tackle poverty by doing all we can to prevent it, help people into work 
and improve the lives of those living in poverty 

5. Create more jobs and growth throughout the county 

6. Increase the availability of rented and affordable homes 

7. Help people live healthy lives (tackling risky behaviour and obesity) 

8. Support community cohesion, resilience and safety  

Age Well 

9. Support older people to age well and maintain dignity and independence 
in their later years 

In a Healthy and Safe & Prosperous Environment 

10. Look after the environment now and for the future 

11. Improve the highway and transport infrastructure and connectivity 

12. Promote Welsh Language and Culture 

Corporate governance 

13. Better Governance and use of Resources 

Page 23



DETAILED REPORT  

 16 

 

7. CONCLUSION 

7.1. Currently the budget proposals assume the full delivery of all of the  
savings proposals submitted.  

7.2. Work needs to be undertaken to further develop the cost reductions for 
years 2023/24 and 2024/25 to be able to maintain the current Budget 
Strategy and level of council tax. Departments will be working over the 
forthcoming year to refine these savings.  

7.3. It is recognised the critical importance of minimising the Council Tax 
increase for our residents whilst maintaining a balanced budget in these 
unprecedented and challenging times. 

7.4. Given the current risks around this Budget Strategy and the ongoing 
significant impact of the pandemic. Council Tax increases have been 
maintained at the previous MTFP level of 4.4% for next year, with the 
savings identified in years 2 and 3 leading to indicative Council Tax 
increases of 3.4% and 3.8% respectively. This provides at least some 
mitigation to the savings proposals which the council needs to consider 
over future years of the Medium Term Financial Plan.  

7.5. Over the coming weeks and part of the refining of the Medium Term 
Financial Plan where the Authority gets further clarification on costs and 
grant funding and feedback on the consultation, the Authority will aim to 
limit the Council Tax increase as far as possible. 

8. RECOMMENDATION 

8.1. That Cabinet:  

8.1.1. Note the contents of the report and approve the three year 
Budget Strategy as a basis for consultation. Specifically 
seeking comments from consultees on the efficiency 
proposals in Appendix A.  

8.1.2. Note the unallocated sum of £757k in the current strategy, 
which will be given further consideration at the completion 
of the consultation as noted in paragraph 4.4.  

8.1.3. Approve the proposal to allocate £500k from forecast 
current year underspends to accelerate our 
Decarbonisation plans in the forthcoming year.  

 

Page 24



APPENDIX A (i)

ENVIRONMENTAL & PUBLIC PROTECTION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

1st February 2022

Efficiency Summary

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Total

£'000 £'000 £'001 £'000

Chief Executive 432            443           417           1,292

Education & Children 904            925           872           2,701

Schools Delegated -             -            -            0

Corporate Services 180            184           174           538

Communities 2,471         2,530        2,383        7,384

Environment 1,222         1,251        1,178        3,651

5,209 5,333 5,024 15,566

 Proposals

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Total 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Total 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Total 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Chief Executive 399 282 269 950 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 399 282 269 950

Education 538 405 140 1,083 50 250 252 552 115 0 0 115 703 655 392 1,750

Schools Delegated 0 0 0 0 0 270 480 750 0 0 0 0 0 270 480 750

Corporate Services 180 180 75 435 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 180 180 75 435

Communities 1,703 2,232 1,980 5,914 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,703 2,232 1,980 5,914

Environment 834 259 776 1,869 20 30 10 60 0 0 0 0 854 289 786 1,929

3,654 3,358 3,240 10,251 70 550 742 1,362 115 0 0 115 3,839 3,908 3,982 11,728

            SHORTFALL VS ORIGINAL TARGETS

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Chief Executive 33 161 148 342

Education & Children 201 270 480 951

Schools Delegated 0 -270 -480 -750 

Corporate Services -0 4 99 103

Communities 768 299 403 1,470

Environment 368 962 392 1,722

1,371 1,426 1,042 3,838

ORIGINAL SAVINGS TARGETS

MANAGERIAL EXISTING POLICY PROPOSALS NEW POLICY PROPOSALS TOTAL PROPOSALS

page 1 of 5

P
age 25



MANAGERIAL

DEPARTMENT
2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Proposed

2023/24 

Proposed

2024/25 

Proposed
Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Environment 

Highways & Transport

Parking Services (£1,066)

The County Council provides off street car parking facilities in towns and villages to 

support the expeditious movement of traffic to enable town centres to function. 

Parking supports these wider transport policy objectives and enables the authority to 

maintain highway and public transport services. There are 57 car parks across the 

county.  

125 0 0 125 

Parking services increase planned April 2020, but effected January 2021.  Parking 

income is vulnerable due to the economic impact of COVID19, we can anticipate 

that income will reduce for the next 12 - 24 months. The charges will increase as 

approved but income will fall overall. It is difficult to predict the long-term impact of 

covid on town centres and therefore parking income. 

Parking Services (£1,066)

The County Council provides off street car parking facilities in towns and villages to 

support the expeditious movement of traffic to enable town centres to function. 

Parking supports these wider transport policy objectives and enables the authority to 

maintain highway and public transport services. There are 57 car parks across the 

county.  

62 0 0 62 Introduce Charges to additional car parks

Highways  - town centre management 19 
Town Centre Management Budget (Minor structural works, paved areas, bollards, 

street furniture) reductions will further increase risk to safety.
19 0 0 19 

Cease the proactive maintenance work by moving to reactive repairs only in town 

centres. There may be opportunities for increased maintenance when grant funding 

could be utilised otherwise there is a possibility that town centre furniture will have 

to be removed.

Highways  365 

Carmarthenshire has the second largest highway network in Wales (3482 Km of 

highway) and is more than double the Welsh average of 1578km. We have the third 

highest traffic volume in Wales - in 2018 the Wales average was 1.33 billion vehicle 

km/per year and Carmarthenshire were third at 2.06 billion (Cardiff 3.0 and RCT at 

2.15 were highest).Our 3500km highway network is subject to many external 

influences which cause the asset to deteriorate such as weather impacts and traffic 

loading. There is a backlog of carriageway maintenance works in Carmarthenshire 

equating to £36 million, reductions will further increase risk to safety.

30 0 0 30 

Reduce General Maintenance Budget - subject to the financial position remaining 

unchanged the service will be forced to further reduce the level of general 

maintenance work.

Depot rationalisation
various across 

the dept
Depot infrastructure to support the delivery of front line services. 0 0 140 140 Depot rationalisation

Public Rights of Way 443

The Countryside Access Team has responsibility for the Definitive Map and 

Statement of Public Rights of Way in Carmarthenshire which is the conclusive legal 

record. Public Rights of Way include footpaths, bridleways, restricted byways and 

byways open to all traffic. There are urban and semi-urban routes in towns and 

villages but much of the 1,500 mile network is out in the countryside crossing fields, 

farmland and open country. It’s a fantastic leisure and recreational resource for the 

people of Carmarthenshire and visitors to the County with the Wales Coast Path and 

numerous other walking/riding and cycling routes on offer. Enforcement and legal 

issues associated with the implementation of the Rights of way Improvement plan.

4 0 0 4 Reduce PRoW vehicles by 1 

Service reconfiguration
net divisional 

budget of £21M

The strategic leadership, management, development and delivery of transport and 

engineering services for the Authority.
20 0 0 20 

Divisional Service Reconfiguration - subject to the financial position remaining 

unchanged the service will be forced to reduce the level of staffing resource with 

the consequential impact on service. 

Road Safety 184

The Road Safety Unit is responsible for delivery of road safety initiatives to meet 

road casualty reduction targets. The unit has responsibility for road safety education, 

training and publicity, the School crossing patrol service, national driver 

improvement schemes and road safety outside schools.

5 5 0 10 Road Safety Innovation - the service will develop income streams and sponsorship.

Road Safety and Traffic Management 512

The Traffic Management, Road Safety and Parking Business Unit investigates and 

strives to prevent road accidents by utilising a mix of engineering, education and 

enforcement interventions across Carmarthenshire.  With the third highest traffic 

volumes in Wales, managing the expeditious movement of traffic and improving 

road safety on the second highest length of road network in Wales, requires prudent 

management of a limited resource. 

88 10 0 98 

Increased income from Road Closures due to increased utility activity , this will be 

kept under review for future years due to its reactive nature. We don't know what 

level of utility works will be taking place in future years. If there's a downturn then 

our income will drop.

Streetworks and Adoptions 65

Co-ordination and management of all works affecting public highways in accordance 

with the Traffic Management Act - including utility works.  Supervision of new 

housing estate roads in preparation for future adoption by Carms County Council 

under section 38 of the Highways Act.

15 0 0 15 Increased Income from permitting

Highways - stopping up orders -5

Stopping Up Orders are made when sections of the existing highway become 

redundant. This happens for example when a road improvement is undertaken, land 

within the extent of the original  highway limit that has become redundant  is then 

stopped up via a legislative process and reverts to the landowner.  Where there is a 

formal request received from a landowner to Stop Up an area of highway land, the 

proposal is to charge the respective landowner the associated costs for undertaking 

this work. 

3 3 0 6 Stopping Up Orders

FACT FILE EFFICIENCY DESCRIPTION

page 2 of 5

P
age 26



MANAGERIAL

DEPARTMENT
2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Proposed

2023/24 

Proposed

2024/25 

Proposed
Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FACT FILE EFFICIENCY DESCRIPTION

Design -583

The Engineering Design Unit is responsible for the design and delivery of 

infrastructure Projects. Projects are diverse and range from small traffic 

management and passenger transport schemes through to new road constructions 

projects such as the Cross Hands Link Road. Engineering Design provides 

Engineering advice corporately across all departments of the authority. It also 

manages the ‘Gateway’ function for Regional frameworks for both Engineering 

Design and Engineering Contractors Frameworks. 

30 0 0 30 Income Generation

School  Transport 4,473

Provision of home to primary/secondary/special schools transport in accordance with 

statutory obligations. Provision of transport in the post-16 sector is a discretionary 

service. Provision of passenger assistants for pupils with Additional Learning Needs

0 30 110 140 Additional Needs Personal Travel Budgets

Property Design -328 
The property design, procurement and project management service, including 

regional design frameworks. Management and delivery of projects.
81 0 0 81 

Additional income generation based on in-house expertise available to public sector 

partners and other markets as appropriate. 

Asset Utilisation
various across 

the dept
Use of vehicles and plant with service users. 10 98 108 Client Budget reductions***. Invest to save

Total Highways & Transport division 482 58 348 888

Property 

Property Maintenance 2,593 
This division is responsible for the day-to-day and long term repairs & maintenance 

of the council's estates including schools, administrative buildings, depots etc.  
98 0 0 98 

Over 98% of the budget for the Property Division comprises the Revenue 

Maintenance Budget. Efficiencies are proposed to be met through reducing 

expenditure on revenue maintenance across the Council’s buildings following 

disposal of some properties and previous capital improvements undertaken to 

others. We are also aiming to make savings through new procurement 

arrangements and seeking to in-source areas of work where it is more cost effective 

than using external contractors or consultants. 

Total Property division 98 0 0 98 

Waste & Environmental Services

Reduction Black bag waste 6,988 

Targeted campaigns to reduce waste and increase the awareness and use of all 

recycling schemes/initiatives. It is anticipated that this will result in the diversion of 

waste from the residual waste stream to the  recycling waste stream, thereby 

realising savings due to the differential in the treatment costs as set out.

35 35 150 220 
Anticipated savings due to differential in gate fee between blue bag and black bag 

treatment as a result of proposed kerbside black bag restrictions.

Bring sites  - Operational 419 
Bring sites are located across the County to provide recycling facilities within 

communities. They currently cater for glass deposits.
37 37 0 74 

Potential to reduce the number of service vehicles due to fewer Community Bring 

Sites being operated. The saving will be phased over two financial years to reflect 

the introduction of kerbside glass collections from October 2022 with half the saving 

in 22/23 and the balance in 23/24.

Waste Services - operational 2,926 
The operational budget includes for the provision of resources, including vehicles 

and premises to effect the kerbside waste collection service.
0 0 200 200

Review of waste rounds and depot utilisation, subject to the conclusions of the 

kerbside collection methodology review. This will be dependent on the agreed 

direction of the Waste Strategy and the phasing and rollout of the new services. 

Closed Landfill 257 

We currently manage the ongoing aftercare at two former refuse landfill sites - 

Nantycaws (Phase 1) in Carmarthen and Wern Ddu in Ammanford. This includes 

dealing with leachate from the landfill sites and ensuring the adequacy and 

functionality of the infrastructure, including drainage systems.

5 5 10 Reduction in maintenance of infrastructure.

Cleansing 2,571 

The County Council maintain over 3,500km of roads throughout the County. The 

Cleansing Service provides for the sweeping and de-littering of streets and footways. 

The service includes mechanical sweeping of highways, footways and 

pedestrianised town centre areas, hand litter picking and emptying bins, chewing 

gum removal, graffiti and illegal poster removal, clearing up illegal dumping of 

rubbish and dog mess. 

0 69 33 102

Phased rationalisation of plant (sweepers) and labour (agency). Savings identified 

for 22/23 have been netted off against a need for additional resource to combat fly-

tipping as identified in the Audit Wales report on Waste. Hence growth bid has 

been negated.

Flood defence 358 
Design, construction, maintenance, repair and management of flood defence works.  

Investigation of causes of flooding.
20 15 15 50 

Reduction in maintenance work and small scale repairs on flood defence assets 

such as trash screens and control valves.

Coastal Protection 62 Design repair and maintenance of Coastal Protection Schemes. 5 0 0 5 
Reduction in reactive maintenance work and small scale repairs on flood defence 

assets such as repairs to walls, structures and outfalls.

page 3 of 5

P
age 27



MANAGERIAL

DEPARTMENT
2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Proposed

2023/24 

Proposed

2024/25 

Proposed
Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FACT FILE EFFICIENCY DESCRIPTION

Environmental Enforcement 549 

The Environmental Enforcement section is responsible for providing enforcement 

activity in relation to environmental crime. This includes matters relating to dog 

fouling, litter, fly tipping, waste carrier offences, domestic and business waste 

offences, abandoned vehicles, anti-social behaviour for example graffiti, highways 

offences and skips and scaffolding. Enforcement is effected by means of formal 

notices, fixed penalty fines and prosecutions.

5 0 25 30 
22/23 - £5k reduction in promotional materials and consumables. 24/25, potential 

income generation and / or SLA agreements with neighbouring authorities

Grounds maintenance - Reduced sub-contractor work 1,216 

The Grounds Maintenance Section incorporates the direct responsibility of managing 

and maintaining parks and playgrounds, inland water areas and a large number of 

public open spaces within Carmarthenshire. It also maintains grounds for many 

other departments of the County Council such as Social Care and Housing, Cultural 

Services, Education and many individual schools. The Section also has numerous 

external clients such as Town and Community Councils and private sports clubs.

20 5 5 30 Reduce the reliance on sub-contractors through greater internal efficiencies.

Review of staffing
net divisional 

budget of £22M

The budgets that make up the management structure of the Waste and 

Environmental Services staffing structure.
30 0 0 30 Review management structure.

Total Waste & Environmental Services 157 166 428 751

Environment Total 737 224 776 1,737  

Communities

Homes and Safer Communities 

Financial Investigator

A financial investigation team has been set up to investigate illegal trading activity 

across the County, including on-line. Where illegal activity has been proved through 

the Court system we also implement the Proceeds of Crime legislation (POCA) that 

means we any profits that are made from this illegal activity are returned to a variety 

of statutory agencies. Any individual who has lost out can also be re-imbursed. 

0 200 200 400 
Additional income as a result of pro-active work carried out by our newly created 

Financial Investigation Unit. 

Print Reduction in print budgets following better ways of working 8 0 0 8 Based on 50% reduction of 2021-2022 budgets

Travel Reduction in travel budgets following better ways of working 21 0 0 21 Based on 50% reduction of 2021-2022 budgets

Public Protection & Housing The service provides business support for Homes & Safer Communities. 50 50 50 150 
Reduction in business support through implementation of new systems and agile 

working

Public Protection & Housing The service provides business support for Homes & Safer Communities. 70 50 20 140 Modernisation of business processes

Total Homes and Safer Communities 149 300 270 719 

Communities Total 149 300 270 719

page 4 of 5

P
age 28



EXISTING POLICY

DEPARTMENT
2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Proposed

2023/24 

Proposed

2024/25 

Proposed
Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'001 £'000

Environment
Waste & Environmental Services

Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRC)

total budget 

for Waste is 

£16M

There are currently four HWRCs located across the County that serve all communities. The HWRCs are 

normally open 7 days a week. 
20 30 0 50

Reduce opening days of Household Waste Recycling Centres - exact days and sites 

to be based on data-driven useage. 

Commercial opportunity - income from Japanese 

Knotweed Treatment (net)

total budget 

for Grounds 

£1.2m

The grounds maintenance team arranges the treatment of Japanese Knotweed with respect to its own 

assets and other landownership across the Council. 
0 0 10 10

Potential to treat knotweed for external clients, subject to wider corporate 

consideration on commercial activity that service departments can undertake.

Total Waste & Environmental Services 20 30 10 60

Environment Total 20 30 10 60

FACT FILE EFFICIENCY DESCRIPTION

page 5 of 5

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Demographic, Legislative or continuing pressures APPENDIX A(ii)

Description

2022/23

£'000

Waste
Increased cost of Waste Service delivery change (nb part 

year effect only)
1,294            

Highways

Increase Drainage and Gully Cleansing provision in 

recognition of Climate change increased frequency / 

severity of adverse weather events

200               

Public and School Transport
Combination of Driver shortages and additional ALN 

demand
300               

TOTAL FOR ENVIRONMENTAL & PUBLIC PROTECTION 1,794            

1 of 1

P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

Oct 2021

Division Expenditure Income

Net non-

controllable Net Expenditure Income

Net non-

controllable Net

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Business Support & Performance 4,219 -3,784 489 923 5,694 -5,295 489 888 -35 

Waste & Environmental Services 26,581 -4,590 1,364 23,355 27,697 -5,745 1,364 23,316 -39 

Highways & Transportation 61,720 -40,273 10,632 32,079 63,721 -42,072 10,632 32,282 203

Property 32,248 -30,504 -56 1,688 41,027 -39,669 -56 1,303 -385 

Public Protection 3,348 -1,248 532 2,633 3,671 -1,570 532 2,633 0

GRAND TOTAL 128,115 -80,398 12,961 60,678 141,811 -94,351 12,961 60,421 -256 

 Environmental & Public Protection Scrutiny Report 
Budget Monitoring as at 31st October 2021 - Summary

Working Budget Forecasted Forecasted 

Variance for 

Year

P
age 33



APPENDIX B

Oct 2021

Division

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

In
c

o
m

e

N
e

t n
o

n
-

c
o

n
tro

lla
b

le

N
e

t

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

In
c

o
m

e

N
e

t n
o

n
-

c
o

n
tro

lla
b

le

N
e

t

F
o

re
c

a
s

te
d

 

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r

Y
e

a
r Notes

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Business Support & Performance

Emergency Planning 76 0 12 89 62 0 12 75 -14 

LRF commitment covered by WG grant for 2021/22 (£11k); post not at top of 

budgeted scale point (£3k).

Facilities Management - Building Cleaning 4,137 -3,691 359 805 5,614 -5,160 359 813 8

Business Support  -87 -35 152 30 -103 -35 152 13 -17 A few vacant posts to be filled before year end.

Operational Training 39 -58 19 -0 14 -39 19 -6 -6 

Departmental - Core 48 0 -45 3 63 0 -45 18 15

H&Wellbeing posts not budgeted for (£11k); previous year efficiency not yet 

delivered.

Departmental - Policy 6 0 -9 -3 -17 0 -9 -25 -22 Vacant post now filled

Dyfed Powys LRF Covid 19 Support 2020/21 Grant 0 0 0 0 55 -55 0 -0 -0 

Rechargeable Works 0 0 0 0 7 -7 0 -0 -0 

Business Support & Performance Total 4,219 -3,784 489 923 5,694 -5,295 489 888 -35 

Waste & Environmental Services

Waste & Environmental Services Unit -31 0 31 0 -30 -0 31 0 0

Flood Defence & Land Drainage 608 -0 50 658 609 -0 50 658 0

WG-Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk 

Management Revenue Grant 105 -105 0 0 105 -105 0 -0 -0 

SAB - Sustainable Drainage approval Body 

Unit 127 -130 0 -4 115 -66 0 50 53

Anticipated income not materialised - Dependent on number of submissions 

and market buoyancy of development projects 

Reservoirs 60 0 0 60 60 0 0 60 -0 

Environmental Enforcement 567 -18 77 625 559 -13 77 623 -2 

Ammanford Cemetery 27 -8 0 19 23 -12 0 11 -8 

Public Conveniences 208 -6 44 245 208 -13 44 239 -7 

Cleansing Service 2,700 -129 101 2,672 2,722 -188 101 2,635 -37 Vacant posts to be filled imminently following review

Waste Services 17,615 -1,252 815 17,178 17,675 -1,313 815 17,178 -0 

Green Waste Collection 555 -435 1 121 534 -463 1 72 -49 Increased customer base

COVID-19 0 0 0 0 1,064 -1,064 -0 -0 -0 

Grounds Maintenance Service and urban 

parks 3,722 -2,505 242 1,458 3,720 -2,508 242 1,454 -5 

Closed Landfill Sites 257 0 2 260 265 0 2 267 8

Landfill sites 0 0 0 0 7 0 0 7 7

Coastal Protection 62 0 1 63 62 0 1 63 -0 

Waste & Environmental Services Total 26,581 -4,590 1,364 23,355 27,697 -5,745 1,364 23,316 -39 

Highways & Transportation

Departmental - Transport 43 0 -43 -0 43 0 -43 -0 -0 

Departmental Pooled Vehicles 0 0 6 6 -0 0 6 6 -0 

Engineering Sub-Contractors 0 0 0 0 37 -37 0 0 0

Sec 278 HT Agreements 0 0 0 0 42 -42 0 -0 -0 

Civil Design 1,183 -1,767 124 -460 1,053 -1,637 124 -460 -0 

Design Services CHS Works 4,068 -4,329 56 -204 4,368 -4,720 56 -296 -91 

Increased income from internal recharges reflecting work projected during 

the year.

Property Design - Business Unit 2,848 -3,176 204 -124 3,229 -3,627 204 -195 -70 

Increased income from internal recharges reflecting work projected during 

the year.

Environmental & Public Protection Scrutiny Report 

Working Budget Forecasted

Budget Monitoring as at 31st October 2021 - Detail Variances

P
age 34



APPENDIX B

Oct 2021

Division

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

In
c

o
m

e

N
e

t n
o

n
-

c
o

n
tro

lla
b

le

N
e

t

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

In
c

o
m

e

N
e

t n
o

n
-

c
o

n
tro

lla
b

le

N
e

t

F
o

re
c

a
s

te
d

 

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r

Y
e

a
r Notes

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Environmental & Public Protection Scrutiny Report 

Working Budget Forecasted

Budget Monitoring as at 31st October 2021 - Detail Variances

Design & Professional Services 

Frameworks 0 0 0 0 207 -207 0 -0 -0 

Transport Strategic Planning 402 0 55 457 362 0 55 417 -40 Project Management fees recovered from grants

Section 106 Transport schemes 0 0 0 0 1 -14 0 -14 -14 Income received in 2021/22 for expenditure incurred in previous years

Stopping-up Orders 0 -5 0 -5 0 -5 0 -5 0

Fleet Management 7,710 -9,235 1,837 312 7,510 -9,035 1,837 312 0

Passenger Transport 5,154 -3,358 249 2,045 5,275 -3,479 249 2,045 -0 

School Transport 11,770 -923 137 10,984 12,306 -1,043 137 11,400 417 Additional operating days plus supply chain tender prices are increasing

Traffic Management 581 -70 84 596 1,049 -580 84 554 -42 Net increase in Traffic Regulation orders income

Car Parks 2,068 -3,134 165 -901 2,075 -3,026 165 -785 116 Volume of anticipated ticket sales does not match budgeted levels

Nant y Ci Park & Ride 82 -34 1 49 118 -56 1 63 14 Reduced demand on the service

Electric Cars Charging Points 0 0 0 0 1 -1 0 -0 -0 

Road Safety Revenue Grant 155 -151 0 4 155 -151 0 4 0

Road Safety 184 0 37 221 129 -0 37 166 -55 

Underspend due to vacant post being filled part way during the year, an 

officer working part time and time recharged to grants

School Crossing Patrols 154 0 3 156 142 -2 3 143 -14 Vacancies on some sites need to be filled.

Bridge Maintenance 751 0 21 771 751 0 21 771 -0 

Remedial Earthworks 329 0 2 330 329 0 2 330 -0 

Street Works and Highway Adoptions 437 -371 34 99 563 -497 34 100 1

Technical Surveys 490 0 33 523 490 0 33 524 0

Highway Maintenance 12,039 -4,633 813 8,219 12,692 -5,229 756 8,219 0

Capital Charges 0 0 6,511 6,511 0 0 6,511 6,511 0

Western Area Works Partnership 7,046 -7,042 106 110 7,023 -7,077 163 110 -0 

Highway Lighting 2,473 -1,191 85 1,366 2,113 -832 85 1,366 0

Public Rights Of Way 978 -79 113 1,012 945 -64 113 994 -18 Vacant posts and 1 employee working reduced hours 

GT Link II 776 -775 0 1 712 -712 0 1 -0 

Highways & Transportation Total 61,720 -40,273 10,632 32,079 63,721 -42,072 10,632 32,282 203

Property

Property Division Business Unit 140 0 22 162 97 0 22 119 -43 Net effect of the transfer of the previous Head of Property post holder 

Property Maintenance Business Unit 2,035 -1,761 -557 -283 3,115 -2,841 -557 -283 0

Property Maintenance Operational 26,918 -28,233 466 -849 34,664 -36,329 466 -1,200 -350 

Increased income from internal recharges reflecting work projected during 

the year, including significant unexpected projects.

Temporary Mortuaries - COVID-19 0 0 0 0 85 -85 0 0 0

Property Maintenance - Notional Allocation 2,593 0 13 2,606 2,593 -0 13 2,606 -0 

Mechanical and Electrical Schools & other 

LEA SLA 510 -510 0 0 413 -413 0 0 0

Pumping Stations 52 0 0 53 60 0 0 60 8

Property Total 32,248 -30,504 -56 1,688 41,027 -39,669 -56 1,303 -385 

P
age 35



APPENDIX B

Oct 2021

Division

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

In
c

o
m

e

N
e

t n
o

n
-

c
o

n
tro

lla
b

le

N
e

t

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

In
c

o
m

e

N
e

t n
o

n
-

c
o

n
tro

lla
b

le

N
e

t

F
o

re
c

a
s

te
d

 

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r

Y
e

a
r Notes

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Environmental & Public Protection Scrutiny Report 

Working Budget Forecasted

Budget Monitoring as at 31st October 2021 - Detail Variances

Public Protection

PP Management support 104 -8 69 165 103 -29 69 143 -21 Under on Travel, photocopying & postages due to covid

PP Business Support unit 155 0 5 160 128 0 5 133 -27 Under on Travel, photocopying & postages & vacancies due to covid

Public Health 290 -14 45 320 276 -19 45 301 -19 Legal Fees & Internal Design de-committed for Corporate to pay

Noise Control 219 0 12 231 174 -0 12 186 -46 Under on salaries

Air Pollution 129 -36 6 99 104 -20 6 90 -9 Under on salaries

Other Pollution 28 0 2 31 26 0 2 28 -2 Under on salaries

Water - Drinking Quality 47 -4 3 45 49 -4 3 47 2 Over on travel

Stray Horses 5 0 0 6 5 0 0 6 0

Animal Welfare 84 -85 6 5 89 -89 6 6 1

Diseases Of Animals 51 -40 2 14 53 -40 2 15 1

Dog Wardens 101 -29 55 127 113 -50 55 118 -9 Over achieved on Income

Animal Safety 162 0 12 174 125 -3 12 134 -40 Vacant Posts.

Public Health Services Management 112 -112 101 101 120 -117 101 104 4

Licensing 358 -337 94 116 390 -372 94 113 -3 

Food Safety & Communicable Diseases 506 -38 24 491 520 -41 24 502 11 Overspend on Agency costs.

Occupational Health 138 -2 7 143 136 -2 7 141 -2 

Trading Standards Services Management 91 -39 51 103 347 -297 51 101 -2 

Metrology 127 -15 6 118 131 -13 6 123 5

Safeguarding, Licensing & Financial 

Investigation 94 0 5 98 91 0 5 96 -2 

Civil Law 239 -2 14 251 246 -7 14 253 2

Fair Trading 149 -66 6 89 202 -120 6 88 -1 

Safety 71 -10 3 64 72 -11 3 65 1

Financial Investigator 90 -410 3 -318 171 -335 3 -161 157 Delays in receipt from prosecutions

Public Protection Total 3,348 -1,248 532 2,633 3,671 -1,570 532 2,633 -0 

TOTAL FOR ENVIRONMENTAL AND 

PUBLIC PROTECTION 128,115 -80,398 12,961 60,678 141,811 -94,351 12,961 60,421 -256 

P
age 36



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Environment department

2020/21 

Actual

2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Budget

Business Unit Service Provided 2021/22                                                        

Charge Levied

2022/23                                                        

Proposed Charge
     2022/23                                                  

Comments

£ £ £ £ £

589,252 2,644,287 2,697,173 Parking Services Car Parks Charges Please refer to 'Car Park 

Chrgs' Sheet

From 1st January 2021 Price increases agreed by full Council 

February 2020 implementation delayed to 

January 2021 due to COVID-19. No 

proposal to increase charges in 2022/23

21,440 47,023 47,963 Season Tickets Please refer to 'Car Park 

Chrgs' Sheet

Please refer to 'Car Park 

Chrgs' Sheet

No changes to Season Ticket fees

212,357 368,506 375,876 Traffic Management Act - Penalty Charge 

Notice (exc. VAT) 

As set by the Traffic Management Act - 

Introduced on the 1st of April 2008

If paid within 14 days Higher band 35.00;                   

Lower band 25.00

Higher band 35.00;                   

Lower band 25.00

Follows statutory recovery process as 

stipulated by the Traffic Management Act

If paid after 14 and within 30 days Higher band 70.00;                    

Lower band 50.00

Higher band 70.00;                    

Lower band 50.00
"

If unpaid thereafter Higher band 105.00;                  

Lower band 75.00

Higher band 105.00;                  

Lower band 75.00
"

Debt registered in Court Higher band 113.00;                  

Lower band 83.00

Higher band 113.00;                  

Lower band 83.00

Follows statutory recovery process as 

stipulated by the Traffic Management Act. 

Charges levied are governed by Court 

Costs.

63,950 67,878 69,235 Residents Parking Permit Admin Charge 30.00 30.00 Set as per the traffic orders - previously 

approved by the Exec. Board

71,591 77,478 79,028 Fleet Management MOT Testing

1st test 38.00 - VAT exempt 38.00 - VAT exempt Charge to the general public. Maximum 

possible charge for Class 4 is £54.85 as 

set by DVSA however the price set is 

deemed to be competitive for the local 

market. 

Re-test 38.00 - VAT exempt 38.00 - VAT exempt FOC if returned within 10 working days 

with same fault. 

1st test (class 7) 50.00 - VAT exempt 50.00 - VAT exempt Charge to the general public. Maximum 

possible charge for Class 7 is £58.60 as 

set by DVSA however the price set is 

deemed to be competitive for the local 

market. 

Re-test (class 7) 50.00 - VAT exempt 50.00 - VAT exempt FOC if returned within 10 working days 

with same fault. 

Maintenance repairs to hired vehicles 49.00 per hour 50.00 per hour Increased by 2% validation, rounded to 

the nearest £.

P
age 37



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Environment department

2020/21 

Actual

2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Budget

Business Unit Service Provided 2021/22                                                        

Charge Levied

2022/23                                                        

Proposed Charge
     2022/23                                                  

Comments

£ £ £ £ £

307 8,497 8,667 Passenger Transport Replacement Bus Passes no charge for 

Concessionary Travel 

Passes for elderly and 

disabled; 6.00 charge for 

replacement of lost 

school.college Travel 

Passes

no charge for 

Concessionary Travel 

Passes for elderly and 

disabled; 6.00 charge for 

replacement of lost 

school.college Travel 

Passes

Replacement concessionary bus passes 

are currently being issued by Transport for 

Wales on behalf of WG but this is a 

temporary informal arrangement and we 

have no clarity on what the future plans 

are.

0 0 0 Road Safety Pass Plus Course for Younger Drivers 20.00 20.00 An improvement course aimed to help 

young drivers improve their driving skills.

436,126 69,832 71,229 Traffic Management Access Protection Markings 170.00 + VAT                 

200.00 + VAT

173.00 +VAT             

204.00 + VAT

Up to 7 metres                                      

Over 7 metres                                                 

Price increase in line with inflation (2%) 

rounded to the nearest £.

Road Closure Admin

Less than 5 days 900.00 + VAT 918.00 + VAT Price increase inline with inflation (2%)

5 days or more (up to 6 weeks) 1,500.00 + VAT 1,530.00 + VAT Price increase inline with inflation (2%)

Road Closure (alternative route signage design) 225.00 + VAT 230.00 + VAT Price increase inline with inflation (2%) 

rounded to the nearest £.

Emergency Road Closures 1,600.00 + VAT 1,632.00 + VAT Price increase inline with inflation (2%)

Tourist Signage Schemes Price on application Price on application Depends on size and signage of scheme

0 0 Report on Accident & Traffic Data - Data 

retrieval

Price on application Price on application

P
age 38



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Environment department

2020/21 

Actual

2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Budget

Business Unit Service Provided 2021/22                                                        

Charge Levied

2022/23                                                        

Proposed Charge
     2022/23                                                  

Comments

£ £ £ £ £

0 0 Refuse Collection of Trade Waste - Commercial    

(exc VAT)

Cost per bin lift on application on application

Collection of Trade Waste - Charity                 

(exc VAT)

Cost per lift on application on application

0 0 Supply of Trade Sacks Commercial  (Cost 

per bag)

on application on application

Supply of Trade Sacks Charity (Per bag) on application on application

Collection of Trade waste (bulks) 247.00 per 10 items 

collected. Non-vatable

252.00 per 10 items 

collected. Non-vatable

Increase of 2% validation. Rounded up to 

the nearest £1 

As of April 2019 Carmarthenshire County 

Council subcontract the Trade Waste 

service to CWM Environmental Ltd.  Any 

trade contracts are directed to CWM for 

set up.  If traders stipulate they want CCC 

to undertake their waste contract a 10% 

surcharge will be applied to CWM 

charges.

As of April 2019 Carmarthenshire County 

Council subcontract the Trade Waste 

service to CWM Environmental Ltd.  Any 

trade contracts are directed to CWM for 

set up.  If traders stipulate they want CCC 

to undertake their waste contract a 10% 

surcharge will be applied to CWM 

charges.

As of April 2019 Carmarthenshire County 

Council subcontract the Trade Waste 

service to CWM Environmental Ltd.  Any 

trade contracts are directed to CWM for 

set up.  If traders stipulate they want CCC 

to undertake their waste contract a 10% 

surcharge will be applied to CWM 

charges.

P
age 39



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Environment department

2020/21 

Actual

2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Budget

Business Unit Service Provided 2021/22                                                        

Charge Levied

2022/23                                                        

Proposed Charge
     2022/23                                                  

Comments

£ £ £ £ £

413,006     435,040 443,741 Green Waste - Wheelie bin collections Annual charge of 52.43 per 

bin (Direct Debit scheme is 

available on the annual 

charge).  Discount will also 

be applied if paid in full at 

time of order reducing the 

annual charge to 45.00.

Annual Charge of 53.48 per 

bin (Direct Debit scheme is 

available on the annual 

charge.  Discount will also 

be applied if paid in full at 

time of order reducing the 

annual charge to 48.00.

2% validation applied to base figure. 

Reduced discount applied at 10% rounded 

to the nearest £1.

123,478 75,480 76,990 Bulk Collections from households (per 

collection of 3 items)

25.00 inclusive of VAT 25.00 inclusive of VAT Any price increase will possibly reduce 

demand in the service and may lead to an 

increase in fly tipping incidences

Festivals - CCC Events - 

supply/collection/disposal of bins (trade or 

recycling). 

Large Events Package on application on application Any enquiries for supply/ collection and 

disposal for festivals will be directed to 

CWM Environmental Ltd for set up.  If 

event organisers stipulate they want CCC 

to undertake their waste contract a 10% 

surcharge will be applied to CWM 

charges.

Small Events Package on application on application Any  enquiries for supply/ collection and 

disposal for festivals will be directed to 

CWM Environmental Ltd for set up.  If 

event organisers stipulate they want CCC 

to undertake their waste contract a 10% 

surcharge will be applied to CWM 

charges.

P
age 40



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Environment department

2020/21 

Actual

2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Budget

Business Unit Service Provided 2021/22                                                        

Charge Levied

2022/23                                                        

Proposed Charge
     2022/23                                                  

Comments

£ £ £ £ £

9,582 5,008 5,108 Purchase of Compost Bins (Inclusive of 

delivery)

12.00 12.00 The delivery of the bins was integrated 

into the bulk collections schedule in 

2014/15. There is also evidence from 

WRAP stating that sales decrease when 

the price rises above £15.

233,754 216,041 220,362 Street Works Licence for placing a Skip on public Highway 50.00 - per month or part 

thereof

51.00 - per month or part 

thereof

General increase by 2% rounded to the 

nearest £

143.00 - Out of date 

renewals per month or part 

thereof

146.00 - Out of date 

renewals per month or part 

thereof

General increase by 2% rounded to the 

nearest £

Licence for Scaffolding (or other structure) 

on Public Highway

81.00 - per month or part 

thereof

83.00 - per month or part 

thereof

General increase by 2% rounded to the 

nearest £

143.00 - Out of date 

renewals per month or part 

thereof

146.00 - Out of date 

renewals per month or part 

thereof

General increase by 2% rounded to the 

nearest £

Licence for Temporary Excavation on Public 

Highway

478.00 per application 488.00 per application General increase by 2% rounded to the 

nearest £

Licence for Deposit of materials on Public 

Highway

50.00 - per month or part 

thereof

51.00 - per month or part 

thereof

General increase by 2% rounded to the 

nearest £

Licence for Hoarding or fence on Public 

Highway 

81.00 - per month or part 

thereof

83.00 - per month or part 

thereof

General increase by 2% rounded to the 

nearest £

143.00 - Out of date 

renewals per month or part 

thereof

146.00 - Out of date 

renewals per month or part 

thereof

General increase by 2% rounded to the 

nearest £

Hoarding or fence supervision costs on 

Public Highway

50.00 - per month or part 

thereof

51.00 - per month or part 

thereof

General increase by 2% rounded to the 

nearest £

Licence - Construction of cellars/entrance or 

vault/admission of light to premises under 

public highway

375.00 - per application 383.00 - per application General increase by 2% rounded to the 

nearest £

Licence to construct vehicular Crossing  - 

i.e. drop curbs and amend footway

152.00 - per application, 

inclusive of 2 x site 

inspections.

155.00 - per application, 

inclusive of 2 x site 

inspections.

General increase by 2% rounded to the 

nearest £

P
age 41



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Environment department

2020/21 

Actual

2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Budget

Business Unit Service Provided 2021/22                                                        

Charge Levied

2022/23                                                        

Proposed Charge
     2022/23                                                  

Comments

£ £ £ £ £

Updated utility plans in connection with 

licenses involving excavation issued more 

than 6 months ago

New for 2022/23 30.00 for each update New charge for 2022/23 to prevent 

apparatus strikes

Street Works Licence Fees- Lay and 

maintain apparatus in the Public Highway  

To serve one dwelling house 478.00 per application 488.00 per application General increase by 2% rounded to the 

nearest £

To serve two or more & residential 

developments

717.00 + 71.00 per unit 731.00 + 72.00 per unit General increase by 2% rounded to the 

nearest £

To serve non-residential developments 695.00 per application 709.00 per application General increase by 2% rounded to the 

nearest £

To serve land for the purpose of 

agricultural/horticultural use

338.00 per application 345.00 per application General increase by 2% rounded to the 

nearest £

General development 695.00 per application 709.00 per application General increase by 2% rounded to the 

nearest £

To repair/renew/maintain existing apparatus 478.00 per application 488.00 per application General increase by 2% rounded to the 

nearest £

To repair renew, maintain existing apparatus 

with existing or valid street works licence

210.00 per application 214.00 per application General increase by 2% rounded to the 

nearest £

Excavation longer than 200metres 210.00 per application 214.00 per application General increase by 2% rounded to the 

nearest £

Licence for Projections over the Highway - 

external wall insulation

41.00 per property 42.00 per property General increase by 2% rounded to the 

nearest £

Street cafe licence (annual) 27.00 per chair 28.00 per chair General increase by 2% rounded to the 

nearest £

126,291 85,967 87,686 Highways Adoption Supervision fees. Section 38 8% of estimated value of 

adoption works.

8% of estimated value of 

adoption works.

Charge is currently in line with other 

Welsh Local Authorities.

Technical Approval - checks on proposed 

Sec.38 Drawings

1,000.00 1,000.00 This figure is offset against the 8% S38 

supervision fee and is not additional 

income unless the developer fails to 

proceed with a S38.

P
age 42



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Environment department

2020/21 

Actual

2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Budget

Business Unit Service Provided 2021/22                                                        

Charge Levied

2022/23                                                        

Proposed Charge
     2022/23                                                  

Comments

£ £ £ £ £

9,228 31,212 31,836 Public Rights Of Way 

Diversions

Highways Act 1980 diversions and 

extinguishments :

Application Fee 150.00 150.00 Charges increased in 18/19 and are in line 

with other Authorities.

Contribution to order costs 1,200.00 1,350.00 Charges revised to align with other Welsh 

authorities, in particular Brecon Beacons 

National Park (BBNP) Authority who 

manage part of Carmarthenshire's path 

network.  This creates more consistency 

in charging within the County. Charge 

includes advertising costs.

Town & Country Planning Act 1990 

diversions and extinguishments:

Application Fee 150.00 150.00 Charges increased in 18/19 and are in line 

with other Authorities.

Contribution to order costs 1,600.00 1,632.00 Increased in-line with inflation (2%)

Byway Open to All Traffic Diversion Orders 

(Magistrates Court Procedure)

Application Fee 150.00 150.00 Fee in-line with other public path Orders

Court costs 775.00 790.00 Increased in-line with inflation (2%) 

rounded down to the nearest £

Temporary Traffic Regulation Orders

Recovery of Legal and Advertising costs Itemised Billing (IRO 

1,000.00 per Order)

Itemised Billing Flat fee charge to be introduced 2023/24.

P
age 43



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Environment department

2020/21 

Actual

2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Budget

Business Unit Service Provided 2021/22                                                        

Charge Levied

2022/23                                                        

Proposed Charge
     2022/23                                                  

Comments

£ £ £ £ £

10,120 18,325 18,692 Environmental 

Enforcement

Fixed Penalty Notices Please refer to 'Env 

Enforcement FPNs' Sheet

Please refer to 'Env 

Enforcement FPNs' Sheet

Recovery charge :

Abandoned Vehicles - 7 days notice on public 

highway/Land and 14 days notice on private 

highway/land.

150.00 (Collection) 20.00 a 

day Storage and 75.00 for 

Disposal / Destruction 

Costs.

150.00 (Collection) 20.00 a 

day Storage and 75.00 for 

Disposal / Destruction 

Costs.

Prescribed Charges are set at current 

default charges as fixed by legislation 

(Refuse Disposal Amenity Act 1978)

Nuisance Vehicles (2 or more vehicles for sale 

on the public highway/repairing vehicles on the 

public highway) (Dyfed Act) Removal Cost 

150.00 150.00 

Nuisance Vehicles (2 or more vehicles for sale 

on the public highway/repairing vehicles on the 

public highway) (Dyfed Act) Storage Cost 

20.00 a day 20.00 a day

Nuisance Vehicles (2 or more vehicles for sale 

on the public highway/repairing vehicles on the 

public highway) (Dyfed Act) Disposal / 

Destruction Costs

75.00 75.00 

Abandoned Trolleys - Collection 15.00 15.00 

Abandoned Trolleys - Storage 15.00 a week 15.00 a week

Abandoned Trolleys - Delivery Charge 15.00 15.00 

Abandoned Trolleys - Release Fee 25.00 per batch 25.00 per batch

Seizure and disposal of vehicles used for illegal 

waste disposal under s.6 Control of Pollution 

(Amendment) Act 1989

150.00 (Collection) 20.00 a 

day Storage and 75.00 for 

Disposal / Destruction 

Costs.

150.00 (Collection) 20.00 a 

day Storage and 75.00 for 

Disposal / Destruction 

Costs.

Charged under the s.6 Control of Pollution 

(Amendment) Act 1989

Charges are in Line with current default 

Charges of Abandoned Vehicles service.

Locally Agreed charges within the service

P
age 44



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Environment department

2020/21 

Actual

2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Budget

Business Unit Service Provided 2021/22                                                        

Charge Levied

2022/23                                                        

Proposed Charge
     2022/23                                                  

Comments

£ £ £ £ £

11,232 8,239 8,403 Cemetery Charges Lease of Plots  - (No charges will apply in 

relation to burials of children, young people (up 

to and including the age of 18))

Exclusive rights to burial earthen grave 430.00 439.00 2% validation increase & rounded off to 

nearest £1

Garden of remembrance 180.00 184.00 2% validation increase & rounded off to 

nearest £1

Admin fees for Internment - for burial, incl. 

ashes

82.00 84.00 2% validation increase & rounded off to 

nearest £1

Approvals for Erection of Memorials - 

Lawn Plots - Headstones 115.00 117.00 2% validation increase & rounded off to 

nearest £1

Garden of Remembrance tablets 98.00 100.00 2% validation increase & rounded off to 

nearest £1

Removal of headstones/tablets for engraving of 

additional names etc

47.00 48.00 2% validation increase & rounded off to 

nearest £1

193 1,020 1,040 Public Conveniences Radar keys 4.70 plus VAT 4.70 plus VAT No change as neighbouring Authorities 

charge less. Only sold to blue badge 

holders/disabled.

550 0 0 Flood Defence & Land 

Drainage

Flood Defence Consent - Consent to erect 

any mill, dam, weir or other like obstruction 

to the flow of any ordinary watercourse.

50.00 50.00 Statutory Fee under Section 23 of the 

Land Drainage Act.

41,888 130,277 132,883 Sustainable Drainage 

(SAB)

Sustainable Drainage (SAB) consent 

application fee < or =0.5 hectares

420.00 - 700.00 420.00 - 700.00 Statutory fee under Schedule 3 of the 

Flood and Water Management Act 2010. 

Application fee of £350 plus additional 

surcharge of £70 per 0.1 hectares

P
age 45



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Environment department

2020/21 

Actual

2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Budget

Business Unit Service Provided 2021/22                                                        

Charge Levied

2022/23                                                        

Proposed Charge
     2022/23                                                  

Comments

£ £ £ £ £

Sustainable Drainage (SAB) consent 

application fee  >0.5 and < or = 1 hectares

750.00 - 950.00 750.00 - 950.00 Statutory fee under Schedule 3 of the 

Flood and Water Management Act 2010. 

Application fee of £700 plus additional 

surcharge of £50 per 0.1 hectares

Sustainable Drainage (SAB) consent 

application fee  >1 and < or = 5 hectares

970.00 - 1,750.00 970.00 - 1,750.00 Statutory fee under Schedule 3 of the 

Flood and Water Management Act 2010. 

Application fee of £950 plus additional 

surcharge of £20 per 0.1 hectares up to 

and including 5 hectares

Sustainable Drainage (SAB) consent 

application fee  >5 hectares

1,760.00 - 7,500.00 max 

fee

1,760.00 - 7,500.00 max 

fee

Statutory fee under Schedule 3 of the 

Flood and Water Management Act 2010. 

Application fee of £1750 plus additional 

surcharge of £10 per 0.1 hectares up to a 

maximum fee of £7500

Sustainable Drainage (SAB) consent - 

Inspection fees and site visit fees

168.00 168.00 Statutory fee under Schedule 3 of the 

Flood and Water Management Act 2010. 

Fees chargeable per visit in discharging 

the duties of the SAB approval body

17,173 57,984 59,144 Operational Training Training fees 265.00 per day 265.00 per day No increase in daily charge from previous 

year and is below the day rate from other 

training delivery organisations

0 0 0 Leisure Outdoor 

Venues

HIRE OF PARKS

Charitable Use (per Day) 86.00 88.00 Increased by 2% inflation, rounded to the 

nearest £.

Non Charitable Use (per Day) 106.00 108.00 Increased by 2% inflation, rounded to the 

nearest £.

Funfairs Initial 4 Opening Days 706.00 720.00 Increased by 2% inflation, rounded to the 

nearest £.

Funfairs Additional Daily Rate 210.00 214.00 Increased by 2% inflation, rounded to the 

nearest £.

Wedding Photographs within parks 41.00 42.00 Increased by 2% inflation, rounded to the 

nearest £.

P
age 46



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Environment department
Car Parking Charges

Sunday charging introduced from the 28/08/2014

up to 1 hr up to 2 hr up to 3 hr up to 4 hr up to 10 hr

3 months 6 months 12 months

Ammanford

Carregamman  (Mon-Sat &  from 12pm Sun) 0.90 - - 1.20 1.70

Margaret Street  (All Days) 0.90 - - 1.20 1.70

Lloyd Street  (All Days) 0.90 - - 1.20 1.70

Wind Street (Mon- Sat) 0.90 - - 1.20 1.70

Baltic  (Mon- Sat) 0.90 - - 1.20 1.70

Hall Street - short stay only  (All days) 0.90 - - 1.20 1.70

Llandeilo

Crescent Road  ( All Days) 92.50 185.00 370.00 0.90 - - 1.20 1.70

 

Llandovery

Castle    (All Days) 92.50 185.00 370.00 0.90 - - 1.20 1.70

Newcastle Emlyn

Mart   (All days) 0.90 - - 1.20 1.70

Castle Street  (Mon- Sat) 0.90 - - 1.20 1.70

Cawdor   (All Days) 0.90 - - 1.20 1.70

St Clears

St Clears   (Mon- Sat) 92.50 185.00 370.00 0.90 - - 1.20 1.70

Llanelli

Thomas/Edgar Street - long stay   (Mon - Sat) 105.00 210.00 420.00 - - - - 1.90

Murray Street, Multi-Storey    (All Days) 1.40 1.80 2.00 2.20 2.40

Church Street    (Mon- Sat & from 12pm Sun) 1.40 1.80 2.00 2.20 2.40

Vauxhall Road - long stay   (Mon- Sat & from 12pm Sun) - - - - 2.40

Leisure Centre, Llanelli - All days (from January 2018) 2.20 2.40

You may also use Thomas/Edgar Street

East Gate   ( All days) 1.40 1.80 2.00 2.20

550.00

 2021/22 Charges Levied  (from 1st of January 2021 or as otherwise stated)

Pay & Display Charges (£)

SEASON TICKETS (£)

92.50 185.00 370.00

NO SEASON TICKETS FOR SHORT STAY

92.50 185.00 370.00

First 3 hours free

Not available - Short Stay only

137.50 275.00

P
age 47



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Environment department
Car Parking Charges

Sunday charging introduced from the 28/08/2014

up to 1 hr up to 2 hr up to 3 hr up to 4 hr up to 10 hr

3 months 6 months 12 months

 2021/22 Charges Levied  (from 1st of January 2021 or as otherwise stated)

Pay & Display Charges (£)

SEASON TICKETS (£)

Carmarthen - long stay

Priory Street    (Mon- Sat) 97.50 195.00 390.00 - - - - 1.80

St Peters (long stay only) - white Bays  (Mon- Sat & from 12pm Sun) - - - - 2.50

Station Approach Car Park   (All days) - - - - 2.50

John Street (long stay only) - blue bays  (All days) - - - - 2.50

You may also use Priory Street

Carmarthen - short stay

St Peters (short stay only) - red bays   (Mon- Sat & from 12pm Sun) 0.70 1.80 2.40 3.60 -

John Street (short stay only) - white bays  (All Days) - 1.80 2.40 3.60 -

Quayside    (All Days) - 1.80 2.40 3.60 -

Lammas Street   (All Days) - 1.80 2.40 3.60 -

Friars Park   (All Days) - 1.80 2.40 3.60 -

Blue Street   (All Days) - 1.80 2.40 3.60 -

Saturdays and Sundays

County Hall    (Sat & Sun) - 1.80 2.40 3.60

3 Spilman Street   (Sat & Sun) - 1.80 2.40 3.60 -

Parc Myrddin  (Sat & Sun) 23.00 46.00 92.00 - - - - 2.50

Coach/Bus Park  

Station Approach   (All Days) - - - - 5.00

Disabled Badge charges from 28/08/2014 - extra hour free once paid

Parking charges are being considered as part of the budget process with potential charges being implemented in due course

NO SEASON TICKETS FOR SHORT STAY

NO SEASON TICKETS 

142.50 285.00 570.00

NO SEASON TICKETS FOR SHORT STAY

P
age 48



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Environment department
Environmental Enforcement

Offence Comments

Fixed Penalty Notices:

Amount Paid within 

10 days

Full Amount of 

Penalty

Amount Paid within 

10 days

Full Amount of 

Penalty

£ £ £ £

Public Space Protection Orders 50 100 50 100 Dog Offences

Litter  95 125 95 125 See note

Community Protection Notice 50 100 50 100

Fly tipping fixed penalty 300 400 300 400

Failure to Provide Waste Documents 180 300 180 300

Failure to Produce Authority to transfer waste 180 300 180 300

Unauthorised distribution of free printed matter  95 125 95 125 See note

Failure to Comply with a waste receptacles notice 75 100 75 100 See note

Leaving two or more vehicles for sale on the road 60 100 60 100

For Abandonment of a vehicle 150 200 150 200 See note

Graffiti, Fly Posting and  other defacement 95 125 95 125 See note

Householder Duty of Care 150 300 150 300

Replacing Street Litter 

control notices

Fpn for small scale fly 

tipping - see note

Power of being able to 

deal with the offence 

through fixed penalty

2021/22 Charge Levied 2022/23 Proposed charge

Note - Fixed Penalty Notices increased for 2021/22 in response to the increase of offences and the demands set on their respective services, charges to remain the same for 2022/23. In-line with other local 

authorities.

P
age 49



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Environment department
Environmental Enforcement

Vehicle position and condition Vehicle equal to or 

less than 3.5 tonnes 

MAM                         

Vehicle exceeding 

3.5 tonnes MAM but 

equal to or less 

than 7.5 tonnes 

MAM

Vehicle exceeding 

7.5 tonnes MAM but 

equal to or less than 

18 tonnes MAM

Vehicle exceeding 

18 tonnes MAM

£ £ £ £

Vehicle on road, upright and not substantially 

damaged or any two wheeled vehicle whatever its 

condition or position on or off the road.

150 200 350  350

Vehicle, excluding a two wheeled vehicle, on road but 

either not upright or substantially damaged or both.
250 650

Unladen £2,000;                  

Laden £3,000

Unladen £3,000;                  

Laden £4,500

Vehicle, excluding a two wheeled vehicle, off road, 

upright and not substantially damaged.
200 400

Unladen £1,000;                  

Laden £1,500

Unladen £1,500;                  

Laden £2,000

Vehicle, excluding a two wheeled vehicle, off road but 

either not upright or substantially damaged or both.
300 850

Unladen £3,000;                  

Laden £4,500

Unladen £4,500;                  

Laden £6,000

Charges in relation to the storage of vehicles : Two wheeled vehicle Vehicle, not 

including a two 

wheeled vehicle, 

equal to or less 

than 3.5 tonnes 

MAM

Vehicle exceeding 

3.5 tonnes MAM but 

equal to or less than 

7.5 tonnes MAM

Vehicle exceeding 

7.5 tonnes MAM but 

equal to or less 

than 18 tonnes 

MAM

Vehicle exceeding 18 

tonnes MAM

£ £ £ £ £

Each period of 24 hours or a part thereof during 

which the vehicle is in the custody of the local 

authority.
10 20 25 30 35

Charges in relation to the disposal of vehicles : Two wheeled vehicle Vehicle, not 

including a two 

wheeled vehicle, 

equal to or less 

than 3.5 tonnes 

MAM

Vehicle exceeding 

3.5 tonnes MAM but 

equal to or less than 

7.5 tonnes MAM

Vehicle exceeding 

7.5 tonnes MAM but 

equal to or less 

than 18 tonnes 

MAM

Vehicle exceeding 18 

tonnes MAM

£ £ £ £ £

50 75 100 125 150

Charges in relation to the 

removal of vehicles :                                   

MAM: Maximum authorised 

mass                                                                                                                                                               

 2022/23 Proposed charges (No change from 2021/22) 

P
age 50



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Public Protection

2020/21 

Actual

2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Budget

Business Unit Service Provided 2021/22                      

Charge Levied                                                        

2022/23                        

Proposed Charge 

Comments

£ £ £ £ £

Stray Dogs

3,885       29,186     29,770     For the 1st day or part day 80.00 80.00

After 1st day 15.00 per day 15.00 per day

Private Water Supplies

0 4,267 4,352 Risk assessment (each assessment) n/a n/a

regulation 9 supply 700.00 700.00

regulation 10 and 11 supplies 300.00 300.00

Sampling (each visit) 100.00 100.00

Investigation (each supply) 250.00 250.00

Granting an authorisation for temporary 

exemption from certain limits on impurities

100.00 100.00

Analysing a sample:

Taken under regulation 10 or 11 25.00 25.00

Taken during monitoring for Group A 

parameters

110.00 110.00

Taken during monitoring for Group B 

parameters

600.00 600.00

Dog Breeding Establishments

42,864     85,101     86,803     New:

Up to 10 bitches 457.00 457.00

11-25 bitches 552.00 552.00

26-50 bitches 619.00 619.00

51-80 bitches 737.00 737.00

over 80 bitches 778.00 778.00

Renewal:

Up to 10 bitches 272.00 272.00

11-25 bitches 298.00 298.00

26-50 bitches 354.00 354.00

51-80 bitches 405.00 405.00

over 80 bitches 435.00 435.00

No change to fees. No fee is 

payable where a sample is taken 

and analysed solely to confirm or 

clarify the results of the analysis 

of a previous sample

 

Inclusive of vets fees

Inclusive of vets feesP
age 51



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Public Protection

2020/21 

Actual

2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Budget

Business Unit Service Provided 2021/22                      

Charge Levied                                                        

2022/23                        

Proposed Charge 

Comments

£ £ £ £ £

Riding Establishments

New and Renewal: 192.00 192.00

Up to 10 horses 370.00 370.00

11 to 20 horses 381.00 381.00

21-50 horses 395.00 395.00

Over 50 horses 418.00 418.00

Pet Shops

Pet Shops - New 428.00 428.00

Pet Shops - Renewal 428.00 428.00

Dangerous Wild Animals

New and Renewal:  

Dangerous Wild Animals 1,043.00 1,043.00 Excluding vet fees

Boarding Establishments  

Home Boarder - New 252.00 252.00

Single Species - New 241.00 241.00

Double Species - New 256.00 256.00

Home Boarder - Renewal 147.00 147.00

Single Species - Renewal 241.00 241.00

Double Species - Renewal 256.00 256.00

Zoo Licence

Zoo Licence excluding vets fees 312.00 312.00

Hackney Carriage & Private Hire 

Licensing

91,040 112,977 115,237

Hackney Carriage Vehicles Renewal 130.00 130.00

Private Hire Vehicles Renewal 135.00 135.00

Hackney Carriage Vehicles Renewal 142.00 142.00

Private Hire Vehicles Renewal 147.00 147.00

Hackney Carriage New Application 146.00 146.00 Inclusive of initial test, one retest 

and licence plate, door stickers 

and roof sign without MOT

Inclusive of initial test, one retest 

and licence plate without MOT

 

 

 

Inclusive of vets fees

Inclusive of initial test, one retest 

and license plate and MOT

P
age 52



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Public Protection

2020/21 

Actual

2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Budget

Business Unit Service Provided 2021/22                      

Charge Levied                                                        

2022/23                        

Proposed Charge 

Comments

£ £ £ £ £

Hackney Carriage New Application 158.00 158.00 Inclusive of initial test, one retest 

and licence plate, door stickers 

and roof sign with MOT

Private Hire Vehicles New Application 148.00 148.00 Inclusive of initial test, one retest 

and licence plate, door stickers 

without MOT

Private Hire Vehicles New Application 160.00 160.00 Inclusive of initial test, one retest 

and licence plate, door stickers 

with MOT

Vehicle Retest 26.00 26.00 If vehicle retest fails, each 

subsequent retest

Replacement Plate 10.00 10.00

Replacement Door Sticker 9.00 9.00

Meter Test 14.00 14.00

Roof sign sticker 2.00 2.00

Replacement drivers badge 7.00 7.00

Replacement licence 11.00 11.00

Transfer of Vehicle Private Hire/Hackney 

Carriage

24.00 24.00

Private hire operators licence New Application 145.00 145.00 1 year

Private hire operators licence New Application 639.00 639.00 5 year

Private hire operators licence Renewal 138.00 138.00 1 year

Private hire operators licence Renewal 631.00 631.00 5 year

Dual drivers licence Renewal 38.00 38.00 1 year

Dual drivers licence Renewal 101.00 101.00 3 year

Dual drivers licence New Application 75.00 75.00 1 year

Dual drivers licence New Application 137.00 137.00 3 year

Knowledge test 19.00 19.00

Disclosure & Barring Service 

(previously CRB)

40.00 40.00 Prescribed

Lotteries Fees (Prescribed)

        4,640         7,353        7,500 Grant 40.00 40.00

Renewal 20.00 20.00
Prescribed

P
age 53



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Public Protection

2020/21 

Actual

2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Budget

Business Unit Service Provided 2021/22                      

Charge Levied                                                        

2022/23                        

Proposed Charge 

Comments

£ £ £ £ £

Gaming and Gambling Fees 

(Prescribed)
Prescribed Fee Bands

9,046       16,890     17,228     Premises

Bingo Club

Transitional Fast Track Application 202.00 202.00

Transitional Non Fast Track Application 842.00 842.00

New application 1,648.00 1,648.00

Annual fee 480.00 480.00

Betting Premises (excluding tracks)

Transitional Fast Track Application 198.00 198.00

Transitional Non Fast Track Application 721.00 721.00

New application 1,415.00 1,415.00

Annual fee 302.00 302.00

Tracks

Transitional Fast Track Application 144.00 144.00

Transitional Non Fast Track Application 600.00 600.00

New application 1,200.00 1,200.00

Annual fee 480.00 480.00

Family Entertainment Centres

Transitional Fast Track Application 207.00 207.00

Transitional Non Fast Track Application 648.00 648.00

New application 1,237.00 1,237.00

Annual fee 480.00 480.00

Adult Gaming Centre

Transitional Fast Track Application 202.00 202.00

Transitional Non Fast Track Application 645.00 645.00

New application 1,236.00 1,236.00

Annual fee 623.00 623.00

Bingo Club

Application to vary 840.00 840.00

Application to transfer 576.00 576.00

Application for Re-instatement 576.00 576.00

Application for Provisional Statement 1,680.00 1,680.00

P
age 54



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Public Protection

2020/21 

Actual

2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Budget

Business Unit Service Provided 2021/22                      

Charge Levied                                                        

2022/23                        

Proposed Charge 

Comments

£ £ £ £ £

Betting Premises (excluding tracks) Prescribed Fee Bands

Application to vary 720.00 720.00

Application to transfer 576.00 576.00

Application for Re-instatement 576.00 576.00

Application for Provisional Statement 1,440.00 1,440.00

Tracks

Application to vary 600.00 600.00

Application to transfer 456.00 456.00

Application for Re-instatement 456.00 456.00

Application for Provisional Statement 1,200.00 1,200.00

Family Entertainment Centres

Application to vary 640.00 640.00

Application to transfer 608.00 608.00

Application for Re-instatement 608.00 608.00

Application for Provisional Statement 1,280.00 1,280.00

Adult Gaming Centres

Application to vary 640.00 640.00

Application to transfer 768.00 768.00

Application for Re-instatement 768.00 768.00

Application for Provisional Statement 1,280.00 1,280.00

Bingo club

Licence application (provisional statement 

holders)

576.00 576.00

Copy Licence 25.00 25.00

Notification of Change 50.00 50.00

Betting premises (excluding tracks)

Licence application (provisional statement 

holders)

576.00 576.00

Copy Licence 25.00 25.00

Notification of Change 50.00 50.00

Tracks

Licence application (provisional statement 

holders)

456.00 456.00

Copy Licence 25.00 25.00

Notification of Change 50.00 50.00

P
age 55



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Public Protection

2020/21 

Actual

2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Budget

Business Unit Service Provided 2021/22                      

Charge Levied                                                        

2022/23                        

Proposed Charge 

Comments

£ £ £ £ £

Family Entertainment Centres Prescribed Fee Bands

Licence application (provisional statement 

holders)

608.00 608.00

Copy Licence 25.00 25.00

Notification of Change 50.00 50.00

Adult Gaming Centres

Licence application (provisional statement 

holders)

768.00 768.00

Copy Licence 25.00 25.00

Notification of Change 50.00 50.00

Permits

FEC Gaming Machine

Application fee 300.00 300.00

Annual Fee N/A N/A

Renewal Fee 300.00 300.00

Transitional Application Fee 100.00 100.00

Change of name 25.00 25.00

Copy of permit 15.00 15.00

Prize Gaming

Application fee 300.00 300.00

Annual Fee N/A N/A

Renewal Fee 300.00 300.00

Transitional Application Fee 100.00 100.00

Change of name 25.00 25.00

Copy of permit 15.00 15.00

Alcohol Licensed Premises - Notification of 2 

or less machines

Application fee 50.00 50.00

Annual Fee N/A N/A

Renewal Fee N/A N/A

Transitional Application Fee N/A N/A

P
age 56



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Public Protection

2020/21 

Actual

2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Budget

Business Unit Service Provided 2021/22                      

Charge Levied                                                        

2022/23                        

Proposed Charge 

Comments

£ £ £ £ £

Alcohol Licensed Premises Gaming machine 

Permit - More than 2 machines
Prescribed

Application fee 150.00 150.00

Annual Fee 50.00 50.00

Renewal Fee N/A N/A

Transitional Application Fee 100.00 100.00

Change of name 25.00 25.00

Copy of permit 15.00 15.00

Variation 100.00 100.00

Transfer 25.00 25.00

Club Gaming Permit

Application fee 200.00 200.00

Annual Fee 50.00 50.00

Renewal Fee 200.00 200.00

Transitional Application Fee 100.00 100.00

Copy of permit 15.00 15.00

Variation 100.00 100.00

Club Gaming Machine Permit

Application fee 200.00 200.00

Annual Fee 50.00 50.00

Renewal Fee 200.00 200.00

Transitional Application Fee 100.00 100.00

Copy of permit 15.00 15.00

Variation 100.00 100.00

Club Fast track for Gaming Permit or Gaming 

machine permit

Application fee 100.00 100.00

Annual Fee 50.00 50.00

Renewal Fee N/A N/A

Transitional Application Fee 100.00 100.00

Small Society Lottery Registration

Application fee 40.00 40.00

Annual Fee 20.00 20.00

P
age 57



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Public Protection

2020/21 

Actual

2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Budget

Business Unit Service Provided 2021/22                      

Charge Levied                                                        

2022/23                        

Proposed Charge 

Comments

£ £ £ £ £

Street Collections

Street Collections No fee No fee

House to House Collections

House to House Collections No fee No fee

Boatmen

Boatmans Licence 60.00 60.00

Pleasure Craft

Pleasure Craft Licence 120.00 120.00

159,085   172,807   176,264   

Rateable Value

No Rateable Value to £4,300 A A

£4,301 to £33,000 B B

£33,001 to £87,000 C C

£87,001 to £125,000 D D

£125,000 and above E E

Band

A 70.00 70.00

B 180.00 180.00

C 295.00 295.00

D 320.00 320.00

E 350.00 350.00

Exceptionally Large Events

No. in attendance at any one time: (Additional Fee) (Additional Fee)

  5000 to 9999 1,000.00 1,000.00

10000 to 14999 2,000.00 2,000.00

15000 to 19999 4,000.00 4,000.00

20000 to 29999 8,000.00 8,000.00

30000 to 39999 16,000.00 16,000.00

40000 to 49999 24,000.00 24,000.00

50000 to 59999 32,000.00 32,000.00

60000 to 69999 40,000.00 40,000.00

70000 to 79999 48,000.00 48,000.00

80000 to 89999 56,000.00 56,000.00

90000 and over 64,000.00 64,000.00

Fee not set by legislation and can 

be set by individual council

Fee not set by legislation and can 

be set by individual council

To be reviewed along with 

licensing consultation

To be reviewed along with 

licensing consultation

Prems & club application & annual 

fees are calculated on the 

rateable value band

Each band attracts a different 

level of annual fee payable one 

year after the grant of  licence

Prescribed

Licensing Act 2003 (Prescribed) 

Premises
Prescribed

P
age 58



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Public Protection

2020/21 

Actual

2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Budget

Business Unit Service Provided 2021/22                      

Charge Levied                                                        

2022/23                        

Proposed Charge 

Comments

£ £ £ £ £

3,265 5,394 5,502
Personal Licences, Temporary Events 

and Other Fees

924 10,111 10,313
Application for a grant or renewal of personal 

licence

37.00 37.00

Temporary event notice 21.00 21.00

Theft, loss etc of premises licence or summary 10.50 10.50

Application for a provisional statement where 

premises being built etc

315.00 315.00

Notification of change of name or address 10.50 10.50

Application to vary licence to specify individual 

as premises supervisor

23.00 23.00

Application to transfer premises licence 23.00 23.00

Interim authority notice following death etc of 

licence holder

23.00 23.00

Theft, loss etc of certificate or summary 10.50 10.50

Notification of change of name or alteration of 

rules of club

10.50 10.50

Change of relevant registered address of club 10.50 10.50

Theft, loss etc of temporary event notice 10.50 10.50

Theft, loss etc of personal licence 10.50 10.50

Duty to notify change of name or address 10.50 10.50

Right of freeholder etc to be notified of 

licensing matters

21.00 21.00

Tattooing, Skin Piercing and 

Colouring

0 1,057       1,078       Registration fee 160.00 160.00 No change

Personal registration fee 60.00 60.00 No change

Amendment of personal registration fee 22.50 22.50 No change

Prescribed

P
age 59



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Public Protection

2020/21 

Actual

2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Budget

Business Unit Service Provided 2021/22                      

Charge Levied                                                        

2022/23                        

Proposed Charge 

Comments

£ £ £ £ £

Sex Establishments

Sex establishment new 975.00 975.00

Sex establishment renewal 750.00 750.00

Sex establishment transfer 180.00 180.00

Sex establishment replacement of licence 21.00 21.00

Safety at Sports Grounds

Safety certificate new and review 955.00 955.00 No set fee in legislation

Safety certificate renewal 150.00

Food Hygiene Rescore Request Food hygiene rating rescore request 180.00 180.00

Export Certificates - (Assessment and 

Issue / Refusal)

Initial Request for Export Certificates – 

Assessment and issue of an initial application 

(per certificate)

90.00 90.00 Charge introduced for non-

statutory function as requested by 

businesses intending to export 

from within County - Initial 

considerations are more onerous 

than subsequent and will include 

physical assessment /establishing 

procedural approach

PGI Audit Request Application for assessment / audit for the 

production and application of Protected 

Geographical Indications to specified products 

in accordance with Protected Geographical 

Indications and protected designations of 

origin regulations (EU) No 1151/2012

495.00 495.00 Charge introduced for 

assessment of premises with view 

to apply PGI commercial status. 

Fee applicable to in County. 

(Based on 10 hours at £45 per 

hour). Out of County assessments 

to be supplemented with mileage, 

travelling time and 

accommodation costs where 

applicable.

Food Hygiene Advisory Visit Food Hygiene Advisory Visit £45 / hour 45.00 The food Hygiene advisory 

service was launched in 2018 

priced at £45.00 per hour. Uptake 

has been minimal, therefore the 

suggestion is that prices remain 

the same.

No set fee in legislation - No 

changes to SEV Policy or process 

and no premises currently 

licensed

P
age 60



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Public Protection

2020/21 

Actual

2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Budget

Business Unit Service Provided 2021/22                      

Charge Levied                                                        

2022/23                        

Proposed Charge 

Comments

£ £ £ £ £

Scrap Metal Dealers

2,260       3,311       3,378       Site Licence - New 380.00 380.00

Site Licence - Renewal 320.00 320.00

Site Licence - Variation 60.00 60.00

Collectors Licence - New 260.00 260.00

Collectors Licence - Renewal 260.00 260.00

Collectors Licence - Variation 60.00 60.00

Street Trading

2,512       3,377       3,444       Street trading in markets managed by the 

Council and where stallholders provide their 3m * 3m pitch 15.00 15.00 Daily rate

6m * 3m pitch 30.00 30.00 Daily rate

Street trading in markets managed by the 

County Council and where stalls are provided 

by the council in Licensed Streets

46.00 46.00 Daily rate

Street trading in specialist or themed markets 

operated or managed privately in Licensed 

Streets

25.00 25.00 Daily rate

Street trading in lay-by's in Licensed Streets.  

Town centre zones - No advance payment 

available

25.00 25.00 Daily rate

Street trading in lay-bys in Licensed Streets - 

Rural zones 3 month advance payments 

available - 3m * 3m pitch

15.00 15.00 Daily rate

Street trading in lay-bys in Licensed Streets - 

Rural zones 3 month advance payments 

available - 6m * 6m pitch

30.00 30.00 Daily rate

Street trading in lay-bys in Licensed Streets - 

Rural zones annual advanced payment - 3m * 

3m pitch

1,000.00 1,000.00 No fee set in legislation

Street trading in lay-bys in Licensed Streets - 

Rural zones annual advanced payment - 6m * 

6m pitch

2,000.00 2,000.00 No fee set in legislation

No change to fees

P
age 61



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Public Protection

2020/21 

Actual

2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Budget

Business Unit Service Provided 2021/22                      

Charge Levied                                                        

2022/23                        

Proposed Charge 

Comments

£ £ £ £ £

Special Weighing and Measuring 

Equipment

These fee structures were 

published for the UK in Sept 2017

1,062 14,846 15,143 Per hour 85.56 87.27 See above

Note: Exemptions:

1 - Automatic or totalising weighing machines

2 - Equip designed to weigh loads in motion

3 - Bulk fuel measuring equip tested following a Regulation 65 or 66 occurrence

4 - Weighing or measuring equip tested by means of statistical sampling

5 - The establishment of calibration curves from templates 

6 - Templets graduated in millilitres

7 - Testing or other services in pursuance of a Community obligation other than EC initial or partial verification

Weights

Weights exceeding 5kg or not exceeding 

500mg, 2cm

85.56 per hour 87.27

Other weights 85.56 per hour 87.27

Measures

Linear Measures not exceeding 3m for each 

scale

10.65 each 10.86

Capacity measures, without divisions not 

exceeding 1 litre

7.97 each 8.13

Cubic ballast measures (other than brim 

measures)

188.39 each 192.00

Liquid capacity measures for making up and 

checking average quantity packages

29.78 each 30.37

Templates - per scale - first item 51.78 each 52.82

Templates - second and subsequent 19.59 each 19.98

all ex vat

all ex vatP
age 62



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Public Protection

2020/21 

Actual

2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Budget

Business Unit Service Provided 2021/22                      

Charge Levied                                                        

2022/23                        

Proposed Charge 

Comments

£ £ £ £ £

Weighing Instruments

Non-EC (NAWI)

Not exceeding 1 tonne 67.63 each 68.98

Exceeding 1 tonne to 10 tonne 109.55 each 111.74

Exceeding 10 tonnes 228.79 each 233.37

EC (NAWI)

Not exceeding 1 tonne 112.56 each 114.81

Exceeding 1 tonne to 10 tonne 174.21 each 177.70

Exceeding 10 tonnes 381.36 each 388.98

Note: When testing instruments incorporating remote display or printing facilities, & where completion of test requires a second 

person or a second series of tests by the same person, an additional fee may be based on the basic fee given above plus 

a 50% surcharge.

Note: When supplying specialist equipment (incl but not limited to weighbridge test unit, van & test weights etc) an additional 

fee may be charged hourly daily or per appointment, according to circumstance

Measuring Instruments for 

Intoxicating Liquor

Not exceeding 150ml 18.55 each 18.92

Other 21.45 each 21.88

Measuring Instruments for Liquid 

Fuel & Lubricants

Container Type 77.75 each 79.30

Single/multi outlets 1st nozzle tested per site 126.83 each 129.37

Single/multi outlets - Each additional nozzle 

tested

77.91 each 79.47

Testing of peripheral electronic equipment on 

a separate visit per site

85.56 per hour 87.27

Testing of credit card acceptor 85.56 per hour 87.27

all ex vat

all ex vat

all ex vat

all ex vat

P
age 63



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Public Protection

2020/21 

Actual

2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Budget

Business Unit Service Provided 2021/22                      

Charge Levied                                                        

2022/23                        

Proposed Charge 

Comments

£ £ £ £ £

Road Tanker Fuel Measuring 

Equipment (above 100litres)

Meter measuring systems

Wet hose with two testing liquids 272.22 each 277.66

Wet hose with three testing liquids 317.59 each 323.94

Dry hose with two testing liquids 302.43 each 308.48

Dry hose with three testing liquids 347.98 each 354.94

Wet/Dry hose with two testing liquids 423.43 each 431.90

Wet/Dry hose with three testing liquids 452.66 each 461.71

Dipstick measuring system - up to 7600 litres 

for calibration of each compartment and 

production chart

185.22 each 188.92 For any compartment over 7600 

litres, basic fee plus additional 

costs @ rate of £87.27 /hr

Initial Dipstick 21.43 each 21.86

Spare Dipstick 21.43 each 21.86

Replacement Dipstick (incl examination of 

compartment)

47.06 each 48.00

Certificate of Errors

55.17 each 56.27

4,780       6,516       6,646       Petroleum Storage Certificate
Annual Subsistence

Not exceeding 2,500 ltrs of petroleum 44.00 44.00

Exceeding 2,500 ltrs but not exceeding 50,000 

ltrs of petroleum

60.00 60.00

Exceeding 50,000 ltrs of petroleum 125.00 125.00

        1,032         3,533        3,604 Mixed Explosives Storage Certificate Initial Licence to store explosives where a 

minimum separation distance of greater than 0 

metres is required:

1 year 185.00 185.00

2 years 243.00 243.00

3 years 304.00 304.00

4 years 374.00 374.00

5 years 423.00 423.00

All fees set by Health and Safety 

and Nuclear (Fees) Regulations 

2016

All fees set by Health and Safety 

and Nuclear (Fees) Regulations 

2016

all ex vat

P
age 64



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Public Protection

2020/21 

Actual

2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Budget

Business Unit Service Provided 2021/22                      

Charge Levied                                                        

2022/23                        

Proposed Charge 

Comments

£ £ £ £ £

Renewal of licence to store explosives where a 

minimum separation distance of greater than 0 

metres is required:

1 year 86.00 86.00

2 years 147.00 147.00

3 years 206.00 206.00

4 years 266.00 266.00

5 years 326.00 326.00

Initial Licence to store explosives where no 

minimum separation distance or a 0 metres 

separation distance is prescribed:

1 year 109.00 109.00

2 years 141.00 141.00

3 years 173.00 173.00

4 years 206.00 206.00

5 years 238.00 238.00

Renewal of licence to store explosives where 

no minimum separation distance of greater 

than 0 metres is required:

1 year 54.00 54.00

2 years 86.00 86.00

3 years 120.00 120.00

4 years 152.00 152.00

5 years 185.00 185.00

Variation of name or address of site 36.00 36.00

Transfer of licence 36.00 36.00

Replacement of lost licence 36.00 36.00

Annual Supply Licence 500.00 500.00

P
age 65



APPENDIX C

CHARGING DIGEST - Public Protection

2020/21 

Actual

2021/22 

Budget

2022/23 

Budget

Business Unit Service Provided 2021/22                      

Charge Levied                                                        

2022/23                        

Proposed Charge 

Comments

£ £ £ £ £

Buy With Confidence Scheme

Pre-Audit Application Fee 100.00 100.00 This is a nationwide scheme 

operated in Carmarthenshire 

under agreed terms from the Lead 

Authority on the matter. 

Annual Registration fee:

An incentive package has been 

agreed to encourage new 

membership in the opening year 

of the scheme with a 50% 

discount on the usual BWC fees. 

Fees will revert to the higher 

nationwide charge at an agreed 

date in the future once the 

scheme is fully established.

Trader with 0-5 employees 125.00 127.50

Trader with 6-20 employees 187.50 191.25

Trader with 21-49 employees 250.00 255.00

Trader with 50+ employees POA POA

P
age 66



 

 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL & PUBLIC PROTECTION  
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
1st FEBRUARY 2022 

 

 
REVENUE & CAPITAL BUDGET  
MONITORING REPORT 2021/22 

 
To consider and comment on the following issues: 
 
That the scrutiny committee receives the budget monitoring reports for the 
Environmental and Public Protection Services and considers the budgetary position. 
 

Reasons:  
 

To provide the Committee with an update on the latest budgetary position, as at 31st 
October 2021 in respect of 2021/22. 
 

 
To be referred to the Cabinet for decision: NO 
 

 
Cabinet Member Portfolio Holders:  

 Cllr. Hazel Evans (Environment)  

 Cllr. Philip Hughes (Public Protection)  

 Cllr. Ann Davies (Community Safety) 

 Cllr. David Jenkins (Resources)  
 

 
Directorate: 
Corporate Services  
  
Name of Service 
Director: 
Chris Moore 
 
 
Report Author:  
Chris Moore 
 

 
Designation: 
 
 
 
Director of Corporate 
Services 
 

 
Tel No. / E-Mail Address: 
 
 
 
01267 224120  
CMoore@carmarthenshire.gov.uk   
 

  

Page 67

Agenda Item 5

mailto:CMoore@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL & PUBLIC PROTECTION  
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
1st FEBRUARY 2022 

 

 
REVENUE & CAPITAL BUDGET  
MONITORING REPORT 2021/22 

  
 
The Financial monitoring Report is presented as follows: 
 

Revenue Budgets 
 
Appendix A  
Summary position for the Environmental and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee. 
Services within the Environmental & Public Protection Scrutiny remit are forecasting a 
£256k underspend. 
 
Appendix B 
Report on main variances on agreed budgets. 
 
Appendix C 
Detail variances for information purposes only. 
 

Capital Budgets 
Appendix D 
Details the main variances on capital schemes, which shows a forecasted net spend of 
£17,160k compared with a working net budget of £18,270k giving a -£1,110k. The 
reduction in the variance to that previously reported is owing to the slippage in the fleet 
replacement programme being reprofiled into future years and, therefore, no longer 
reported in this financial year. 
 
Appendix E 
Details all environment infrastructure, fleet and property capital projects. 
 

Savings Report 
Appendix F 
The savings monitoring report 
 

 
DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? 

 
YES – A list of the main variances is 
attached to this report 
 

  

Page 68



 

IMPLICATIONS 

 
I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate 
Directors / Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications 
associated with this report.  
  
Signed:    Chris Moore 

 
Director of Corporate Services 

Policy, 
Crime & 
Disorder 
and 
Equalities 

Legal Finance ICT Risk 
Management 
Issues 

Staffing 
Implications 

Physical 
Assets  

 
NONE 
 

 
NONE 
 

 
YES  
 

 
NONE 
 

 
NONE 
 

 
NONE 
 

 
NONE 
 

 

3. Finance 
Revenue – Overall, the Environmental and Public Protection services are projecting to be 
under the approved budget by £256k. 
 

Capital – The capital programme shows a variance of -£1,110k against the 2021/22 
approved budget.   

 

Savings Report 
The expectation is that at year end £316k of Managerial savings against a target of £456k 
are forecast to be delivered.  Policy savings of £23k put forward for 2021/22 are projected 
to be off target. 
 

CONSULTATIONS 
 
I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below: 
  
Signed:    Chris Moore 

 
Director of Corporate Services 

1. Local Member(s) – N/A  
2. Community / Town Council – N/A 
3. Relevant Partners – N/A 
4. Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations – N/A 
 

CABINET MEMBER PORTFOLIO 
HOLDERS AWARE/CONSULTED? 
YES 
 

(Include any observations here) 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
 

THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW:  
Title of Document 
 

File Ref No. / Locations that the papers are available 
for public inspection 

2021/22 Budget  
 
2021-26 Capital Programme 
 

Corporate Services Department, County Hall, Carmarthen 
 
Online via corporate website – Minutes of County Council 
Meeting 3rd March 2021 

 

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

Oct 2021 Aug 2021

Division Expenditure Income

Net non-

controllable Net Expenditure Income

Net non-

controllable Net

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Business Support & Performance 4,219 -3,784 489 923 5,694 -5,295 489 888 -35 -2 

Waste & Environmental Services 26,581 -4,590 1,364 23,355 27,697 -5,745 1,364 23,316 -39 -37 

Highways & Transportation 61,720 -40,273 10,632 32,079 63,721 -42,072 10,632 32,282 203 60

Property 32,248 -30,504 -56 1,688 41,027 -39,669 -56 1,303 -385 -252 

Public Protection 3,348 -1,248 532 2,633 3,671 -1,570 532 2,633 0 -14 

GRAND TOTAL 128,115 -80,398 12,961 60,678 141,811 -94,351 12,961 60,421 -256 -245 

 Environmental & Public Protection Scrutiny Report 
Budget Monitoring as at 31st October 2021 - Summary

Working Budget Forecasted Forecasted 

Variance for 

Year

Forecasted 

Variance for 

Year

P
age 71



APPENDIX B

Oct 2021 Aug 2021

Division

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

In
c

o
m

e

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

In
c

o
m

e

F
o

re
c

a
s

te
d

 

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r

Y
e

a
r Notes

F
o

re
c

a
s

te
d

 

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r

Y
e

a
r

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Business Support & Performance

Emergency Planning 76 0 62 0 -14 

LRF commitment covered by WG grant for 2021/22 (£11k); post not at top of 

budgeted scale point (£3k). -13 

Business Support  -87 -35 -103 -35 -17 A few vacant posts to be filled before year end. -6 

Departmental - Core 48 0 63 0 15 H&Wellbeing posts not budgeted for (£11k); previous year efficiency not yet delivered. 15

Departmental - Policy 6 0 -17 0 -22 Vacant post now filled -0 

Other Variances 2 2

Waste & Environmental Services

SAB - Sustainable Drainage approval 

Body Unit 127 -130 115 -66 53

Anticipated income not materialised - Dependent on number of submissions and 

market buoyancy of development projects 63

Cleansing Service 2,700 -129 2,722 -188 -37 Vacant posts to be filled imminently following review 3

Green Waste Collection 555 -435 534 -463 -49 Increased customer base -43 

Other Variances -7 -60 

Highways & Transportation

Design Services CHS Works 4,068 -4,329 4,368 -4,720 -91 Increased income from internal recharges reflecting work projected during the year. -51 

Property Design - Business Unit 2,848 -3,176 3,229 -3,627 -70 Increased income from internal recharges reflecting work projected during the year. -3 

Transport Strategic Planning 402 0 362 0 -40 Project Management fees recovered from grants -0 

Section 106 Transport schemes 0 0 1 -14 -14 Income received in 2021/22 for expenditure incurred in previous years -14 

School Transport 11,770 -923 12,306 -1,043 417 Additional operating days plus supply chain tender prices are increasing 0

Traffic Management 581 -70 1,049 -580 -42 Net increase in Traffic Regulation orders income -13 

Car Parks 2,068 -3,134 2,075 -3,026 116 Volume of anticipated ticket sales does not match budgeted levels 165

Nant y Ci Park & Ride 82 -34 118 -56 14 Reduced demand on the service 16

Road Safety 184 0 129 -0 -55 

Underspend due to vacant post being filled part way during the year, an officer 

working part time and time recharged to grants -30 

School Crossing Patrols 154 0 142 -2 -14 Vacancies on some sites need to be filled. -9 

Public Rights Of Way 978 -79 945 -64 -18 Vacant posts and 1 employee working reduced hours -0 

Other Variances 1 -2 

Property 

Property Division Business Unit 140 0 97 0 -43 Net effect of the transfer of the previous Head of Property post holder -0 

Property Maintenance Operational 26,918 -28,233 34,664 -36,329 -350 

Increased income from internal recharges reflecting work projected during the year, 

including significant unexpected projects. -251 

Other Variances 8 -0 

 Environmental & Public Protection Scrutiny Report 

Working Budget Forecasted

Budget Monitoring as at 31st October 2021 - Main Variances

P
age 72



APPENDIX B

Oct 2021 Aug 2021

Division

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

In
c

o
m

e

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

In
c

o
m

e

F
o

re
c

a
s

te
d

 

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r

Y
e

a
r Notes

F
o

re
c

a
s

te
d

 

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r

Y
e

a
r

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 Environmental & Public Protection Scrutiny Report 

Working Budget Forecasted

Budget Monitoring as at 31st October 2021 - Main Variances

Public Protection

PP Management support 104 -8 103 -29 -21 Under on Travel, photocopying & postages due to covid 0

PP Business Support unit 155 0 128 0 -27 Under on Travel, photocopying & postages & vacancies due to covid 0

Public Health 290 -14 276 -19 -19 Legal Fees & Internal Design de-committed for Corporate to pay 0

Noise Control 219 0 174 -0 -46 Under on salaries -9 

Animal Safety 162 0 125 -3 -40 Vacant Posts. -20 

Food Safety & Communicable 

Diseases 506 -38 520 -41 11 Overspend on Agency costs. 20

Financial Investigator 90 -410 171 -335 157 Delays in receipt from prosecutions 0

Other Variances -15 -5 

Grand Total -256 -245 

P
age 73



APPENDIX C

Oct 2021 Aug 2021

Division

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

In
c

o
m

e

N
e

t n
o

n
-

c
o

n
tro

lla
b

le

N
e

t

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

In
c

o
m

e

N
e

t n
o

n
-

c
o

n
tro

lla
b

le

N
e

t

F
o

re
c

a
s

te
d

 

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r

Y
e

a
r Notes

F
o

re
c

a
s

te
d

 

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r

Y
e

a
r

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Business Support & Performance

Emergency Planning 76 0 12 89 62 0 12 75 -14 

LRF commitment covered by WG grant for 2021/22 (£11k); post not at top of 

budgeted scale point (£3k). -13 

Facilities Management - Building Cleaning 4,137 -3,691 359 805 5,614 -5,160 359 813 8 2

Business Support  -87 -35 152 30 -103 -35 152 13 -17 A few vacant posts to be filled before year end. -6 

Operational Training 39 -58 19 -0 14 -39 19 -6 -6 -0 

Departmental - Core 48 0 -45 3 63 0 -45 18 15

H&Wellbeing posts not budgeted for (£11k); previous year efficiency not yet 

delivered. 15

Departmental - Policy 6 0 -9 -3 -17 0 -9 -25 -22 Vacant post now filled -0 

Dyfed Powys LRF Covid 19 Support 2020/21 Grant 0 0 0 0 55 -55 0 -0 -0 -0 

Rechargeable Works 0 0 0 0 7 -7 0 -0 -0 0

Business Support & Performance Total 4,219 -3,784 489 923 5,694 -5,295 489 888 -35 -2 

Waste & Environmental Services

Waste & Environmental Services Unit -31 0 31 0 -30 -0 31 0 0 0

Flood Defence & Land Drainage 608 -0 50 658 609 -0 50 658 0 -30 

WG-Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk 

Management Revenue Grant 105 -105 0 0 105 -105 0 -0 -0 -0 

SAB - Sustainable Drainage approval Body 

Unit 127 -130 0 -4 115 -66 0 50 53

Anticipated income not materialised - Dependent on number of submissions 

and market buoyancy of development projects 63

Reservoirs 60 0 0 60 60 0 0 60 -0 -0 

Environmental Enforcement 567 -18 77 625 559 -13 77 623 -2 -0 

Ammanford Cemetery 27 -8 0 19 23 -12 0 11 -8 -5 

Public Conveniences 208 -6 44 245 208 -13 44 239 -7 -7 

Cleansing Service 2,700 -129 101 2,672 2,722 -188 101 2,635 -37 Vacant posts to be filled imminently following review 3

Waste Services 17,615 -1,252 815 17,178 17,675 -1,313 815 17,178 -0 -1 

Green Waste Collection 555 -435 1 121 534 -463 1 72 -49 Increased customer base -43 

COVID-19 0 0 0 0 1,064 -1,064 -0 -0 -0 0

Grounds Maintenance Service and urban 

parks 3,722 -2,505 242 1,458 3,720 -2,508 242 1,454 -5 -9 

Closed Landfill Sites 257 0 2 260 265 0 2 267 8 -8 

Landfill sites 0 0 0 0 7 0 0 7 7 0

Coastal Protection 62 0 1 63 62 0 1 63 -0 -0 

Waste & Environmental Services Total 26,581 -4,590 1,364 23,355 27,697 -5,745 1,364 23,316 -39 -37 

Highways & Transportation

Departmental - Transport 43 0 -43 -0 43 0 -43 -0 -0 -0 

Departmental Pooled Vehicles 0 0 6 6 -0 0 6 6 -0 0

Engineering Sub-Contractors 0 0 0 0 37 -37 0 0 0 0

Sec 278 HT Agreements 0 0 0 0 42 -42 0 -0 -0 -0 

Civil Design 1,183 -1,767 124 -460 1,053 -1,637 124 -460 -0 0

Design Services CHS Works 4,068 -4,329 56 -204 4,368 -4,720 56 -296 -91 

Increased income from internal recharges reflecting work projected during 

the year. -51 

Property Design - Business Unit 2,848 -3,176 204 -124 3,229 -3,627 204 -195 -70 

Increased income from internal recharges reflecting work projected during 

the year. -3 

Environmental & Public Protection Scrutiny Report 

Working Budget Forecasted

Budget Monitoring as at 31st October 2021 - Detail Variances

P
age 74



APPENDIX C

Oct 2021 Aug 2021

Division

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

In
c

o
m

e

N
e

t n
o

n
-

c
o

n
tro

lla
b

le

N
e

t

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

In
c

o
m

e

N
e

t n
o

n
-

c
o

n
tro

lla
b

le

N
e

t

F
o

re
c

a
s

te
d

 

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r

Y
e

a
r Notes

F
o

re
c

a
s

te
d

 

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r

Y
e

a
r

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Environmental & Public Protection Scrutiny Report 

Working Budget Forecasted

Budget Monitoring as at 31st October 2021 - Detail Variances

Design & Professional Services 

Frameworks 0 0 0 0 207 -207 0 -0 -0 -0 

Transport Strategic Planning 402 0 55 457 362 0 55 417 -40 Project Management fees recovered from grants -0 

Section 106 Transport schemes 0 0 0 0 1 -14 0 -14 -14 Income received in 2021/22 for expenditure incurred in previous years -14 

Stopping-up Orders 0 -5 0 -5 0 -5 0 -5 0 3

Fleet Management 7,710 -9,235 1,837 312 7,510 -9,035 1,837 312 0 0

Passenger Transport 5,154 -3,358 249 2,045 5,275 -3,479 249 2,045 -0 -0 

School Transport 11,770 -923 137 10,984 12,306 -1,043 137 11,400 417 Additional operating days plus supply chain tender prices are increasing 0

Traffic Management 581 -70 84 596 1,049 -580 84 554 -42 Net increase in Traffic Regulation orders income -13 

Car Parks 2,068 -3,134 165 -901 2,075 -3,026 165 -785 116 Volume of anticipated ticket sales does not match budgeted levels 165

Nant y Ci Park & Ride 82 -34 1 49 118 -56 1 63 14 Reduced demand on the service 16

Electric Cars Charging Points 0 0 0 0 1 -1 0 -0 -0 0

Road Safety Revenue Grant 155 -151 0 4 155 -151 0 4 0 0

Road Safety 184 0 37 221 129 -0 37 166 -55 

Underspend due to vacant post being filled part way during the year, an 

officer working part time and time recharged to grants -30 

School Crossing Patrols 154 0 3 156 142 -2 3 143 -14 Vacancies on some sites need to be filled. -9 

Bridge Maintenance 751 0 21 771 751 0 21 771 -0 -1 

Remedial Earthworks 329 0 2 330 329 0 2 330 -0 0

Street Works and Highway Adoptions 437 -371 34 99 563 -497 34 100 1 -0 

Technical Surveys 490 0 33 523 490 0 33 524 0 -4 

Highway Maintenance 12,039 -4,633 813 8,219 12,692 -5,229 756 8,219 0 0

Capital Charges 0 0 6,511 6,511 0 0 6,511 6,511 0 0

Western Area Works Partnership 7,046 -7,042 106 110 7,023 -7,077 163 110 -0 0

Highway Lighting 2,473 -1,191 85 1,366 2,113 -832 85 1,366 0 -0 

Public Rights Of Way 978 -79 113 1,012 945 -64 113 994 -18 Vacant posts and 1 employee working reduced hours -0 

GT Link II 776 -775 0 1 712 -712 0 1 -0 -0 

Highways & Transportation Total 61,720 -40,273 10,632 32,079 63,721 -42,072 10,632 32,282 203 60

Property

Property Division Business Unit 140 0 22 162 97 0 22 119 -43 Net effect of the transfer of the previous Head of Property post holder -0 

Property Maintenance Business Unit 2,035 -1,761 -557 -283 3,115 -2,841 -557 -283 0 0

Property Maintenance Operational 26,918 -28,233 466 -849 34,664 -36,329 466 -1,200 -350 

Increased income from internal recharges reflecting work projected during 

the year, including significant unexpected projects. -251 

Temporary Mortuaries - COVID-19 0 0 0 0 85 -85 0 0 0 0

Property Maintenance - Notional Allocation 2,593 0 13 2,606 2,593 -0 13 2,606 -0 -0 

Mechanical and Electrical Schools & other 

LEA SLA 510 -510 0 0 413 -413 0 0 0 0

Pumping Stations 52 0 0 53 60 0 0 60 8 -0 

Property Total 32,248 -30,504 -56 1,688 41,027 -39,669 -56 1,303 -385 -252 

P
age 75



APPENDIX C

Oct 2021 Aug 2021

Division

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

In
c

o
m

e

N
e

t n
o

n
-

c
o

n
tro

lla
b

le

N
e

t

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

In
c

o
m

e

N
e

t n
o

n
-

c
o

n
tro

lla
b

le

N
e

t

F
o

re
c

a
s

te
d

 

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r

Y
e

a
r Notes

F
o

re
c

a
s

te
d

 

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r

Y
e

a
r

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Environmental & Public Protection Scrutiny Report 

Working Budget Forecasted

Budget Monitoring as at 31st October 2021 - Detail Variances

Public Protection

PP Management support 104 -8 69 165 103 -29 69 143 -21 Under on Travel, photocopying & postages due to covid 0

PP Business Support unit 155 0 5 160 128 0 5 133 -27 Under on Travel, photocopying & postages & vacancies due to covid 0

Public Health 290 -14 45 320 276 -19 45 301 -19 Legal Fees & Internal Design de-committed for Corporate to pay 0

Noise Control 219 0 12 231 174 -0 12 186 -46 Under on salaries -9 

Air Pollution 129 -36 6 99 104 -20 6 90 -9 Under on salaries -8 

Other Pollution 28 0 2 31 26 0 2 28 -2 Under on salaries 2

Water - Drinking Quality 47 -4 3 45 49 -4 3 47 2 Over on travel 0

Stray Horses 5 0 0 6 5 0 0 6 0 0

Animal Welfare 84 -85 6 5 89 -89 6 6 1 2

Diseases Of Animals 51 -40 2 14 53 -40 2 15 1 1

Dog Wardens 101 -29 55 127 113 -50 55 118 -9 Over achieved on Income -2 

Animal Safety 162 0 12 174 125 -3 12 134 -40 Vacant Posts. -20 

Public Health Services Management 112 -112 101 101 120 -117 101 104 4 -2 

Licensing 358 -337 94 116 390 -372 94 113 -3 2

Food Safety & Communicable Diseases 506 -38 24 491 520 -41 24 502 11 Overspend on Agency costs. 20

Occupational Health 138 -2 7 143 136 -2 7 141 -2 -4 

Trading Standards Services Management 91 -39 51 103 347 -297 51 101 -2 0

Metrology 127 -15 6 118 131 -13 6 123 5 1

Safeguarding, Licensing & Financial 

Investigation 94 0 5 98 91 0 5 96 -2 -2 

Civil Law 239 -2 14 251 246 -7 14 253 2 1

Fair Trading 149 -66 6 89 202 -120 6 88 -1 4

Safety 71 -10 3 64 72 -11 3 65 1 1

Financial Investigator 90 -410 3 -318 171 -335 3 -161 157 Delays in receipt from prosecutions 0

Public Protection Total 3,348 -1,248 532 2,633 3,671 -1,570 532 2,633 -0 -14 

TOTAL FOR ENVIRONMENTAL AND 

PUBLIC PROTECTION 128,115 -80,398 12,961 60,678 141,811 -94,351 12,961 60,421 -256 -245 

P
age 76



APPENDIX D

Working Budget

DEPARTMENT/SCHEMES

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

 

£
'0

0
0

In
c

o
m

e
        

£
'0

0
0

N
e

t             

£
'0

0
0

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

 

£
'0

0
0

In
c

o
m

e
        

£
'0

0
0

N
e

t             

£
'0

0
0 Comment

ENVIRONMENT 35,343 -17,072 18,270 36,761 -19,601 17,160 -1,110

Highways & Infrastructure 27,513 -17,072 10,441 29,449 -19,317 10,131 -310

Main slippages into 2022/23: -£291k Trebeddrod Reservoir, £166k Cross 

Hands Economic Link Road, -£214k Works at Nantycaws delayed because 

of fire. £566k Towy Valley Path match funding for Dinefwr Levelling Up 

Project.

Property 7,829 0 7,829 7,313 -284 7,029 -800 Slippage on works at Ty Elwyn.

TOTAL 35,343 -17,072 18,270 36,761 -19,601 17,160 -1,110

Capital Programme 2021/22

Capital Budget Monitoring - Report for October 2021 - Main Variances

Forecasted V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r 

Y
e

a
r £

'0
0

0

P
age 77



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX E

Environment - Infrastructure and Fleet

Working Budget Forecasted

Scheme

Target Date 

for 

Completion

Expenditure 

£'000

Income        

£'000

Net             

£'000

Expenditure 

£'000

Income        

£'000

Net             

£'000

Countryside Recreation & Access Mar'22 248 -105 143 248 -105 143 0

Byways Programme 16 0 16 16 0 16 0

Rights of Way Improvements Programme 127 0 127 127 0 127 0

AIG - Access Improvement Grant 105 -105 0 105 -105 0 0

Coastal Protection & Flood Defence Works Mar'22 948 -653 295 760 -521 240 -55

Coastal Defence 49 0 49 0 0 0 -49 Slip to 2022/23 - looking at options.

Flood Defence Works 304 -300 4 172 -168 4 0

Small Scale Works Grant 2020/21 (Flood Defence) 136 0 136 136 0 136 0 Revenue and Reserve funded.

Trostre FRM (Flood Risk Management) 3 0 3 3 0 3 0

Post-Storm Repairs to Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk 

Management Infrastructure
225 -225 0 225 -225 0 0

Small Scale Works Grant 2021/22 (Flood Defence) 150 -128 23 150 -128 23 0

Pontyberem Park River Bank 81 0 81 75 0 75 -6 Slip to 2022/23.

Fleet Replacement Ongoing 456 -53 403 455 -53 402 -1

Fleet Replacement 403 0 403 402 0 402 -1
Social welfare buses, Refuse and Highways lorries not being 

replaced in this financial year.  Budget slipped to 2022/23.

Welsh Government Energy Service - Purchase of ULEV 

Vehicles
53 -53 0 53 -53 0 0

Technical Ongoing 128 0 128 25 0 25 -103

Murray Street Car Park, Llanelli - Exp 128 0 128 25 0 25 -103 Slip to 2022/23.

Bridge Strengthening & Replacement Ongoing 742 0 742 590 0 590 -152 Slip to 2022/23.

Bridge Strengthening & Replacement 742 0 742 590 0 590 -152

Road Safety Improvement Schemes Ongoing 403 0 403 403 0 403 0

Road Safety Improvement Schemes 403 0 403 403 0 403 0

HIghways Infrastructure Ongoing 2,098 -1,498 600 2,098 -1,498 600 0

Major Structural Highway Improvements 2,098 -1,498 600 2,098 -1,498 600 0

Capital Budget Monitoring - Scrutiny Report For October 2021

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r 

Y
e

a
r £

'0
0

0

Comment

P
age 79



APPENDIX E

Environment - Infrastructure and Fleet

Working Budget Forecasted

Scheme

Target Date 

for 

Completion

Expenditure 

£'000

Income        

£'000

Net             

£'000

Expenditure 

£'000

Income        

£'000

Net             

£'000

Capital Budget Monitoring - Scrutiny Report For October 2021

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r 

Y
e

a
r £

'0
0

0

Comment

Integrated Waste Strategy Mar'22 634 0 634 334 0 334 -300

Absorbent Hygiene Product (AHP) Collection 214 0 214 69 0 69 -145
Works delayed because of fire at Nantycaws. Slip to 

2022/23.

Loan to Cwm Environmental (Long Term Debtor) 78 0 78 78 0 78 0

Circular Economy Grant - Repair Workshop and Re-use 

Shop Llanelli
205 0 205 50 0 50 -155

Circular Economy Grant - Bulky Waste Collection 

Vehicles
37 0 37 37 0 37 0

WEEE Scoping Study (for re-processing facility based at 

the Nantycaws)
100 0 100 100 0 100 0

Road Safety Projects 781 -693 88 781 -693 88 0

Road Safety Capital Grant 2020/21 11 0 11 11 0 11 0

Road Safety Capital Grant 2021/22 Mar'22 770 -693 77 770 -693 77 0

Trebeddrod Reservoir, Furnace, Llanelli Ongoing 1,000 0 1,000 709 0 709 -291
Slip to 2022/23.  The project needs approx £300k increase 

in funding to complete.

Trebeddrod Reservoir, Furnace, Llanelli (UPRN 780600) 1,000 0 1,000 709 0 709 -291

Junction Improvements Ongoing 2,264 -1,973 291 1,973 -1,973 0 -291

A4138 Hendy Link Road 175 0 175 0 0 0 -175 Slip to 2022/23.

Highway Junction Improvements / Signal Upgrades 116 0 116 0 0 0 -116 Slip to 2022/23.

Llanelli Urban and Coastal Belt Network Improvements 1,973 -1,973 0 1,973 -1,973 0 0

Ammanford Highway Infrastructure Ongoing 62 0 62 62 0 62 0

Ammanford Economic Regeneration Highway 

Infrastructure
62 0 62 62 0 62 0

Walking & Cycling Mar'22 100 0 100 100 0 100 0

Active Travel Projects - Carmarthenshire Walking and 

Cycling Linkages (Carmarthenshire urban connections)
100 0 100 100 0 100 0

P
age 80



APPENDIX E

Environment - Infrastructure and Fleet

Working Budget Forecasted

Scheme

Target Date 

for 

Completion

Expenditure 

£'000

Income        

£'000

Net             

£'000

Expenditure 

£'000

Income        

£'000

Net             

£'000

Capital Budget Monitoring - Scrutiny Report For October 2021

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r 

Y
e

a
r £

'0
0

0

Comment

Cross Hands ELR Ongoing 1,579 -300 1,279 1,745 -300 1,445 166 Project on budget overall.

Cross Hands Economic Link Road Phase 2 1,579 -300 1,279 1,745 -300 1,445 166

Public Transport Infrastructure Mar'22 1,033 -1,025 8 1,033 -1,025 8 0

Llanelli Rail Station 8 0 8 8 0 8 0

Strategic Public Transport Corridors (LTNF) 620 -620 0 620 -620 0 0

LTF - Bus Infrastructure Enhancements 405 -405 0 405 -405 0 0

Towy Valley Path Ongoing 682 -206 475 6,312 -5,274 1,039 563

Towy Valley Path - Abergwili to Nantgaredig (West) 251 -76 175 251 -76 175 0

Towy Valley Path - Nantgaredig to Ffairfach (East) 431 -130 300 431 -130 301 0

Towy Valley Path - W4A 0 0 0 5,630 -5,067 563 563

Carmarthen Western Link Road Complete 601 0 601 601 0 601 0

Carmarthen Western Link Road (2015 Onwards) 601 0 601 601 0 601 0

Replacement Car Parking at Parc Dewi Sant 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Electric Vehicle Infrastructure 4,407 -4,392 15 1,255 -1,086 169 154

ULEVTF -  Ultra Low Emission Vehicle Transformation 

Fund
Mar '22 269 -254 15 423 -254 169 154 Additional costs on Cross Hands fast charging facility.

ULEVTF - TrawsCymru T1 Aberystwyth to Carmarthen 

Zero Emission Bus Scheme. 
Mar' 23 4,138 -4,138 0 832 -832 0 0 Project will be delivered in 2022-23. Slip to 2022/23.

Storm Callum Projects Mar '22 617 -511 106 617 -511 106 0

Storm Callum - A484 Schemes 605 -511 94 605 -511 94 0

Storm Callum - Towy Riverside footpath - Carmarthen 12 0 12 12 0 12 0

RRF - Resilient Roads Fund 2,070 -2,029 41 2,079 -2,038 41 0

RRF - Resilient Roads in Severe Weather 2,070 -2,029 41 2,079 -2,038 41 0

M4 J48/A4138 Improvement Scheme at Hendy Nov'21 2,927 0 2,927 3,544 -617 2,927 0

M4 J48/A4138 Improvement Scheme at Hendy 2,927 0 2,927 3,544 -617 2,927 0

Active Travel Fund Core Mar'22 740 -740 0 740 -740 0 0

Core ATF allocation 740 -740 0 740 -740 0 0

P
age 81



APPENDIX E

Environment - Infrastructure and Fleet

Working Budget Forecasted

Scheme

Target Date 

for 

Completion

Expenditure 

£'000

Income        

£'000

Net             

£'000

Expenditure 

£'000

Income        

£'000

Net             

£'000

Capital Budget Monitoring - Scrutiny Report For October 2021

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r 

Y
e

a
r £

'0
0

0

Comment

Active Travel Fund Delivery Projects Mar'22 2,927 -2,827 100 2,917 -2,817 100 0

Llanelli Masterplan 1,756 -1,756 0 1,746 -1,746 0 0

Cross Hands to Ammanford 490 -490 0 490 -490 0 0

St Clears Masterplan 160 -160 0 160 -160 0 0

Marfa Bacas MCP Coastal Path Re-alignment 356 -256 100 356 -256 100 0

Pen y Fan Path 165 -165 0 165 -165 0 0

Local Places for Nature Complete 67 -67 0 67 -67 0 0

Wiedemann Super 600 Flail Collector 32 -32 0 32 -32 0 0

Grillo FD2200TS 4WD Cut and Collect 35 -35 0 35 -35 0 0

NET BUDGET 27,513 -17,072 10,441 29,449 -19,317 10,131 -310

P
age 82



APPENDIX E

Environment - Property

Working Budget Forecasted

Scheme

Target Date 

for 

Completion

Expenditure 

£'000

Income        

£'000

Net             

£'000

Expenditure 

£'000

Income        

£'000

Net             

£'000

Capital maintenance Ongoing 4,721 0 4,721 4,721 0 4,721 0

Capital maintenance 3,971 0 3,971 3,971 0 3,971 0

Carmarthen Mart 750 0 750 750 750 0

Covid-19 - Field Hospitals 0 0 0 284 -284 0 0

Main Administrative Buildings Works 2,610 0 2,610 1,810 0 1,810 -800

County Hall Works Ongoing 1,250 0 1,250 1,250 0 1,250 0

Ty Elwyn Works Ongoing 1,200 0 1,200 400 0 400 -800 Slip to 2022/23.

Llanelli Town Hall - Stone Ramp Access Mar'22 160 0 160 160 0 160 0

Changing Places Mar'23 25 0 25 25 0 25 0

Changing Places Facility 25 0 25 25 0 25 0

ReFit Cymru Mar'22 473 0 473 473 0 473 0

ReFit Cymru 473 0 473 473 0 473 0

NET BUDGET 7,829 0 7,829 7,313 -284 7,029 -800

Capital Budget Monitoring - Scrutiny Report For October 2021

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r 

Y
e

a
r £

'0
0

0

Comment

P
age 83



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX F

1 Summary position as at : 31st October 2021 £163 k variance from delivery target

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22

Target Delivered Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000

Communities 150 150 0

Environment 329 166 163

479 316 163

2 Analysis of delivery against target for managerial and policy decisions:

Managerial £140 k

Policy £23 k

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22

Target Delivered Variance Target Delivered Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Communities 150 150 0 0 0 0

Environment 306 166 140 23 0 23

456 316 140 23 0 23

3 Appendix F (i) : Savings proposals not on target

Appendix F (ii) : Savings proposals on target (for information)

MANAGERIAL POLICY

2021/22  Savings Monitoring Report

Environmental & Public Protection Scrutiny Committee

1st February 2022

2021/22 Savings monitoring

Off delivery target

Off delivery target

page 1 of 4

Page 85



APPENDIX F (i) - SAVINGS NOT ON TARGET

DEPARTMENT
2020/21 

Budget

2021/22 

Proposed

2021/22 

Delivered

2021/22 

Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Managerial - Off Target

Environment 

Highways & Transport

Highways  - fallen trees 0 

The highway network is extensive covering urban and rural areas. The highway 

network is bordered by green landscape and trees that have matured over many 

years.

15 0 15
Recharge costs for fallen trees on highway - the proposal is to recover costs from 

landowners for the costs incurred in clearing trees that have fallen on the highway.

The budget saving will not be fully delivered in 2021/22 but the 

service will begin the process.  The delay is due to the number 

of major projects that the Division has to deliver following 

successful bid of grant outcomes, additional demand from 

events and service requests as traffic returns to the network 

together with ongoing service adjustments arising from the 

pandemic.

Highways  - surface dressing 800

Surface dressing is a highway maintenance treatment used extensively by all 

highway authorities in Wales, UK and indeed many other countries around the 

world. Surface Dressing treatments have been used extensively across 

Carmarthenshire for a number of years with great success. Surface dressing is the 

prescribed treatment for prolonging the life of the carriageway surface and sub-

structure. The authority carries out a large programme of surface dressing works 

each year. The maintenance procedure which involves the application of a bitumen 

binder sprayed onto the carriageway surface followed by a dressing of stone seals 

the carriageway and restores skid resistance. This operation prevents the ingress of 

water into the surface and sub-structure of the carriageway and prevents 

degradation and formation of potholes thereby substantially prolonging the life of the 

carriageway. The treatment also improves the safety of road users by increasing the 

skid resistance properties of the road surface which assists in reducing wet skidding 

accidents. 

Many roads across the whole of Carmarthenshire have benefitted from this 

treatment over the past 50 years. Carmarthenshire County Council has a large 

network of roads to maintain and surface dressing provides a cost effective solution 

for keeping the roads in a safe and serviceable condition ensuring continuity for 

public and business travel alike.

100 0 100

Reduce Surface Dressing & Pre SD Patching (Offset to Capital) . The proposal is 

to reduce revenue spend on surface dressing and patching through offsetting 

revenue to capital spend, subject to a sufficient allocation of capital budget or 

grant. 

No additional capital funding received to date therefore if this 

saving is delivered, it will lead to further deterioration in the 

highways infrastructure.

Highways  - stopping up orders 0

Stopping Up Order are made when sections of the existing highway become 

redundant. This happens for example when a road improvement is undertaken, land 

within the extent of the original  highway limit that has become redundant  is then 

stopped up via a legislative process and reverts to the landowner.  Where there is a 

formal request received from a landowner to Stop Up an area of highway land, the 

proposal is to charge the respective landowner the associated costs for undertaking 

this work. 

5 0 5 Increase charges for Stopping Up Orders The service efficiency will be realised during 2022/23.

Public Rights of Way as above

The Countryside Access Team has responsibility for the Definitive Map and 

Statement of Public Rights of Way in Carmarthenshire which is the conclusive legal 

record. Public Rights of Way include footpaths, bridleways, restricted byways and 

byways open to all traffic. There are urban and semi-urban routes in towns and 

villages but much of the 1,500 mile network is out in the countryside crossing fields, 

farmland and open country. It’s a fantastic leisure and recreational resource for the 

people of Carmarthenshire and visitors to the County with the Wales Coast Path 

and numerous other walking/riding and cycling routes on offer. Enforcement and 

legal issues associated with the implementation of the Rights of way Improvement 

plan.

10 0 10
PRoW Increase income from Path Orders - the service has targeted an increase in 

the number of Path Orders it processes to raise income. 

Resource throughout 2021/22 has to be diverted to additional 

day to day demands arising from additional use of the Public 

Right of Way Network by the public. The efficiency will be 

delivered in 2022/23.

Total Highways & Transport division 130 0 130

Waste & Environmental Services

Income - charge for sustainable drainage advice. 6 

In January 2019, under the requirements of the Flood and Water Management Act 

2010 (Schedule 3) Carmarthenshire County Council became a Sustainable 

Drainage Approved Body (SABs).  The SAB will be required to review and approve 

applications for all development that have ‘drainage implications’ and adopt these 

systems once the SAB is satisfied that, if constructed, the drainage system is 

compliant with the sustainable drainage (SuDs) National Standards.

10 0 10

There are already set charges for receiving and approving SuDs applications. 

However, there is an opportunity to charge for advice on SuDs at the pre-

application stage and recover costs already expended in officer time in giving such 

information to external developers on sustainable drainage options - it is currently 

estimated that 30% of one officer's time is spent on this.

Delay in implementation due to the need to consider the SAB 

pre-application charges in parallel with the proposed Planning 

pre-application charges proposal. This is likely to be delayed 

until the review of the Planning service has been completed.

Total Waste & Environmental Services 10 0 10

Environment Total 140 0 140  

FACT FILE EFFICIENCY DESCRIPTION REASON FOR VARIANCE

page 2 of 4

P
age 86



APPENDIX F (i) - SAVINGS NOT ON TARGET

DEPARTMENT
2020/21 

Budget

2021/22 

Proposed

2021/22 

Delivered

2021/22 

Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FACT FILE EFFICIENCY DESCRIPTION REASON FOR VARIANCE

Policy - Off Target

Environment

Waste & Environmental Services

Public Conveniences 367 

Operation and daily servicing of 16 public convenience facilities located throughout 

the County. The main aspect of the service relates to the stock of 9 facilities that are 

operated by an external service provider, Danfo Ltd. These 9 facilities are termed 

“superloos” for which there is a charge for use. These are spread across our three 

main towns (Ammanford (1), Llanelli (2) and Carmarthen (2)) and four rural towns 

(Laugharne, St Clears, Llandeilo and Llandovery).  The remaining facilities are in 

the main related to tourist areas. This service does not include facilities provided by 

other departments as part of their specific service assets e.g. Pembrey Country 

Park.

23 0 23 Increase charge from 20p to 40p for Superloos.

Work on this is currently being scoped, but implementation of 

the doubling of the current charge will be delayed due to 

potential economic pressures in our tourist areas and town 

centres at the current time.

Total Waste & Environmental Services 23 0 23

Environment Total 23 0 23  

page 3 of 4

P
age 87



APPENDIX F (ii) - SAVINGS ON TARGET

DEPARTMENT
2020/21 

Budget

2021/22 

Proposed

2021/22 

Delivered

2021/22 

Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Managerial - On Target

Communities

Homes & Safer Communities

Financial Investigator -239

A Financial Investigation Team has been set up to investigate illegal trading activity across the County, including on-line. 

Where illegal activity has been proved through the Court system we also implement the Proceeds of Crime legislation 

(POCA) that means we keep any profits that are made from this illegal activity are returned to a variety of statutory agencies. 

Any individual who has lost out can also be re-imbursed. 

50 50 0
Additional income as a result of pro-active work carried out by our newly created 

Financial Investigation Unit. 

Financial Investigator - additional saving -239

A Financial Investigation Team has been set up to investigate illegal trading activity across the County, including on-line. 

Where illegal activity has been proved through the Court system we also implement the Proceeds of Crime legislation 

(POCA) that means we keep any profits that are made from this illegal activity are returned to a variety of statutory agencies. 

Any individual who has lost out can also be re-imbursed. 

100 100 0
Additional income as a result of pro-active work carried out by our newly created 

Financial Investigation Unit. Additional £100k saving above original target

Total Homes & Safer Communities 150 150 0

Communities Total 150 150 0

Environment
Highways & Transport

Highways - operational 535 

Carmarthenshire has the second largest highway network in Wales (3482 Km of highway) and is more than double the 

Welsh average of 1578km. We have the third highest traffic volume in Wales - in 2018 the Wales average was 1.33 billion 

vehicle km/per year and Carmarthenshire were third at 2.06 billion (Cardiff 3.0 and RCT at 2.15 were highest).

10 10 0 Reduce light plant and tool inventory

Highways - winter gritting 850 

Carmarthenshire has the second largest highway network in Wales and when winter conditions are forecast, pre-salting of 

our primary network is undertaken ahead of freezing temperatures to ensure the County continues to function.  Fulfilling our 

duty (Highways Act 1980 S41 (1A)) to ensure, as far as is reasonably practicable, that safe passage along the highway is not 

endangered by snow or ice can be challenging when the timeframe for treatment is often limited.  Weather conditions across 

the County are varied due to our location and topography and are not entirely predictable.  To achieve this we focus on 

treating a Primary Network of approximately 1,040km of Carmarthenshire’s roads, which equates to around 30% of the entire 

 network including Trunk roads.  Approximately 24% (836km) of the County road network is gritted as part of this Primary 

Network. The Primary Network includes Trunk and Primary Routes, Principal Roads leading to important locations and 

facilities and key operational routes such as:- Hospitals and Ambulance Stations, Fire Stations, Police Stations, key Bus 

Routes, Schools & Colleges.

23 23 0
Rationalise Winter Maintenance Operation - routes will be reviewed and reduced to 

achieve the reduction in expenditure.

Total Highways & Transport division 33 33 0

Waste & Environmental Services

Playground maintenance

1,200 (total 

grounds 

maintenanc

e)

The Grounds Maintenance Section incorporates the direct responsibility of managing and maintaining parks and 

playgrounds, inland water areas and a large number of public open spaces within Carmarthenshire. It also maintains grounds 

for many other departments of the County Council such as Social Care and Housing, Cultural Services, Education and many 

individual schools. The Section also has numerous external clients such as Town and Community Councils and private 

sports clubs.

27 27 0
Redistribution of work internally due to reduction in playground service  requirements 

and therefore making less use of agency resource.

Total Waste & Environmental Services 27 27 0

Property 

Property Maintenance 2,587 
This division is responsible for the day-to-day and long term repairs & maintenance of the council's estates including schools, 

administrative buildings, depots etc.  
56 56 0

Over 98% of the budget for the Property Division comprises the Revenue Maintenance 

Budget. Efficiencies are proposed to be met through reducing expenditure on revenue 

maintenance across the Council’s buildings following disposal of some properties and 

previous capital improvements undertaken to others. We are also aiming to make 

savings through new procurement arrangements and seeking to in-source areas of 

work where it is more cost effective then using external contractors or consultants. 

Divisional review -284 
This division is responsible for the day-to-day and long term repairs & maintenance of the council's estates including schools, 

administrative buildings, depots etc.  
50 50 0

Additional income generation based on in-house expertise available to public sector 

partners and other markets as appropriate. 

Total Property division 106 106 0

Environment Total 166 166 0

Policy - On Target

NOTHING TO REPORT

FACT FILE EFFICIENCY DESCRIPTION

page 4 of 4

P
age 88



 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

CABINET MEMBER PORTFOLIO HOLDER:-   
 
Cllr. Hazel Evans –Environment   
Cllr Philip Hughes – Public Protection 

Directorate: 
Environment 
 
Name of Head of Service: 
Ainsley Williams 
 
Report Author: 
Michael Roberts 

Designations: 
 
 
Head of Waste and 
Environmental Services 
 
Local Environmental 
Quality Policy Officer 
 

Tel: 
Email addresses: 
 
(01267) 224500 
AiWilliams@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 
 
01267 225806 
MJRoberts@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 
 

LOCAL ENVIRONMENT QUALITY MANAGEMENT PLAN  
2022 - 2026 

Purpose:   
The plan sets out the direction of the Council’s for litter management within the County for the 
next four years. The purpose of the plan is to demonstrate how litter management will be 
undertaken thereby contributing to the Council’s Corporate Strategy, with particular emphasis 
Wellbeing Objective 10 – Healthy and Safe Environment; look after the environment now and 
in the future. 

 

To consider and comment on the following issues: 

 
To consider and comment on the revised Local Environment Quality (LEQ) Management Plan 

(formerly the Litter Management Plan 2014-2018) for Carmarthenshire and the LEQ Action 

Plan. 

Reason 
 

To update the former Litter Management Plan 2014-2018 (renamed the Local Environment 
Quality Plan) in order to meet the Council’s aim of prevention and control of litter and 
associated environmental blight in a coherent and comprehensive manner.  
 

Cabinet Decision Required                    Yes 
Council Decision Required                     No    

ENVIRONMENT AND PUBLIC PROTECTION  
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

 

1ST FEBRUARY 2022  

Page 89

Agenda Item 6

mailto:AiWilliams@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
mailto:MJRoberts@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

ENVIRONMENT AND PUBLIC PROTECTION  
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

 

 

1ST FEBRUARY 2022 

LOCAL ENVIRONMENT QUALITY MANAGEMENT PLAN  
2022 - 2026 

1. Background  
 
The Environmental Protection Act 1990 (As amended by the Clean Neighbourhoods and 
Environment Act 2005), imposes a legal duty on the council to keep the streets, Highways and 
other areas under its control free from litter and refuse.  
 
Statutory bodies, business, educational establishments, internal asset owners and individuals 
have a duty to keep their land clean by disposing of litter and waste safely in a responsible 
manner. 
 
This Local Environment Quality (LEQ) Management Plan has been written to inform the people 
who live and work in the County of Carmarthenshire of the obligations of the County Council in 
relation to litter, the obligations of others and how it intends to manage litter. The previous 
versions of the plan were referred to as the Litter Management Plan. 
 
The aim of the updated LEQ Management Plan is to set out in non-technical terms the legal 
position and type of litter problems that the Council manage, the ways in which the Council will 
achieve results and how the Council can continue to improve and maintain cleanliness 
standards. This in turn contributes to the Council’s Corporate strategy and in particular 
Wellbeing Objective 10 - Healthy and Safe Environment; look after the environment now and 
for the future. 
 
The vision and core aim of the plan is to protect and maintain the natural heritage and 
ecosystems, including our community amenity assets to achieve a clean, healthy & sustainable 
natural and built environment for people to enjoy. 
 
One of the principal activities in achieving this service objective is the implementation of litter 
control measures. Litter consists of any substance, material or item deposited in, or disposed of 
in, or within sight of a public place in such a manner as to be detrimental to the amenity of the 
natural or built environment. The amount of litter that defaces our footpaths, streets, parks and 
green spaces is an environmental issue in which we seek to reduce through the adoption of 
this plan. 

Page 90



 

 
2. Aims and Objectives 
 
The overall vision and overarching objective of the plan is to maintain and enhance the quality 
of the built and natural environment through the reduction of litter pollution, thereby creating a 
healthy and safe environment. 
 
This LEQ Management Plan sets out objectives for the prevention and eradication of litter 
throughout Carmarthenshire. The LEQ Management Plan recognises that the problem of litter 
will not be reduced unless a multi-dimensional approach is taken, and every sector must be 
involved in tackling the litter problem: including the general public and visitors, businesses, 
town and community councils as well as the Authority. 
 
While there is a growing awareness of the importance of keeping Carmarthenshire litter free 
amongst some in our society, there remains a real need to change attitudes and behaviour to 
recognise that littering is an antisocial act. Behaviour change can be achieved by generally 
heightening the awareness of littering, its causes and its impacts. 
 
The LEQ Management Plan seeks to achieve the following objectives: 
 
Objectives: 
 

 Maintain and enhance the quality of the built and natural environment through the 
reduction of litter pollution. 

 Target the main causes of litter in the County. 

 Improved litter awareness for all. 

 Implement operational activity through regular scheduled and reactive litter management 
programmes. 
 

These objectives are met through an overarching set of actions:  
 

 Service operations - the prevention and control of litter. 

 Education and engagement- public awareness, participation and education relating to 
litter matters. 

 Enforcement. 
 
Causation: 
 
The main causative factors or source origins of litter pollution in Carmarthenshire (based on the 
LEAMS Survey’s) can be attributed to: 
 

 Pedestrians. 

 Motorists. 

 Actions/behaviours at gathering points or near venues. 

 Actions/behaviours associated with retail outlets/shopping centres. 

 Dog fouling. 

 Fly tipping. 

 Discarded PPE. 

 Fast Food litter. 

Page 91



 

 
This LEQ Management Plan will act as an overarching strategy document for the next four 
years, based on which, an annual LEQ Action Plan will be formulated to identify priorities and 
specific actions to be carried out in each financial year. The Action Plan will be reviewed at 
financial year end and performance will be evaluated against the targets set out therein. 
 
A copy of the LEQ Management Plan will be made available to sight on the Authority’s web 
pages. 
 
The problem areas and issues identified for action in this plan are: 
 

 Lack of awareness by the public on the environmental legislation and their 
responsibilities in complying with it, such as littering, miss management of waste etc. 
 

 Illegal/indiscriminate dumping. 
 

 Litter from retail and fast-food outlets. 
 

 Cigarette derived litter. 
 

 Flyposting & distributing of advertising material. 
 

 Dog fouling / dog related anti-social behaviour (ASB) issues. 
 
3. Proposals to combat local environmental quality issues: 
 
The following is a summary of the practical measures that are and will continue to be adopted 
in combating these issues.  

 Ongoing Education and Awareness campaigns promoted by the County Council’s 
Environmental Enforcement Team and the Waste and Environmental Services Team. 

 Adopt various and new approaches to keep areas of County clean and tidy.  

 Promote and assist residents to participate in Carmarthenshire County Councils waste 
recycling schemes and the correct use available facilities.  

 Develop and distribute anti-litter messaging via various marketing tools 

 Increase the use of the website to promote awareness. 

 Undertake effective mobile patrols aimed at identifying areas with litter and dog fouling 
problems and deter further littering. 

 Increase awareness of public responsibility towards litter. 

 Operational management of litter and cleansing activities. 

 Partnership working. 

 Attendance and participation in regional and national fora and associated campaigns. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 92



 

 
4.  Partnership working: 
 
Carmarthenshire County Council is committed to collaboration with local voluntary and 
community groups, businesses, schools, residents’ associations, Dyfed Powys Police, Town & 
Community Councils and with residents and visitors to Carmarthenshire in order to achieve a 
reduction in the amount of litter in our local environment. 
 
As part of a collaborative process to bring this from a draft plan to a working plan, 
Carmarthenshire County Council will seek to work in partnership specifically with the following: 

 Voluntary groups and organisations. 

 Chamber of Commerce. 

 Town & Community Councils. 

 Partner Agencies. 

 Welsh Government and Keep Wales Tidy. 

 Working in accordance with the Welsh Government backed pan-Wales “Caru Cymru” 
initiative alongside all local authorities in Wales. 
 

On approval of the LEQ Management plan, we will engage with our stakeholders and elected 
members to advise of the actions planned over the next twelve months and maintain 
partnership working during the plans cycle between 2022-2026. 
 
5. Summary of main objectives and actions: 
 
As a Council (including all internal asset owners within the Council), we will continue to work in 
partnership with resident associations, estate management groups, the business and voluntary 
sectors and encourage each to play their individual and collective part in LEQ issue prevention 
as set out with the following objectives: 
 
Objectives: 
 

 Maintain and enhance the quality of the built and natural environment through the 
reduction of litter pollution. 

 Target the main causes of litter in the County. 

 Improved litter awareness for all. 

 Implement operational activity through regular scheduled and reactive litter management 
programmes. 

 
In order to meet the objectives, the following high-level actions are identified: 
 

 Continue to implement our cleansing and litter removal operational activity. 
 

 Continue to work with the various groups and encourage the development of local litter 
action plans for blackspot areas. 
 

 Actively encourage participation of resident associations, estate management groups 
and other voluntary groups in litter awareness programmes. 
 

Page 93



 

 
  

 Examine the introduction of new schemes by promoting community involvement and 
partnership. 
 

 Work with schools to heighten awareness of the problems caused by littering of 
confectionary items and ‘on the go’ litter. 
 

 Ensure that operators of take-away outlets and deli-shops take responsibility for the 
correct recovery/disposal of packaging sold by them in the vicinity of their premises 
 

 Increase awareness of the laws & responsibilities regarding litter in line with the Code of 
Practice with Litter and Refuse (Wales) 2007 (COPLAR). 
 

 Continue to heighten awareness of public responsibilities towards litter/littering 
Carmarthenshire County Council will: 

 
o Use all available media to heighten awareness towards litter/littering 

 
o Provide litter awareness literature in different languages to include and embrace 

our multicultural society 
 

o Continue to remind the public to use only registered waste collectors to collect 
their waste 
 

o Provide litter awareness signs at litter black spot areas in the County. 
 

More detailed actions are contained in the separate LEQ Action Plan document. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

REPORT ATTACHED? LEQ Management Plan 2022- 2026 and 
LEQ Action Plan. 

Page 94



 

IMPLICATIONS 

 
Policy - The LEQ Management Plan aligns with the Council’s updated Corporate Strategy 
and in particular Wellbeing Objectives 10 - Healthy and Safe Environment; look after the 
environment now and for the future. The plan will also contribute to Wellbeing Objective 8; 
Live well age well – support community cohesion, resilience and safety. 
The overall objective is to create a healthy, safe inclusive and prosperous environment. 
Under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (as amended by The Clean Neighbourhoods 
and Environment Act 2005), the Council has a legal duty to keep the streets and other areas 
under its control free from litter and refuse. 

 

Finance –  No additional expenditure is likely to be incurred as a consequence of the 
adoption of the updated LEQ Management Plan for 2022 - 2026.   
The Current Budget for 2021/2022 is £2.5 million on cleansing activities, removal of litter and 
illicit tipping throughout the County.   

 
The Caru Cymru Project grant has allowed for the appointment of LEQ Advisor for 2021 – 23 
to support with behavioural change campaigns in line with the project action plan. 

 
Further reductions of £145k in operational cleansing budget terms are expected as follows: 

 22/23 – a reduction of £55k 

 23/24 – a further reduction of £90k 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with 
this report: 

 

Signed:      A I Williams                                                       Head of Waste & Environmental Services 

 
Policy, Crime & 
Disorder and 
Equalities 

Legal 

 
Finance 

 
ICT 

 
Risk 
Management 
Issues 

Staffing 
Implications 

 

Physical 
Assets  

 
YES NONE YES NONE NONE NONE NONE 

Page 95



 

CONSULTATIONS 
 

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below 

 

Signed:       A I Williams                                                       Head of Waste and Environmental Services 

 
1. Scrutiny Committee 

 Due 1st February 2022 

2.Local Member(s)  - N/A 

3.Community / Town Council  

Consultation as appropriate with respect to specific initiatives to be undertaken. 

4.Relevant Partners   

 N/A – but specific discussions and collaborations as part of normal action plans will continue.  

5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations   

Consultation and discussion undertaken with all service delivery managers. 

 

CABINET PORTFOLIO HOLDERS 
AWARE/CONSULTED?  

 

Yes-  
Cabinet Members are supportive of the four 
year LEQ plan. 

  

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
 
THERE ARE NONE 
 

Page 96



 
 

Local Environmental Quality 
Management Plan 

“Keep Carmarthenshire Clean” 

2022- 2026 

carmarthenshire.gov.wales 

Page 97



 

 

Contents 
1. Introduction ........................................................................................................................... 2 

Introduction (continued) ....................................................................................................... 3 

2.What is Litter? ......................................................................................................................... 4 

3. Code of Practice—Legal responsibility ................................................................................... 5 

4. How we Manage .................................................................................................................... 6 

5. Fly Tipping .............................................................................................................................. 7 

6. Enforcement .......................................................................................................................... 8 

7. Dog Fouling and Controlling dogs in Public Spaces ................................................................ 9 

8. Other Offences ................................................................................................................. 10 

9. Local Environmental Quality ............................................................................................ 11 

10. Partnership Working...................................................................................................... 12 

11. Other Partners .............................................................................................................. 14 

12. Education and awareness raising .................................................................................. 15 

Education and awareness raising (Cont.) ................................................................................ 16 

Education and awareness raising (Cont) ................................................................................. 17 

Education and awareness raising (Cont) .................................................................................. 18 

13. Other initiatives to tackle adverse Local Environment Quality Issues ......................... 19 

14. Performance Monitoring ............................................................................................... 20 

15. The future...................................................................................................................... 21 

16. Customer Care ............................................................................................................... 22 

Appendix 1: .............................................................................................................................. 23 

Waste and Environmental Services Response times ........................................................... 23 

Appendix 2: Code of Practice for Litter and refuse (COPLAR) ................................................. 24 

Table 1—overview of cleanliness standards of response times .......................................... 24 

Table 2—Types of Land ........................................................................................................ 25 

Table 2—types of land continued ........................................................................................ 26 

Appendix 3 ............................................................................................................................... 27 

Table 3—Fixed Penalty Notices & Prosecutions Fines......................................................... 27 

 

Page 98

file://///ntcarmcc/cfp/Waste%20Management/Local%20Environmental%20Quality/LEQ%20Management%20Plan%202021%20-%202025/Local%20Environmental%20Quality%20Management%20Plan%202021%20-%202025%20Final%20DraftAW.docx%23_Toc76665903


  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 1 

Foreword 

  

 

 

 

 

“Welcome to our four-year strategy for the management of 
Local Environmental Quality issues (LEQ) in 
Carmarthenshire. 

 

The plan has been revised and updated version from the former 
Litter Management plan. 

 

We cannot deliver our LEQ plan without the unique 
contribution of the public and our partners, and together we 
will continue to work closely to “Keep Carmarthenshire 
Clean”. 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Cllr. Hazel Evans 
Executive Board Member for 
Environment 

Cllr. Philip Hughes 
Executive Board Member for 
Public Protection 

Page 99



  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 2 

1. Introduction 

 

1.1 This Local Environmental Quality Plan is presented by 

Carmarthenshire County Council for the period 2022—26. 

The overall vision and overarching objective of the plan is to 

maintain, enhance and improve the quality of the built and natural 

environment through the reduction of litter pollution, thereby 

creating a healthy and safe environment. 

Carmarthenshire enjoys a high-quality natural environment and rich 
diverse heritage, the protection and condition of which is a high 
priority. 

This plan contributes to the wider aims and objectives of the 
Council’s updated Corporate Strategy 2018-2023 Moving Forward in 
Carmarthenshire ( corporate-strategy-2018-23.pdf (gov.wales), Route 
towards becoming a Net Zero Carbon Local Authority by 2030 (Net 
Zero Carbon Local Authority by 2030 Action Plan) and associated 
Wellbeing Objectives (WBOs), particularly WBO 10; Healthy and Safe 
Environment – look after the environment now and in the future. This 
includes our built and natural environment, including the County’s 
natural biodiversity. Unfortunately, wildlife is one of the main victims 
when it comes to people's rubbish in the environment ‐ particularly 
wild birds and small mammals. This plan also contributes towards the 
Council’s duty under the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 which gives 
public bodies a duty to maintain and enhance biodiversity in all our 
functions.  

It describes how the Council aims to achieve the targets it has set for 
itself in its annual performance plan. The Council has provided a 
consultation response to Welsh Government proposed Litter and Fly 
Tipping prevention plan for Wales. The Council will take account of 
the outcomes of Welsh Government’s prevention plan for wales as 
part of our action plan. 

This LEQ Plan has been written to inform the people who live, work 
and travel in the County of Carmarthenshire of the obligations of the 
County Council in relation to litter, the obligations of others and how 
it intends to manage litter. 

The aim of the LEQ Plan is to set out in non-technical, simple terms 
the legal position, the litter problem that the Council must deal with, 
the ways in which the Council considers it will achieve best results 
and how the Council can continue to improve and maintain 
cleanliness standards.  

The council aims to achieve these objectives, through the integrated 
use of resources, partnership, and enforcement to deliver a cleaner, 
healthier and safer county for all. 

Page 100

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1214849/corporate-strategy-2018-23.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1223704/gd6245-netzerocarbon-plan3.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1223704/gd6245-netzerocarbon-plan3.pdf


  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 3 

Introduction (continued) 

   

This LEQ Management Plan sets out objectives for the prevention and 
eradication of litter throughout Carmarthenshire. The LEQ Management 
Plan recognises that the problem of litter will not be eradicated unless a 
multi-dimensional approach is taken, and every sector must be involved in 
tackling the litter problem: this includes the public as well as the 
commercial sector and the Council. 
 
The LEQ Management Plan seeks to achieve the following objectives: 
Objectives: 

• Maintain and enhance the quality of the built and natural 
environment through the reduction of litter pollution. 

• Target the main causes of litter in the County. 
• Improved litter awareness for all. 
• Implement operational activity through regular scheduled and 

reactive litter management programmes. 
 
These objectives are met through an overarching set of actions:  
Overarching actions: 

• Operations - the prevention and control of litter. 
• Education and engagement- public awareness, participation and 

education relating to litter matters. 
• Enforcement. 

 
Causation: 
The main causative factors or source origins of litter pollution in 
Carmarthenshire (based on the LEAMS Survey’s) can be attributed to: 

• Pedestrians. 
• Passing motorists. 
• Actions/behaviours at gathering points or near venues. 
• Actions/behaviours associated with retail outlets/shopping centres. 
• Dog fouling 
• Fly tipping. 
• Discarded PPE. 
• Fast Food litter 

 
This LEQ Management Plan will act as a medium-term strategy document, 
based on which, an annual Litter Management Action Plan will be 
formulated to identify priorities and specific actions to be carried out in 
each financial year. The Action Plan will be reviewed at year end and 
performance will be evaluated against the targets set out therein 

Page 101



  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 4 

2.What is Litter? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

2.1 Litter is used and unwanted items that are not disposed of in an 
appropriate manner. Examples of Litter Include cigarette butts, 
chewing gum, food and sweet wrappers, ATM receipts, cans, drink cups 
and bottles. Most of this waste can take years to break down and has 
an environmental impact that can harm wildlife. However, litter can 
also denote a wider range of problems that can make a whole area 
appear untidy, particularly the following: 
 

• Graffiti   
• Flyposting  
• Fly Tipping  
• Dog Fouling   
• Drug related litter 

 
 

LITTER AND THE LAW 

Under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (As amended by the Clean 
Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005), the council has a legal duty to 
keep the streets and other areas under its control free from litter and refuse. 

 

Statutory bodies, business, educational establishments and individuals have a 
duty to keep their land clean by disposing of litter and waste safely in a 
responsible manner. 

 

Anyone caught dropping litter or not clearing up after their dog can be issued 
with a fixed penalty notice, or for non-payment of this penalty, offenders can 
be reported for summons to court where the maximum fine for: 
 

• Dog fouling is £1000  

• Littering is £2500.  

• Illicit Tipping of larger volumes of litter or waste can incur a maximum 
fine of £50,000 and / or imprisonment.  

• Any business not complying to the “Duty of Care” regulations may also 
be liable for prosecution which may incur a maximum fine of £5,000. 

 
Private Landowners are often victims of Illicit Tipping and the council’s Public 
Protection section will work with landowners on advising preventative 
measures. 
 
Further information on the Litter Laws and obligations can be found in  
Appendix A. 

Page 102



  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 5 

3. Code of Practice—Legal responsibility 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3.1 The Legislation  
 
The Environmental Protection Act 1990 and the Code of Practice on 
Litter and Refuse 2007 (COPLAR) sets out the cleanliness standards and 
response times for different types of Zones.  
 
The Code has classified the different types of land managed by duty 
bodies into four main zones, based on the following two variables: -  
 

• the Intensity of activity in the area, from People and Vehicles; 
and  

• Health and safety limitations  

See Appendix 2 for details of the Welsh Government’s Code of Practice 
for standards of Cleanliness, different types of land affected and 
response times.  
 
3.2 Residents / Communities.  
 
Those living and working in the county have a vital role in helping to 
keep the environment clean.  
 
Should any service problems occur prompt reporting of this will allow us 
to put things right as soon as possible.  
 
You can report it online: www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/recycling  
 
The Authority is frequently reviewing its existing cleansing regime to 
provide a more effective service within resources allocated, however, it 
is important that we encourage everyone to take responsibility to keep 
Carmarthenshire clean.  

Page 103

http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/recycling


  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 6 

4. How we Manage 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.1 Street Cleansing 
 
Carmarthenshire County Council is responsible for removing litter from 
pavements, streets and council owned public land.  
The Council’s Environmental Services Division has a in house cleansing 
team, along with a number of mechanical sweeping machines.  
An average of 40 tonnes of litter is removed every week at a cost of over 
£2.5 million per year (2019/20).  
 
Under the existing legislation the frequency in which a street is swept is 
not as important as how clean the street is.  
This allows us to provide a flexible and responsive service, targeting the 
areas where it is needed most and maintaining high cleanliness standards 
throughout Carmarthenshire.  
However, this can also make it difficult to provide information on when 
some streets will next be swept, although all areas near town centres 
and areas near schools are swept on a regular basis. 
 
Our service is monitored and reviewed for potential improvements 
within our resource allocation.  
The service has developed cleansing, litter picking and litter bin emptying 
schedules.  
We also aim to continue working with local communities to develop new 
solutions for local problems and carry out locally based clean-ups 
involving our communities. 

Page 104



  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 7 

5. Fly Tipping 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
5.1 In accordance with the provisions of The Environmental Protection Act 
1990 as amended by the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environmental Act 
2005, ‘fly tipping’ of waste is illegal.  
 
If any person is caught fly tipping waste, the maximum penalty is £50,000. 
If the case goes to the Crown Court, imprisonment can be up to five years. 

It is also an offence to permit or authorise fly-tipping on land where a 
Waste Management licence is not held. 

Don’t ignore it – report it! 

If you witness an illegal tipping, please make a note of the 
registration number of any vehicle(s), the time and date. If the 
vehicle has company's details displayed, please also note the name 
and telephone number of the company - the more information, the 
better.  

You can report it online: www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/ recycling 
 
The Council will investigate fly-tipping incidents for evidence and clear the 
materials as soon as practicable, usually within 4 days, with urgent cases 
dealt with sooner on a prioritised basis. 
 
If you spot large scale, more serious incidents of illegal waste disposal 
or fly tipping, contact  
Natural Resources Wales on their national hotline:  0300 065 3000 
or report it via their website: www.naturalresources.wales 

 

A serious incident could be where fly tipped material is giving rise to 
the risk of pollution of land or watercourses or is obstructing or 
causing potential flooding in watercourses. 
 

Page 105

http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/recycling
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/recycling
http://www.naturalresources.wales/


  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 8 

6. Enforcement 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
  
 

6.1 What enforcement powers does Carmarthenshire County 
Council Have? 
 
Enforcement powers clearly have a deterrent effect and can help cut the 
amount of environmental crime; therefore, action should be taken against 
those who ignore requests to keep the county clean. 
 
Carmarthenshire County Council has enforcement powers that require 
individuals, businesses, and landowners to remove waste that could be a 
danger or pose a risk to public health. The Council can also recharge the 
cost of removing waste if those responsible for clearance fail to comply 
with legal notices. Enforcement powers and responsibilities rest within a 
number of Divisions within the Council. 

 
Where the necessary evidence can be obtained individuals and companies 
will be prosecuted for fly-tipping. 
 
The areas of environmental crime that are enforced are fly-tipping, litter, 
dog fouling, nuisance and abandoned vehicles, trade waste, household 
waste, graffiti, flyposting, skips and scaffolding and taking action against 
householders who do not put waste out for collection properly. 
The Environmental Enforcement teams take a pro-active approach in seeking 
to address environmental crime include the use of a wide range of 
technology, including CCTV in order to catch and prosecute offenders. The 
team conduct general patrols as well as intelligence led investigations. Other 
activities include targeted days where specific locations are targeted to 
address problems such as dog fouling and littering. 
 
6.2 Fixed Penalty Notices for Littering 

The Environmental Protection Act 1990 makes it an offence to drop litter. 
Drivers of vehicles from which litter is dropped can also be liable for a fixed 
penalty fine. Carmarthenshire County Council/Dyfed Powys Police has the 
authority to issue a fixed penalty notice to anyone caught committing a 
littering offence. 
 

Page 106



  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 9 

7. Dog Fouling and Controlling dogs in Public Spaces 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7.1 Dog fouling and controlling dogs in public places 

Carmarthenshire is a dog-friendly county with a selection of walks and 
miles of golden, sandy beaches to enjoy with your four-legged friends. 
The majority of dog owners act responsibly by cleaning up after their 
pets and keeping them under control in public places. 

However, we do get complaints of dog fouling and of nuisance 
behaviour due to dogs that are not under proper control. 

We have introduced a Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) to give 
us greater flexibility in tackling irresponsible dog owners and 
incidents involving dogs.  

Public consultation at the time showed that 98% of respondents 
either agreed or strongly agreed with an order for owners to clean 
up after their dogs; 87% agreed or strongly agreed with an order to 
exclude dogs from children’s play areas. 

Exemptions 
There are some exemptions for people with disabilities and for working 
dogs. 

Litter Bins.  

Dog walkers can dispose of small 
amounts of bagged dog waste whilst 
walking their dogs in any of the 
litter bins provided in the county, If 
the bin is full or not available, then 
please take it home and dispose into 
your black bag waste. 

Fines 

If you fail to comply with the PSPO you are committing a criminal 
offence and can be issued with a fixed penalty notice. The maximum 
fine if prosecuted in the magistrate’s court is £1,000. 

7.2 Existing byelaws 

Existing byelaws including seasonal dog exclusions (from 1st May to 
30th September) at Cefn Sidan and Llansteffan beaches and the bye 
law requiring dogs to be kept on leads at all times on Llansteffan 
green remain in force.  

 
 

Page 107

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/4846/order.pdf


  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 10 

8. Other Offences 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8.1 Duty of Care 
 
The Anti-social Behaviour Police and Crime Act 2014 and the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 has now extended Carmarthenshire County Council’s use of 
powers to ensure that householders and local businesses comply with their duty 
of care in managing waste. Householders are required to ensure that waste 
produced on their property is transferred to an authorised person for disposal. 
Both parties could be prosecuted if they fail to comply with their ‘duty of care’ 
obligations. Local businesses must ensure that they comply with their ‘Duty of 
Care’ obligations and are therefore deterred from fly-tipping, flyposting, leaflet 
drops, generating litter from shop fronts and not putting waste out for collection 
properly. 
 
8.2 Waste Carrier’s Licence 
 
Checks are also carried out to ensure that waste carriers have the appropriate 
licence and comply with the use of waste transfer notes when transporting waste. 
Carmarthenshire County Council do undertake joint operations with partner 
agencies to check compliance. Current legislation provides the ability to issue 
fixed penalty notices for offenders who fail to produce the appropriate 
licence/transfer notes when requested to do so. 
Waste carriers should have a licence from Natural Resources Wales. Residents can 
check with Natural Resources Wales if someone is a registered waste carrier on 
0300 065 30000 or via their on-line database. Please click on the NRW logo below 
to access the on-line checker. 
 
8.3 Abandoned Vehicles 
 
Sections 3 and 4 of The Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 has 
also enabled the Council to deal with nuisance vehicles regarding repair and sale 
of vehicles on the highway. It is also an offence to unlawfully abandon your car, 
carrying a maximum penalty fine of £2500- or three-months imprisonment, or 
both. 
 
8.4 Scaffolding/Skips 
 
In accordance with the New Road and Streetworks Act 1991, it is also an offence 
to erect scaffolding or deposit a skip on the highway without permission of the 
Authority. 
 

 

Page 108

https://naturalresources.wales/permits-and-permissions/waste-carriers-brokers-and-dealers-public-register/?lang=en


  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 11 

9. Local Environmental Quality 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
  

 
 

9.1 LEQ—A holistic approach to Local Environmental Quality— 
taking actions forward together. 

Carmarthenshire is looking at developing innovative approaches in 
tackling persistent problems associated with poor local environment 
quality (LEQ) to prevent and reduce the adverse social, economic and 
environmental impacts that they have on our communities. These 
problems cannot be tackled in isolation, they require a step change in 
collaboration and must focus on prevention; we are increasingly aware 
that LEQ issues cannot be tackled in a “one size fits all” campaign. 
Although there is still a role for national anti- litter or anti dog fouling 
campaigns and coordinated actions to highlight the scale and impact of 
the problems and to engage communities. We believe that prevention 
requires different interventions and messaging for different issues. This 
extends to addressing general environment improvements (based on 
locality and demographics) to targeting different types of litter (based 
on area, litter behaviour and sources). 

To achieve this, we need to target the source of the problem and 
address behaviour change combining other policy instruments and 
actions that we can take forward with all agencies who have an interest 
in this area. These actions need to be developed in partnership and will 
require a new way of working to be formed which recognises the 
multifaceted nature and impacts of local environmental quality. 

The Wellbeing and Future Generations Act offers a unique opportunity 
to look at local environment quality through a collaborative and long-
term lens to come together to cement new commitments and 
partnerships, which are much needed in times of restricted budgets and 
an uncertain legislative future. 

Ultimately, we aim to bring people together, with new solutions to 
persistent problems which are consistently prioritised across the county. 
The purpose of the plan is to demonstrate how litter management will 
be undertaken, thereby contributing to the Council’s Corporate 
Strategy, with particular emphasis Wellbeing Objective 10 – a Healthy 
and Safe Environment; look after the environment now and in the 
future. 

Page 109



  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 12 

10. Partnership Working 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
v 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10.1 The Council recognises that it cannot succeed in greatly 
reducing the amount of litter in the environment on its own.  
It is very important that we work with external groups and 
agencies in the fight against litter.   
The County Council are eager to promote partnerships in an effort 
to raise awareness about the litter problem and to improve and 
maintain standards. 

 
Partnerships have already been established with the following 
organisations: 
 

• Natural Resources Wales 
 

• Keep Wales Tidy 
 

• Dyfed Powys Police 
 

• Community Safety Partnership 
 

• Mid and West Wales Fire and Rescue Service 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 110

https://naturalresources.wales/?lang=en
https://www.keepwalestidy.cymru/
https://www.dyfed-powys.police.uk/
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/emergencies-and-community-safety/community-safety/#.YO7fPHnFBYc
https://www.mawwfire.gov.uk/


  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 13 

 

Partnership working (Continued) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10.2 Pride in your Patch 
 
Pride in Your Patch is a partnership project that helps local Volunteers make 
a difference in their communities. The Scheme can help spruce up your area 
by offering expert advice, equipment, and assistance on: 
 

• Litter picking 
 

• fly-tipping removal 
 

• painting and general sprucing up strimming and  
 

• weed clearance 
 

• making your space more wildlife friendly 
 
You can volunteer as an individual or a group and do as much or as little as 
you like – it’s completely up to you! You could also earn time credits for 
volunteering. We work to support volunteers, community groups, registered 
charities, and not-for-profit organisations to clean up areas of public land. 
Our partners: 
 

   

Page 111

https://www.flytippingactionwales.org/en
https://www.keepwalestidy.cymru/


  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 14 

11. Other Partners 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

11.1  Businesses and Landowners 

The legal enforcement powers available to the Council for 
dealing with businesses and private landowners are a last resort.  

We will take every opportunity to adopt a partnership approach 
with local businesses and landowners to encourage them to take 
a responsible attitude towards litter and fly- tipping. 

Private landowners are often the victims of illegal dumping. In 
these cases, we would look to work with the landowner to help 
stop the problem recurring. 

11.2  Voluntary Groups and other organisations 

We also work with the voluntary sector and external organisations 
on campaigns and clean-up operations.  

Should you wish to be involved or wish to suggest an initiative or 
campaign in your area then please contact us.  

We are open to any suggestions aimed at helping to improve and 
maintain standards of cleanliness. 

11.3  Other Stakeholders 

It is important that the current raft of environmental legislation 
and the wealth of experience of partners relating to improving the 
quality of our local environment are used effectively by key 
stakeholders within Carmarthenshire.  

Stakeholders include Town & Community Councils / local Groups / 
Organisations that have an interest / contribution to achieving a 
sustainable Carmarthenshire. 
 

Page 112



  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 15 

 

12. Education and awareness raising 

 

 

The following are our current campaigns for 2022 - 2026 raising 
awareness as part of our litter prevention strategy. 

12.1 Improved litter bin signage 

Improved litter bin signage has been provided where necessary and 
pavement messages have been launched in Llanelli town centre as part 
of Carmarthenshire County Council’s ‘Pride in your Patch’ campaign. 

Using ‘nudge theory’ on the pavement messages involve pressure 
washing a stencil to create a two-tone effect encouraging residents to 
dispose of their litter correctly. 

With over 2,000 litter bins across the county, the stencil encourages 
people to use the litter bins, whilst the bin signage, if required, clarifies 
their intended purpose, which is to dispose of litter and bagged dog 
waste only. 

Household rubbish and business waste should not be placed in litter 
bins, all businesses have a duty to keep their waste safe and to dispose 
or recycle it using a licensed waste contractor. 

12.2 Enforcement Action Days 

Enforcement and Awareness Officers work together to combat litter and 
waste problems, which links with anti-social behaviour. Problem areas 
are identified and focus on the key problems in that locality e.g., dog 
fouling, illegal dumping of business waste and litter bin abuse.  

Officers patrol the area to raise awareness with the public and target 
businesses and individuals who are not complying with the law and 
issue Fixed Penalty Notices for violations. 

12.3 Chewing gum and cigarette but campaigns 
 
We work to stamp out other types of litter such as chewing gum and 
cigarette butts. These litter types are extremely costly and difficult to 
clean and remove and prevention is placed as priority.   
 
We support the annual national chewing gum campaign, and the Council 
has already piloted chewing gums and cigarette butt bins in its principal 
towns as part of our education and awareness programme and will 
continue to develop and expand on this initiative. 

 
 

Page 113



  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 16 

Education and awareness raising (Cont.) 

 

12.4 Fast food litter campaign 

As more and more people eat on the go, roadside litter has become increasingly 
visible on our main link roads and litter black spots. Drinks litter including coffee/ 
cold drinks cups, cans and plastic bottles are often present as well as take away 
cartons and bags. 

We are working in partnership with local fast food outlets including McDonalds, KFC 
and Roadchef, in an effort to encourage people to bin their waste on site or take 
home any waste packaging from drive thru meals. We have engaged with all the 
fast-food restaurants in the County to work on a consistent messaging campaign.  

Promotional signage features an ‘eyes on you’ design, drawing from research 
undertaken and compiled by KWT and other partners. Messages also include ‘give 
your litter a lift’ and encourage customers at the outlets to join with staff and 
volunteer for litter picks under our PIYP initiative. 

Signage is used in store, in car parks and drive thru areas. 

12.5 Radio Campaigns 

Previously we teamed up with Carmarthenshire Radio to reinforce key messages of 
the authority’s Pride in Your Patch campaign. Every week for 6 months interviews 
were broadcast about litter and its impacts including the views of our own 
volunteers, council litter picking staff, local Town & Community councils, schools, 
and restaurant managers.  

As part of other initiatives, we will continue to use radio advertisement around dog 
fouling, littering and fly tipping. 

12.6 Caru Cymru Campaign 

Caru Cymru is the current flagship partnership project that aims at tackling 
environmental issues that really matter to communities across Wales. 
 
Caru Cymru is a collaboration between the environmental charity, Keep Wales Tidy 
and all 22 Welsh local authorities. It focusses on improving local environmental 
quality (LEQ) providing sustainable solutions and stopping litter at source.  
 
This isn’t just about litter but refers to any issue that you might come across when 
you walk out of your front door, from dog fouling to fly-tipping, graffiti and even the 
quality of the air you breathe and the proximity of the nearest green space. 
 
We don’t want to concentrate our efforts on just cleaning up, we want to change 
behaviour for the long term. We’re working across various sectors to run national 
and regional campaigns, as well as targeted local projects. 

Page 114



  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 17 

Education and awareness raising (Cont) 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 

12.7 Eco Schools 
 
Eco schools is an award-based programme, that is administered by 
Keep Wales Tidy that focuses on a range of sustainable development 
issues. Schools that have registered to take part in the programme 
look at litter prevention and awareness, waste minimisation and 
improving and developing school grounds to name a few topics. 
 

Council officers will support with any practical assistance such as 
organising a litter pick event with pupils via the eco school 
coordinator and assist the school to work towards achieving Eco 
School Award status.  

Officers from the Enforcement Team also visit schools to talk about 
the impacts of litter and raise awareness about waste and talk 
about their role as officers and the impact of litter and fly-tipping.   

Further school resources are in development, which will follow the 
national curriculum. These lesson plans/activities will be provided 
to teachers to use directly. 

 

12.8 #2MinuteBeachClean 
 

A beach litter webpage has been set up on the Council’s website to 
address the issue of litter and the impacts it has when it finds its way into 
watercourses.  
 
The Council has joined the #2MinuteBeachClean campaign and introduced 
display boards at beaches across the authority.  
 
The boards hold litter pickers and bags for anyone using the beach to carry 
out a litter pick when they are visiting.  
 
The boards are monitored and looked after by a local custodian, working 
with the Council. 

Page 115



  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 18 

 

Education and awareness raising (Cont.) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

12.9 Plastic Free Communities 

The Council will assist with advice on ways to look at reducing the 
plastic used within communities who join the ‘Surfer’s Against 
Sewage’ campaign and pledge to become a plastic free community. 

The ‘Beach Litter’ webpage also provides tips on how to reduce plastic 
waste as well as a comprehensive A-Z of materials that can be recycled 
and an additional section within called ' go the extra mile' that 
promotes further steps to reduce producing waste for some products 
in the first instance. 

 

1. 12.10 Dog Fouling Campaign 

The Council works in partnership with community organisations and 
schools to encourage dog owners to be more responsible and clean 
up after their dog.  This year we have produced a ‘community 
resource pack’ which will enable volunteer groups to take action in 
their own communities. The contents include stencils and chalk paint, 
using the principles of ‘nudge theory’ to lead dog owners to use a 
litter bin, based on research carried out by KWT. The packs will be 
issued by our ‘Pride in Your Patch’ coordinator who will work with 
and guide the groups on using the packs.  

Groups will be encouraged to photograph and share their work using 
the #BagItBinIt we will also feature details on our webpage: 

www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/dogfouling 

12.10 Social Media 

We have been promoting householder duty of care and business waste 
carriers license and legal requirements to collect, transport and dispose of 
household waste via social media. We will also be enhancing the use of 
social media, posting key messages with regards to the Caru Cymru project 
and the core themes of littering, dog fouling and fly tipping.  

 

 
 

Page 116

http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/dogfouling


  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 19 

13. Other initiatives to tackle adverse Local Environment Quality 
Issues 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

13.1 Fly Mapper 

Developed by Fly Tipping Action Wales, FlyMapper is a system 
for the capture, management, and analysis of fly-tipping 
incidents. It comprises a smartphone app, FlyMapper Mobile, 
and a web application, FlyMapper Web. 
The system is used in conjunction with other systems and currently 
analysis of the system and how we can capture and respond to 
meaningful data with regards to LEQ issues is currently being explored. 

13.2 Town Centre & Ward Specific Local Environmental Quality Audits 
 
We are currently piloting town centre and specific ward audits, whereby 
surveys are conducted to identify the adverse environmental quality 
issues that are affecting the town centres and the specific areas of a Ward. 
The Town Centre audits are conducted in our ten principal towns within 
the county. 
The data collected from the audits are shared with key services within the 
Council to develop actions focussed on addressing the Local 
Environmental Quality issues that are unique to each town. 

Page 117



  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 20 

14. Performance Monitoring 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

14.1 Local Environmental Audit and Management System (LEAMS) 

LEAMS is a way of recording street cleanliness by measuring the amount of litter 
found on 50m section of a street. It also records the following Adverse 
Environmental Quality Indicators (AEQI): 

Litter / flyposting /graffiti / dog fouling / vandalism / weeds / detritus. 

LEAMS records the cleanliness of a street, not the performance of the local 
authority cleansing staff. Cleanliness can be affected by many factors including 
the actions of local residents and visitors to an area. 

The data collected contributes towards the Performance Indicator for the street 
scene. Street scene refers to the appearance and condition of the ‘street’ and 
public open places and the performance indicator considers issues that have an 
important factor, such as the presence of litter. 

Keep Wales Tidy prepare a report on the findings from their annual LEAMS 
surveys undertaken in each local authority in Wales. Carmarthenshire also 
undertakes surveys on a bi-monthly basis.  

LEAMS helps the Council meet its obligations under the Code of Practice for Litter 
and Refuse (COPLAR) by: 

• providing a baseline to establish a starting point 

• providing self-monitoring to assess continuous improvement 

• providing annual validation by an independent body (Keep Wales Tidy) 

• allowing for comparison of results between authorities 

• allowing for distribution of best practice between partner authorities 

The Council area is monitored through bi-monthly surveys, covering a random 
sample of streets and other relevant sites. 

Each site is graded (A, B, B+, C or D) depending on how badly littered it is. Every 
12 months Keep Wales Tidy carry out an inspection of the County, a yearly report 
is compiled and published detailing the results of the Survey’s. 

This system can be used to determine the size and nature of the litter problem 
within specific areas and enables the Council to review service provision. As well 
as litter, the LEAMS survey also covers Adverse Environmental Quality Indicators 
such as dog fouling and graffiti. Carmarthenshire County Council is committed to 
using this technique as a way of monitoring and improving our cleanliness 
standards. The results to date have shown a general improvement in cleanliness 
standards. 

The Council continues to consult with the public to obtain residents views, opinions and 
comments to help us to improve the standards of cleanliness and to identify areas for 
improvement.  

Another performance measure is the time taken for us to remove fly-tipped material, 
and we are developing other measures to support our aim in reducing fly-tipping within 
the local area.  

Example of a 
Grade ‘A’ Street 

Example of a 
Grade ‘D’ Street 

Example of a 
Grade ‘B+’ Street 

Example of a 
Grade ‘C’ Street 

Example of a 
Grade ‘B’ Street 

Page 118

https://www.keepwalestidy.cymru/surveys
https://www.keepwalestidy.cymru/surveys
https://www.keepwalestidy.cymru/surveys
https://www.keepwalestidy.cymru/surveys
https://www.keepwalestidy.cymru/surveys
https://www.keepwalestidy.cymru/surveys
https://www.keepwalestidy.cymru/surveys
https://www.keepwalestidy.cymru/surveys
https://www.keepwalestidy.cymru/surveys


  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 21 

15. The future 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Carmarthenshire County Council will strive to continue the simple strategy of 
education, service provision and enforcement, and reviewing and improving 
its working practices. 

15.1 Education and Awareness 
Building on the links with communities in the county and continuing with 
awareness campaigns will help change the behaviour of the small percentage 
of our community who are responsible for dropping litter and develop long 
term cultural solutions to the problem of littering and fly tipping. 

15.2 Service Provision 
We will endeavour to sustain and improve service provision for keeping the 
environment cleaner, targeting problem areas such as fast-food outlets and 
school routes. We aim to ensure that we supply the right number of bins if 
appropriate, in the right places and that they are emptied at the right 
frequency. If there is no litter bin, please take your rubbish home or keep it 
until you find a bin. 

15.3 Enforcement 
Utilising our enforcement powers to reduce environmental crime through 
targeted enforcement is key. We work in partnership with the Dyfed Powys 
Police Authority, Natural Resources Wales and other outside organisations to 
tackle environmental crime. The section is proactively dealing with the root of 
environmental crime through patrols, stop-checks and covert surveillance. 
This approach has proven to be successful in the past and will continue to be a 
vital part of our strategy. 
 

Page 119



  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 22 

16. Customer Care 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16.1 Customer Care 

Carmarthenshire County Council is committed to providing the best 
possible service to its customers by informing, listening and responding 
to their needs.  

The Council is committed to doing so through the Welsh and English 
languages according to the choice of the customer.  

The Council operates a complaints and compliments procedure that 
aims to improve customer care. 

For more information visit: 

www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/ 
 
If you need this publication in large print, in Braille or on audio tape, 
please contact the above. 
 

Page 120

http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/


  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 23 

Appendix 1: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Waste and Environmental Services Response times 

The table below sets out Waste & Environmental Services cleansing 
service categories for highways and public maintained land and the 
response times for each: 

 

Sub-category Response Time 

Broken Glass 1 working day 

Damaged Litter Bin  10 working days 

Dead Animals Removal 

(If not immediate danger to traffic 

or road users) 

1 working day 

Dog Fouling Removal 3 working days 

Fly tipping 4 working days 

Graffiti Removal 

Priority 1—Offensive in Nature. 

Priority 2—Non-Offensive. 

(Council Owned / maintained 

structure) 

 
 
2 Working days  

28 working days 

Needlesticks removal 1 working day 

New litter Bin  15 working days,  

  subject  to assessment of need. 

Overflowing Litter Bin 1 working day 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 121



  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 24 

Appendix 2: Code of Practice for Litter and refuse (COPLAR) 
 

The table below shows information about the cleanliness standards, different types of 
land and response times set out in the Code of Practice. Unlike the LEAMS monitoring 
system, the Code of Practice does not at present include the B+ cleanliness rating. 

Table 1—overview of cleanliness standards of response times 
 

Zones High Intensity 

of use 

Medium Intensity 

of use 

Low Intensity 

of use 

Special 

Circumstances 

Nature of 

the area 

Areas which, 

through intense 

pedestrian and / 

or vehicular 

movements, are 

prone to 

fluctuations litter 

and refuse and 

require both high 

levels of 

monitoring and 

frequent 

cleansing 

Area affected by 

moderate levels of 

pedestrian and 

vehicular activity and 

therefore less prone to 

fluctuations in litter 

and refuse, usually 

situated outside 

centres of retail or 

commercial activity but 

used regularly by 

members of the public 

Area subject to 

low or 

infrequent levels 

of pedestrian 

and vehicular 

activity and 

therefore less 

prone to 

fluctuations in 

litter and refuse, 

often located in 

more rural 

areas, 

Types of land where issues 

of health and safety and 

reasonableness and 

practicability are 

dominant considerations 

when undertaking 

environmental 

maintenance work 

(includes legislative 

restrictions for all land 

types) 

Maximum 

response time 

to restore to a 

grade A 

standard if it 

falls below a 

grade B 

1/2 day 

This means by 

6pm if reported 

before 1pm or by 

1pm the next day 

if reported 

between 1pm 

and 6pm on the 

previous day 

1 day 

This means by 6pm 

the following evening 

14 days 28 days or as soon as 

reasonably practicable 

The County is made up of a patchwork of abutting areas of land owned, tenanted and 
managed by a myriad of public and private agencies and Individuals. Unmanaged litter 
and refuse from your land moves, blows or flows onto other land of others, and theirs to 
yours. This code is to encourage good land management through awareness of 
circumstances that will lead to in- creased litter and refuse at particular times. 

 

Page 122



  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 25 

Appendix 2 

Table 2—Types of Land 
 High Intensity of use Medium Intensity of use Low Intensity of use Special 

Circumstances 

Retail, office and 

commercial 

Primary and 

secondary retail 

office & commercial 

areas 

Primary and secondary 

retail, office & 

commercial areas 

  

Housing land  Areas of housing (except 

those located within 

primary or secondary 

retail, office & 

commercial area which 

fall within high intensity 

  

Industrial areas  Industry / warehousing/ 

retail parks 

  

Roads Main roads and other 

highways running 

through the above 

areas 

Main roads and other 

highways running 

through the above areas 

Rural and other 

highways running 

through the above 

areas 

Motorway and trunk 

road roundabouts 

and lay-bys, 

approach and slip 

roads connecting to 

these roads 

Carriageways verges 

and central 

reservations of 

motorways and trunk 

roads 

Transport Inter 

changes 

Publicly accessible 

areas in and around 

transport 

interchanges in busy 

public areas (most 

likely to be major 

airports, ports, 

harbours, bus, train, 

and train passenger 

stations in cities and 

town centres, and car 

parks) 

Publicly accessible areas 

in and around transport 

interchanges in busy 

public areas (most likely 

to be suburban and 

important town 

harbours, bus, train and 

tram inter- changes, car 

parks and haulage 

operations) 

Public areas in and 

around transport 

interchanges located 

in these areas 

Also, operational rail 

land between 

platforms and within 

100 m of platform 

ends 

Operational rail land 

within urban areas 

not covered by other 

zones 

 
 

Page 123



  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 26 

Appendix 2 

Table 2—types of land continued 
 High Intensity of 

use 
Medium Intensity 

of use 

Low Intensity 

of use 

Special 

Circumstances 

Educational 

land 

 Land designated 

educational Institutions 

(most commonly schools, 

colleges and universities), 

during term- time, other 

than weekends or half-

term holiday 

Land of designated 

educational 

institutions (most 

commonly schools, 

colleges and 

universities), when 

being used for a 

purpose authorised by 

governing body or 

land mangers during 

holidays 

 

Public open 

spaces 

Parks and open 

spaces located in 

busy public areas or 

with strategic 

national 

importance or parts 

of other open 

spaces subject to 

high intensity of 

use 

Parks and open spaces 

located in areas as 

described above., or 

parts of other open 

spaces subject to medium 

intensity of use 

Parks and open 

spaces located in 

areas as described 

above, or parts of 

other open spaces 

subject to low 

intensity of use. 

 

Waterside 

land 

Waterside land in 

areas of high 

intensity of use 

Waterside land in areas 

of medium intensity of 

use 

All other waterside 
areas 

 

Beaches    Amenity beaches should be 

generally clear of all litter 

and refuse between 1st May 

and 30th September 

inclusive, Individual local 

authorities should decide 

the level of cleanliness that 

they are able to provide to 

any non-amenity beaches, 

and were 

practicable, beaches must 

be inspected from time to 

time and cleaned as 

necessary. 

Other areas Other busy 

public areas 

 All other areas  

Page 124



  LEQ Plan 2022 – 2026 Final Draft 27 

Appendix 3 

Table 3—Fixed Penalty Notices & Prosecutions Fines 

Description of Offence Maximum Penalty on Conviction Full amount of Fixed Penalty 

Notice 

Depositing Litter £2,500 £125 

Failure to comply with a 

Community Protection 

Notice 

£1,000 £100 

Failure to Provide Waste 

Documents 

£5,000 (or on indictment, an unlimited 

fine) 

£300 

Unauthorised distribution 

of free printed matter 

£2,500 £125 

Failure to comply with a 

waste receptacle notice 

£1,000 £100 

Failure to comply with a 

Public Spaces Protection 

Order 

£1,000 £100 

Nuisance Parking inc 

Selling leaving two or 

more vehicles for sale on 

the highway 

£5,000 £100 

For the Abandonment of a 

Vehicle 

£2,500 £200 

For Graffiti and Fly Posting £5,000 and / or six-month imprisonment 

at a Magistrates Court 

£125 

Failure to produce the 

authority to transport 

waste 

£5,000 £300 

Small Scale Fly Tipping £50,000 and up to 12 months 

imprisonment at a magistrate’s 

court. 

£400 

Household Duty of Care £5,000 (or on indictment, an unlimited 

fine) 

£300 

 
 

  
 

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



LEQ ACTION PLAN 2022 – 2023 
Overarching actions: 

 Operations - the prevention and control of litter. 

 Education and engagement- public awareness, participation and education relating to litter matters. 

 Enforcement (including educational interactions) 
 
Overarching Action and 

Sub-action Category 
Action Officer Target/Comments Target Date 

Operations 
    

O1. LEQ and litter Surveys Undertake a bi monthly sample of 
streets and conduct litter surveys. a. IN 
addition to bi monthly principal and ten 
town LEQ surveys. 

MR Complete bi-monthly litter and LEQ surveys across the County  Bi-monthly, 
ongoing 

O2. Sharing of live LEQ data 
to inform the cleansing 
service of any hotspots/ 
particular LEQ issues 

Provide and share data as a result of 
LEQ surveys on key information/ trends 
with respect to adapting cleansing 
resources to the requirements within a 
particular area. 

MR/GB Share data between LEQ and cleansing teams to analyse live data 
and to allow timely targeted action to do with highlighted LEQ 
hotspots/ issues  

Bi-monthly, 
ongoing 

O3. Local Environmental 
Quality – litter hot spots.  

To tackle hotspot areas and amend 
sweeping frequency to meet the need 
of individual areas. 

GB Review current service schedules to ensure problem areas are 
addressed.  

March 2022 

O4. Review/develop litter bin 
policy 

Develop a policy for the assessment of 
bin provision with links to findings of 
litter surveys. 

GB/MR Finalise a litter bin policy and obtain relevant sanctions and 
engagement with members, town & community councils and 
relevant council services in order to inform of the new policy and 
explain the resource availability/ limitations to all concerned.  

July 2022 

O5. Develop robust strategy 
and action plan to tackle fly-
tipping (1) 

Review current arrangements for 
dealing with fly-tipping. 
Review how data is reported, captured 
and presented in relation to incidents of 
fly-tipping.  

GB/GL/MR/PM Develop and present for sanctioning a robust strategic and 
operational policy with a detailed action plan to identify incidences, 
analyse locations, types and source, capture meaningful data to 
inform relevant services of key requirements both for resources to 
cleans and enforcement requirements, and reduce/ eradicate fly 
tipping incidences through education and enforcement 
engagement.   

March 2022 

O6. Develop robust action 
plan to tackle fly-tipping (2) 

Continue to work with the Fly Tipping 
Action Wales, all- Wales group on fly-
tipping initiatives.  

MR Work with the all-Wales group to bring a common approach to data 
capture and public campaigns. 

Ongoing 

O7. Review how LEQ 

incident reports from the 

public are Recorded and 

processed to completion. 

Review current reporting methods for 
the public and adapt/ enhance to 
capture all relevant data required to 
enable services to action the incident in 
a timely manner.  

GB/GL/MR/CT Create a seamless CRM system that links customer complaints 
with operations for timely clearance and management of issues. 

April 2022 

O8. Fly-tipping hotspots Undertake  LEQ surveys following 
contact specifically to determine the 
extent of the issues and inform the 
possible additional resource 
requirement to tackle the blight.   

DJ/GB/GL Tyisha ward is currently highlighted as experiencing a high level of 
fly tipping incidences.  Additional resources as a temporary 
measure has been deployed to the area to work in conjunction with 
housing services to cleanse and improve LEQ of the area.  Regular 
reviews are undertaken to ensure required resource is maintained 
and the development of a long term strategy is required.   
 
 
 

April 2021/ 
ongoing  

P
age 127



Overarching Action and 
Sub-action Category 

Action Officer Target/Comments Target Date 

O9. Tourism hotspot areas Work collaboratively with marketing, 
tourism and economic development to 
support regeneration of tourism and 
local businesses within the County. 
Provide additional cleansing support 
within the costal and main tourist areas 
within the County during peak tourism 
season to compact LEQ issues that 
arise in high footfall areas.  

DJ/GB Provide supplementary resources in the identified areas to provide 
additional litter removal at peak times whilst funding is available in 
the form of WG grant support. 

April 2021 – 
ongoing  

O10. Reintroduce the 
education and enforcement 
process to tackle kerbside / 
collection point presentation 
issues. 

Assess current presentation of waste/ 
recycling at kerbside and analyse 
impacts on waste, cleansing and 
enforcement activity following further 
easement of Covid-19 WG and PHW 
guidelines.  

GL/SR/GB/SL/CT Reintroduce the education and enforcement process which aligns 
waste, cleansing and enforcement operational and strategic 
objectives to collecting and managing mispresented weekly 
kerbside and collection point waste allowing all services to work 
collaboratively and in line with each other’s actions to reduce LEQ 
issues that may result as a consequence of non-adherence to the 
full kerbside recycling scheme. 

October 2021 

Education, Engagement, Awareness. 

E1. Increase awareness of 
public responsibility 
towards litter. 

Engage in relevant litter and LEQ 
campaigns and initiative such as Welsh 
Government RDP funding, Caru Cymru 
Behavioural Change project 2021-2023 
and any other subsequent schemes in 
line with CCC ethos of maintaining a 
high standard of LEQ in categories such 
as; dog fouling, littering and fly tipping.  
Such initiatives will use various 
engagement techniques to promote 
behavioural change on LEQ issues  

MR/KF Use an array of communication methods to promote such 
messages on each subject via social media, website, leaflet and 
tools such as dog fouling kits promoting the use of visual stencils 
images promoting nudging techniques with regards to behavioural 
change. In addition to press releases, radio and newspapers 
advertisements and locational banners. 

March – 
December 
2022 

E2. Education awareness 
programme 

Work collaboratively with Marketing & 
Media officers develop a comprehensive 
LEQ communications plan.   

Michael Roberts/ 
Karen Fulham/ 

communications 
officer 

Develop marketing materials in line with the initiative to target key 
areas/ hot spots within the county. 
around dog fouling, littering and fly tipping to use various platforms 
to engage with different social demographic groups on varying 
issues.  Incorporating WG RDP Caru Cymru 2021-2023 partnership 
project alongside any proceeding initiatives to promote behavioural 
change with regard to LEQ issues and themes of the Caru Cymru 
project 

October 2021 
and six-
monthly 
reviews to 
project end 

E3. Public Information Provide easily accessible information on 
legislation with regards to local 
environmental quality issues such as 
dog fouling / littering and fly tipping. 

Karen Fulham/ 
Michael Roberts 

Review annually or when legislative changes occur website and 
literature content. Annual review of content to ensure ongoing 
relevance 

April 2022 

E4. Public Information Remind the public to use only 
authorised waste collectors to collect 
waste 

Karen Fulham/ 
Michael Roberts 

Review and update business waste information and make 
accessible on CCC website  
Promote public duty of care in relation to domestic waste and what 
requirements businesses need to collect and dispose of waste 
legally. 
Annual review of content to ensure ongoing relevance 

April 2021/ 
ongoing 

E5. Education Support KWT Eco School co-ordinator 
with any requests for assistance in 
respect of pupil litter picking activities to 
support the flag status 

Karen Fulham  Work collaboratively with KWT whenever the need arises March 2022/ 
ongoing 

P
age 128



Overarching Action and 
Sub-action Category 

Action Officer Target/Comments Target Date 

E6. Gathering information Identify key LEQ issues via local 
community contacts, cleansing 
operational staff and conducting LEQ 
audits within principal town areas, 10 
rural and smaller towns and any local 
area of significant concern with respect 
of leq issues.  Analysing the data and 
deciphering the key issues specific to 
the areas and tailoring key messages 
and promoting leq initiative in line with 
the blight. 

Michael Roberts  Conduct bi-monthly surveys in the towns and specific LEQ areas of 
concern and develop educational awareness campaigns and 
materials to change behaviours 

March 2022/ 
ongoing 

E7. Community 
engagement. 

Support and encourage local community 
groups in organising clean ups in local 
areas 

Michael Roberts To support a minimum of 10 clean ups each year in conjunction 
with Keep Wales Tidy Officers. 

January 2022 
- ongoing 

E8. Community 
engagement. 

Actively encourage participation in local 
environmental quality (LEQ) initiatives 
through engagement with local 
volunteers, Pride in your patch 
stakeholders, Keep Wales Tidy and 
Town & Community councils 

Michael Roberts  Engagement with the Caru Cymru WG RDP funded project 2021-
2023 on key campaign categories of; dog fouling, littering and fly 
tipping.  

January 2022 
- ongoing 

E9. Partner engagement Encourage and support local 
associations and committees in 
establishing a civic spirit towards 
cleanliness of their local areas. 

Michael Roberts Work with 4 town and community councils to carry out community 
clean ups and adopt initiatives that allows them to take an active 
role to reduce a particular LEQ issues of concern to their area, 
adopting behavioural change campaigns and engaging with 
individuals in their community to introduce nudging techniques to 
prompt people to doing the right thing with regards to LEQ matters 
 

December 
2022 

Enforcement 

EN1. Partnership working Work closely with Community Safety 
Partnership 
Contribute to as an active member.  

Steve Raymond / 
Michael Roberts 

Enforcement team to attend strategic meetings quarterly and 
internal practitioners’ meetings. 
Provide update report to BMT 

Bi-monthly 
report/actions 
to be fed back 
to BMT 
(ongoing) 

EN2. Information sharing. Improve internal communication of 
intelligence to ensure more efficient 
sharing of information and resources 
across departments and divisions.  

Steve Raymond / 
Michael Roberts 

Continue to attend PACT and PSG meetings sharing information / 
intelligence with the Multi-Disciplinary Enforcement strategic group 
and the Cleansing managers. 

Bi-monthly. 

EN3. Tourism hotspot areas. Provide an enforcement capability due 
to the increase in footfall at tourism 
locations as lock down from the 
pandemic eases. 

Steve Raymond To patrol 9 hotspot locations as designated by the tourism section 
and provide regular reports on outcomes. Provide monthly statistics 
on patrols undertaken. 

April 2021 – 
ongoing in 
peak visitor 
periods 

EN4. Awareness signage Provide litter and dog fouling awareness 
signs at hot spot areas and encourage 
use of litter / recycling bins 

Steve Raymond To renew existing or provide new litter and dog fouling awareness 
signs on land under Council control. 

March 2022 - 
March 2023 

EN5. Towns and villages. Ensure our Environmental Enforcement 
Officers maintain a presence in town 
and village hot spot areas across the 
County to deter littering and dog fouling. 
 
 

Steve Raymond To produce monitoring report at the Corporate Enforcement Forum 
chaired by the Executive Board Member 

Bi-monthly 
reports – up to 
March 2023. 

P
age 129



Overarching Action and 
Sub-action Category 

Action Officer Target/Comments Target Date 

EN6. Promote responsible 
actions on the part of 
property owners 

Work with residents and owners of 
premises to ensure that areas outside 
their homes/premises/businesses are 
kept free of litter 

Steve Raymond Working with the Waste Policy section to provide enforcement 
capabilities ensuring compliance of the 3-bag rule and excess waste 
and to give advice and assess bin provision for business customers. 
Exercise powers for noncompliance of waste legislation (s46) 
domestic property and s47 for business) Scheme to re-start Oct 21 
following covid restrictions. Record the number of s46’s and s47’s 
issued also the number of properties targeted with feedback to BMT 

March 2022 - 
ongoing 

EN7. Multi -Agency Joint 
Operations 

Carry out joint enforcement operations 
with partner’s organisation / services 
periodically in order to provide a highly 
visible and coordinated response in 
targeting problem areas. 
 
 

Steve Raymond To undertake 2 environmental enforcement operations with partner 
organisations and feedback outcome to Corporate Enforcement 
Group. 

December 
2022 

 
Monitoring and 

Evaluation  

Review annual action plan Geinor Lewis/ 
Dan John 

 April 2023  

 

P
age 130



 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL AND PUBLIC PROTECTION 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
1ST FEBRUARY 2022 

 

 
FORTHCOMING ITEMS 

 
 
To consider and comment on the following: 
 
To note the forthcoming items to be considered at the next meeting of the Environmental and 
Public Protection Scrutiny Committee to be held on the 7th March, 2022.    
  
 

 
Reason:  

 
The Council’s Constitution requires Scrutiny Committees, at the commencement of each 
municipal year, to develop and publish a Forward Work Programme which identifies the issues 
and reports which will be considered at meetings during the course of the year.   

 
 

 
To be referred to the Cabinet for decision:  NO 
 

 
Cabinet Member Portfolio Holders:  
Cllr. Hazel Evans (Environment) 
Cllr. Philip Hughes (Public Protection) 
Cllr. Ann Davies (Communities and Rural Affairs) 
Cllr. David Jenkins (Resources)   
 

 
Report Author: 
 
Janine Owen 
 

 
Designation: 
 
Democratic Services Officer  
 

 
Tel No. / E-Mail Address: 
 
01267 224030 
JanineOwen@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 
 
  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 131

Agenda Item 7



 

 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL AND PUBLIC PROTECTION 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
1ST FEBRUARY 2022 

 
 

FORTHCOMING ITEMS 
 

 

The Council’s Constitution requires Scrutiny Committees, at the commencement of each municipal 

year, to develop and publish a Forward Work Programme which identifies the issues and reports to 

be considered at meetings during the course of the year.  When formulating the Forward Work 

Programme the Scrutiny Committee will take into consideration those items included on the 

Cabinet’s Forward Work Programme. 

The list of forthcoming items attached includes those items which are scheduled in the 

Environmental and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee’s Forward Work Programme to be 

considered at the next meeting, to be held on 7th March, 2022. 

Also attached for information are the 2021/22 Forward Work Programmes in respect of the latest 

Environmental and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee and the Cabinet. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

REPORT ATTACHED? 
 

YES: 
Appendix 1 -  
List of Forthcoming Items 
 
Appendix 2 -  
Environmental and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee Forward 
Work Programme 2021/22 
 
Appendix 3 -  
Cabinet Forward Work Programme 2021/22 
 

 

Page 132



 

IMPLICATIONS 
 

 
I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with 
this report.  
  
Signed:    Linda Rees-Jones 

 
                              Head of Administration & Law  

 

Policy, Crime 
& Disorder 
and Equalities 

Legal Finance ICT Risk 
Management 
Issues 

Staffing 
Implications 

Physical Assets  

 
NONE 
 

 
NONE 

 
NONE  

 
NONE 

 
NONE 

 
NONE 

 
NONE 

 

CONSULTATIONS 
 

 
I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below: 
  
Signed:    Linda Rees-Jones 

 
Head of Administration & Law  

 
1. Local Member(s) – N/A 
 
2. Community / Town Council – N/A 
 
3. Relevant Partners – N/A 
 
4. Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations – N/A    
 

CABINET MEMBER PORTFOLIO HOLDER AWARE / 
CONSULTED  

 

YES 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
 
Title of Document 

 
Locations that the papers are available for public inspection  

Environmental and Public Protection 
Scrutiny Committee Forward Work 
Programme 

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-
democracy/committees-meetings/scrutiny/#.YeaJ0mjP2Uk 
 

 

 

Page 133

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/committees-meetings/scrutiny/#.YeaJ0mjP2Uk
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/committees-meetings/scrutiny/#.YeaJ0mjP2Uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

FORTHCOMING ITEMS  
for next meeting to be held on 7th March 2022 

 
In order to ensure effective Scrutiny, Members need to be clear as to the purpose of requesting specific 
information and the outcome they are hoping to achieve as a consequence of examining a report.   
 

 
Proposed  
Agenda Item  

Background 
 

Reason for report 
 

Cabinet Member 

 
Departmental 
Business Plans 
for:- 
 
Environment  
 
Chief Executive* 
 
Communities*  
 
2022/23-2023/24 
 
*Extracts relevant 
to this scrutiny’s 
remit 

 

As part of the Business Plan 
Development process the 
Committee is invited to consider 
and comment on the 
Environment, Communities and 
Chief Executive Departmental 
Business Plans 2022/23 – 
2023/24 relevant to its remit. 
 

To afford the Committee 
the opportunity of 
commenting on and 
making any 
recommendations for 
changes to the 
Departmental Business 
Plans in respect of the 
plans for 2022/23 – 
2023/24. 

Cllr Hazel 
Evans 
Cllr Philip 
Hughes 
Cllr Ann Davies 

Report on the 
provision of 
Pavements in 
Rural Areas 

[Referral from 
Community & 
Regeneration 
Scrutiny 
Committee] 

This report will provide Members 
with information on the current 
position in relation provision of 
pavements in the rural areas of 
Carmarthenshire. 

At its meeting held on 4th 
October 2021, Members of 
the E&PP Scrutiny 
Committee considered and 
accepted referral from the 
Community and 
Regeneration Scrutiny 
Committee regarding the 
provision of pavements in 
rural areas.  In order to 
explore this matter further 
the Committee resolved to 
include this as an item 
onto the Forward Work 
Programme (Minute 9.2, 
2021 refers). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 135



 

Proposed  
Agenda Item  

Background 
 

Reason for report 
 

Cabinet Member 

Extension Of 
Public Space 
Protection Order 
(Carmarthenshire 
Dog Orders) 

In 2016, the Council made the 
Carmarthenshire County Council 
(Dog Control) Public Spaces 
Protection Order, which came into 
force on the 1st July 2016 for 3 
years. In 2019 the Order was 
extended for a further period of 3 
years with effect from the 1st July 
2019. It is therefore due to expire 
in 2022.  
 
As part of the review, approval 
was given by Cabinet Member 
Decision for Public Protection on 
the 2nd September, 2021 that the 
authority sought the views of a 
number of consultees on the 
extension of the 2016 Order. This 
consultation period opened on 1st 
November and closed on 17th 
December 2021.  

To afford the Committee 
the opportunity of 
commenting on the 
information in relation to 
extending the PSPO and 
making any 
recommendations to 
Cabinet.  

Cllr Philip 
Hughes 

 

Items to be circulated under a separate cover to Scrutiny Committee members 
(as agreed at the Committee’s Forward Work Programme development session on 9th April 2021.) 

Proposed Agenda 
Item  

Background 
 

Reason for report 
 

Cabinet Member 

Equestrian Strategy There is a commitment in 
the Carmarthenshire Rights 
of Way Improvement Plan 
2019-2029 (ROWIP) to 
produce an Equestrian 
Strategy for the County. 
This was included in the 
ROWIP following 
consultation with our PROW 
and Access stakeholders 
who identified the potential 
value of an Equestrian 
Strategy designed to 
promote and develop an 
accessible network for 
equestrian use in 
Carmarthenshire. 

The Committee will have an 
opportunity to consider the 
draft Equestrian Strategy 
prior to Cabinet 
consideration.   
 
As agreed by the Committee 
and to manage the number of 
reports on the Agenda on 7th 
March, this report will be 
scrutinised by Members 
outside of the formal 
committee by e-mail. 
Comments/queries will be 
responded to accordingly and 
placed on the forthcoming 
items for 8th April. 

Cllr. Hazel 
Evans 

 
  

Page 136



 

 

Items circulated to the Committee under separate cover since the last 
meeting held on 22nd December 2021 

 

In accordance with the Committee’s Forward Work Programme, no reports were circulated for 
scrutiny outside of the formal committee process since the last meeting on 22nd December 2021. 

 

Items attached for information 

 The latest version of the Environmental and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee Forward Work 
Programme 2021/22 

 The Cabinet Forward Work Programme 2021/22 
 

 
 

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



Last updated – January 2022 

Environmental & Public Protection Scrutiny Committee – Forward Work Plan 2021/22 
18th May 2021 

CANCELLED 

2nd  

July 2021 

4th  

October 2021 

25th  

November 2021 

22nd  

December 2021 

1st  

February 2022 

7th  

March 2022 

8th  

April 2022 

E&PP Forward 
Work 
Programme 
2021/22 
Forwarded to  
2nd July 

E&PP Scrutiny 
Annual Report 
2020/21 

Quarterly 
Performance 
Monitoring 
Report Q1 

Electrical Vehicle 
Strategy 

Quarterly 
Performance 
Monitoring 
Report Q2 

Revenue Budget 
Consultation  
2022/23 – 
2024/25 
 
 

Report on the 
provision of 
Pavements in Rural 
Areas 

[Referral from 
Community & 
Regeneration Scrutiny 
Committee] 

Quarterly 
Performance 
Monitoring Report 
Q3 

 

Strategic Plan for 
Managing our land 
for Pollinators in 
Carmarthenshire 

Departmental 
Business Plans 
x 3 - Forwarded 
to 2nd July 

Carmarthenshire 
Council Annual 
Report 2020/21 

Flood Response 

 
Update report 
from the Task 
and Finish Group 

Local Toilets 
Strategy 
Interim 
Progress 
Report  

Budget 
Monitoring 

[April to October 
2021] 

Public Space 
Protection Order 
(PSPO) 

Net Zero Carbon 
Action Plan 

 Task and Finish 
Planning and 
Scoping Document 
on Fly- Tipping 

 

Air Quality 
Management Area 
(AQMA) - Future 
Delivery Plan 

E&PP Scrutiny 
Committee 
Actions Update 
report. 
 
 
Future Waste 
Strategy  

Highways 
Maintenance 
Manual 

 

 

Highways Asset 
Management 
Plan Annual 
Statement update 

Planning 
Enforcement 
Statement 

Local 
Environment 
Quality 

 

Departmental 
Business Plans for 
Environment  
Chief Executive* 
Communities*  
2022/23-2023/24 
*Extracts relevant to 
this scrutiny’s remit 

Environment Act 
Forward Plan 
Update 

[Deferred from 
December 2021] 

 

E&PP Scrutiny 
Committee Actions 
Update report. 

Items to be circulated under a separate cover to Scrutiny Committee members 
(as agreed at the Committee’s Forward Work Programme development session on 9th April 2021.) 

Budget Monitoring 

[April 2020 to 
February 2021] 

 

 

Graffiti Policy 
(delayed to 
2022/23) 

Budget Monitoring 

[April to August 2021] 
 

  Equestrian Strategy 

 

Budget Monitoring 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 Budget Monitoring 
April to June 2021 
 

Public Rights of 
Way Network 
Hierarchy 

     

P
age 139

https://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/documents/s56873/Budget%20Monitoring%20Report%20-%20EPP%20Scrutiny%20November%202021.pdf
https://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/documents/s56873/Budget%20Monitoring%20Report%20-%20EPP%20Scrutiny%20November%202021.pdf


Last updated – January 2022 

 

OTHER REPORTS TO BE INCLUDED: 
 
The following reports will be included to the FWP at a later date:-  
 

 Dog Breeders Licence Update (Change of Policy / Legislation – awaiting WG confirmation) 

 Update on WG Speed Limit Review (20mph) – dependant on WG publishing their review report 

 Referral from P&R Scrutiny Committee (27/1/2020), Joint Transport Plan for South West Wales –  
 Delayed until 2022/23 [Update at the E&PP Scrutiny meeting on 14/12/2020, minute 5 refers]. 

 

SCRUTINY FOCUS SESSION (Informal) - ITEMS FOR SC&H and E&PP SCRUTINY COMMITTEE’S – Date to be confirmed 
Informal Scrutiny Committee meeting with Social Care and Health– (to be confirmed): 

­ Area Planning Board’s Drug & Alcohol Misuse Strategy Report   -  Substance Misuse Service Report  
 

TASK & FINISH REVIEW: 
 
The Committee at its FWP Development Session held on 9th April 2021, considered a topic suggestion received from Llandyfaelog Community 
Council suggesting that the Committee consider the issues in relation to fly-tipping in Carmarthenshire.  Committee Members recognised that fly 
tipping was an increasing problem in Carmarthenshire and that the consequence of fly-tipping had a detrimental effect on the environment and 
communities.  
 
The Committee at its meeting on 2nd July 2021 unanimously resolved that its Task and Finish arrangements for 2021-22-23 would be as follows:  

1) *Review on the Fly tipping within Carmarthenshire 
2) Review on Dog Breeding in Carmarthenshire. 

 
Update: The Task and Finish Group at its first meeting on 8th September, 2021 received an update from the Director of Environment on internal 
matters that had arisen since the Scrutiny Committee agreement on its Task and Finish arrangements and the endorsement of the review 
planning and scoping document in July.  Considering the information received, the Group unanimously agreed to defer the review on Flytipping to 
2022 following the Election process.  A report outlining the reasons will be presented to the Committee at its meeting in November 2021. 
 
*This decision supersedes the Committee’s decision made at its meeting held on 15th November 2019 – “unanimously resolved that dog breeding in 
Carmarthenshire be the subject for Committee’s next Task and Finish review in 2021”.   

 P
age 140



 CABINET  FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 2021/22 

–as at 23/09/2021  (For the period  September   21   – September 22) 

1 
 

 

Introduction 
  
This plan is published to encourage and enable greater understanding between the Cabinet, all Councillors, the public and other stakeholders. It assists the Scrutiny Committees in planning their contribution to policy 
development and holding the Cabinet to account. 
 
The plan gives the public and stakeholders a chance to see the forthcoming major decisions to be made by the Cabinet over the next 12 months. It is reviewed and published quarterly to take account of changes and 
additional key decisions. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 141



 CABINET  FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 2021/22 

–as at 23/09/2021  (For the period  September   21   – September 22) 

2 
 

 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

 

Subject area and brief description of 

nature of report 

 

Responsible Officer Cabinet Portfolio Scrutiny Committee to be 

consulted 

Date of expected decision by Cabinet 

ECONOMIC RECOVERY PLANS (TOWN 

CENTRES) 

Jason Jones, Head of 

Regeneration 

Resources Community 25.10.21 

CITY DEAL – PROCUREMENT UPDATE Wendy Walters, Chief  

Executive 

Leader Community  31.01.22 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY TASK & FINISH 

GROUP 

 

Wendy Walters, Executive Communities & Rural Affairs  8.11.22 

WELSH GOVERNMENT CONSULTATION 

DOCUMENTS 

Wendy Walters Executive Deputy Leader If applicable As and when requirede 

REVIEW OF COMMUNITY COUNCIL 

BOUNDARIES & ELECTORAL 

ARRANGEMENTS 

Wendy Walters, Chief 

Executive 

Resources  As and when required 

REVIEW OF THE CONSTITUTION 

(LEGISLATION CHANGES) - CRWG 

Linda Rees Jones Head of 

Administration & Law 

N/A 

CRWG - FEB 

N/A As And When Required 

CITY DEAL UPDATE (INCLUDING PENTRE 

AWEL) 

Wendy Walters Chief 

Executive 

Leader  As & When Required 

 

P
age 142



 CABINET  FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 2021/22 

–as at 23/09/2021  (For the period  September   21   – September 22) 

3 
 

 
 

 

COMMUNITY SERVICES 
 

 

Subject area and brief description of 

nature of report 

 

Responsible Officer Executive Portfolio Scrutiny Committee to be 

consulted 

Date of expected decision by  Cabinet 

DIRECTOR OF SOCIAL SERVICES 

ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22  

Jake Morgan – Director of 

Communities/Silvana Sauro 

Social Care & Health 07/07/21 & 08/07/21 13/09/2021 

DOG BREEDERS LICENCE UPDATE 

(Change of Policy / Legislation – awaiting 

WG confirmation) 

Jonathan Morgan – Head of 

Homes and Safer 

Communities/ Roger Edmunds 

Public Protection  TBC 

PROVIDING ADDITIONAL PITCHES FOR 

GYPSIES AND TRAVELLERS IN THE 

LLANELLI AREA 

Jonathan Morgan – Head of 

Homes and Safer 

Communities/Rachel Davies 

Housing TBC 18/10/2021 

HRA BUDGET SERVICES CHARGES AND 

RENT SETTING 2022/23  

 

Jonathan Morgan – Head of 

Homes and Safer 

Communities/Rachel Davies 

Hopusing  January 22 

CHS+ DELIVERING WHAT MATTERS 

BUSINESS PLAN 

Jonathan Morgan – Head of 

Homes and Safer 

Communities/ Rachel Davies/ 

Gareth Williams 

Housing February 2022 February 2022 

(Budget) 

 

P
age 143



 CABINET  FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 2021/22 

–as at 23/09/2021  (For the period  September   21   – September 22) 

4 
 

 

 

CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

 

Subject area and brief description of 

nature of report 

 

Responsible Officer Executive Portfolio Scrutiny Committee to be 

consulted 

Date of expected decision by  Cabinet 

BI-MONTHLY REVENUE AND CAPITAL 

BUDGET MONITORING REPORTS 

Chris Moore 

Director of Corporate Services 

Resources N/A SEPT 

NOV 

JAN 

MARCH 

QUARTERLY TREASURY MANAGEMENT 

AND PRUDENTIAL INDICATOR REPORT 

Chris Moore 

Director of Corporate Services 

Resources N/A SEPT/OCT 

JAN 

APR 

ANNUAL TREASURY MANAGEMENT & 

PRUDENTIAL INDICATOR REPORT 

Chris Moore 

Director of Corporate Services 

Resources N/A JULY 

BUDGET OUTLOOK Chris Moore 

Director of Corporate Services 

Resources N/A JULY 

5 YEAR CAPITAL PROGRAMME Chris Moore 

Director of Corporate Services 

Resources ALL 

JAN/ FEB 

JAN 

COUNCIL TAX BASE Chris Moore / Helen Pugh Resources N/A DEC 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme Chris Moore / Helen Pugh Resources N/A FEB 

BUDGET STRATEGY (Revenue and 

Capital) 

Chris Moore 

Director of Corporate Services 

Resources ALL 

JAN/ FEB 

JAN 

HIGH STREET RATE RELIEF Chris Moore Director of 

Corporate Services /Helen 

Pugh 

Resources  

N/A 

March 

CORPORATE RISK REGISTER Chris Moore Director of 

Corporate Services / Helen 

Pugh 

Resources – Audit Committee 

March   & 

SEPT 

 

 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY AND 

STRATEGY 

Chris Moore 

Director of Corporate Services 

Resources N/A FEBRUARY  – BUDGET MEETING 

FINAL BUDGET 

Revenue & Capital 

Chris Moore 

Director of Corporate Services 

Resources N/A FEBRUARY  – BUDGET MEETING 

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGET 

AND RENT SETTING REPORT 

Chris Moore 

Director of Corporate Services 

Resources HOUSING FEBRUARY  BUDGET MEETING 

BUDGET STRATEGY Chris Moore 

Director of Corporate Services 

Resources N/A NOV 

 

P
age 144



 CABINET  FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 2021/22 

–as at 23/09/2021  (For the period  September   21   – September 22) 

5 
 

 

P
age 145



 CABINET  FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 2021/22 

–as at 23/09/2021  (For the period  September   21   – September 22) 

6 
 

 

EDUCATION & CHILDREN 
 

 

Subject area and brief description of 

nature of report 

 

Responsible Officer Executive Portfolio Scrutiny Committee to be consulted Date of expected decision by Cabinet 

MODERNISING EDUCATION 

PROGRAMME – MUTUAL INVESTMENT 

MODEL -DEED OF ADHERENCE 

Simon Davies – Head of 

Access to Education 

Education & Children  27/09/2021 

 

P
age 146



 CABINET  FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 2021/22 

–as at 23/09/2021  (For the period  September   21   – September 22) 

7 
 

 

 

Subject area and brief description of 

nature of report 

 

Responsible Officer Executive Portfolio Scrutiny Committee to be consulted Date of expected decision by Cabinet 

HIGHWAYS MAINTENANCE MANUAL  

 

Steve Pilliner - Head of 

Transportation & Highways/ 

Chris Nelson/ Richard Waters 

 

Environment EPP  

4/10/21  

25/10/21  

LEQ  Ainsley Williams  Environment  EPP 4/10/21 25/10/21 

FUTURE WASTE STRATEGY  Ainsley Williams / Dan John  Environment  4/10/21 25/10/21 

EQUESTRIAN STRATEGY 

 

Steve Pilliner - Head of 

Transportation & Highways 

/Caroline Ferguson 

 

Environment EPP  

12/11/21 

22/11/21 

ELECTRIC VEHICLE STRATEGY  Steve Pilliner  / Simon Charles  Environment  EPP 12/11/21 6/12/21 

PUBLIC CONVENIENCES Ainsley Williams. Head of 

Waste & Environmental 

Services Rhys Davies 

Environment EPP 

16/12/21 

January 22 

 

 

ENVIRONMENT 
 

P
age 147



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL & PUBLIC PROTECTION  
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
22 DECEMBER 2021 

 
PRESENT: Councillor J.D. James (Chair) 
 
Councillors:  
J.M. Charles, T.A.J. Davies, J.A. Davies, P.M. Edwards, S.J.G. Gilasbey, T.M. Higgins, 
B.D.J. Phillips, J.S. Phillips, D. Thomas, A. Vaughan Owen and A.D.T. Speake.  
D.E. Williams - Substitute for Councillor K. Davies. 
 
Also in attendance: 
Councillor H.A.L. Evans, Cabinet Member for Environment; 
Councillor P.M. Hughes, Cabinet Member for Public Protection; 
Councillor J. Tremlett, Cabinet Member for Social Care and Health. 
 
The following Officers were in attendance: 
R. Mullen, Director of Environment; 
N. Daniel, Head of ICT and Corporate Policy; Interim Head of Planning; 
J. Morgan, Head of Homes & Safer Communities; 
A. Williams, Head of Waste and Environmental Services 
E. Evans, Principal Democratic Services Officer; 
R. S. Waters, Highways and Transportation Services Manager; 
K. Thomas, Democratic Services Officer; 
A. Eynon, Principal Translator; 
J. Owen, Democratic Services Officer; 
 
Virtual Meeting: 2:00pm - 3:05pm 
 
[NOTE: Councillor Aled Vaughan-Owen as Vice Chair presided the meeting for Agenda 
Item 7 only, due to the Chair having connection issues]. 
 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND OTHER PERSONAL MATTERS 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors K. Davies, E. Morgan and 
Councillor A. Davies, Cabinet Member for Communities and Rural Affairs. 
 
The Chair conveyed his best wishes to Councillor Eryl Morgan who had recently 
been admitted to hospital following a fall.  On behalf of the Committee, the Chair 
wished Councillor Morgan a speedy recovery and proposed that the sentiments be 
forwarded to Councillor Morgan by way of a letter.  This was duly seconded. 
 
The Chair acknowledged that this meeting was Mrs Ruth Mullen, Director of 
Environment’s last meeting with the Council and wished to express his sincere 
thanks to her for the professional work and her support to the Committee.  The 
Committee wished Mrs Mullen well in her future endeavours. 
 
UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED that the Chair send a letter of best wishes to 
Councillor Morgan on behalf of the Committee. 

Page 149

Agenda Item 8



 
 

 
2. DECLARATIONS OF PERSONAL INTEREST INCLUDING ANY PARTY WHIPS 

ISSUED IN RELATION TO ANY AGENDA ITEM. 
 
There were no declarations of any prohibited party whips. 
There were no declarations of interest made.  
 

3. PUBLIC QUESTIONS (NONE RECEIVED) 
 
The Chair advised that no public questions had been received. 
 

4. 2021/22 QUARTER 2 PERFORMANCE REPORT  
(1ST APRIL TO 30TH SEPTEMBER 2021) 
 
The Committee received the 2021/22 Quarter 2 Performance Report for the period 
1st April to 30th September 2021 presented by the Cabinet Members for 
Environment, Public Protection and Social Care and Health in respect of the areas 
falling within their portfolios and the Committees remit.  
 
The report detailed the progress made against the actions and measures within 
the Corporate Strategy and on the delivery of the 13 Well-Being Objectives. The 
Committee noted that 2021/22 was the first year the Council would self-evaluate 
and report on under the terms of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 
2021, especially Part 6 relating to Performance and Governance. 
 
The following comments/queries were raised in relation to the actions attributed to 
the Environment portfolio:- 
 

 In reference to page 7 of the report, compliments were expressed to the 
cleansing teams for their rapid response to calls in removing excess waste in 
bottle bank areas.  The Cabinet Member for Public Protection agreed that the 
teams were very proactive and stated that as this matter resided within the 
public protection portfolio, he would ensure that the Committee’s compliments 
were forwarded to the relevant teams. 
 

 Reference was made to action reference PAM/030 - Percentage of waste 
reused, recycled or composted.  It was asked in relation to the significant 
disruption to the normal waste sorting, treatment and disposal arrangements 
as a result of fire at CWM’s Nantycaws materials recovery facility, if the Welsh 
Government would be understanding with regard to targets?  The Cabinet 
Member for Environment stated that it was hoped that the Welsh Government 
would be understanding of the position and explained that measures had been 
put in place to assist in meeting the targets whilst the challenges in relation to 
sorting the waste continue. 

 
The Head of Waste and Environmental Services confirmed that the Welsh 
Government were fully sighted of the situation.  In addition, close monitoring of 
the position was a priority particularly during the pandemic. 

Page 150



 
 

 

 In response to a query in relation to the cataloguing and classification of 
potholes throughout the County, the Cabinet Member for Environment stated 
that the Highways Asset Management Plan sets out the hierarchy of highway 
repair against the classification of road.  The Director of Environment further 
explained that the repair of a pothole would be prioritised by considering the 
two ‘need categorisation’ criteria; 1) the nature of the road that the pothole has 
occurred and 2) the severity of the pothole.  Based on the criteria, should a 
pothole meet the criteria for immediate repair it would be completed within 
24hours.  However, a pothole that was deemed not severe and was located on 
a low usage category road would not be a classified for intervention and would 
therefore remain in place.  The Director echoed the comments of the Cabinet 
Member for Environment regarding the Highways Asset Management Plan 
which considers the conditions of the highway as a whole. 
 

 Reference was made to the promised action ‘We will work with communities to 
submit bids to the Welsh Government to secure funding for the development 
of Safer Routes in Communities and Active Travel to improve walking routes 
to encourage more sustainable travel to assist with achieving the objective of 
decarbonisation – action number 14964.  Whilst the action indicates to be on 
target, concern was raised there was only one opportunity to submit a bid to 
secure funding for the development of Safer Routes in Communities in rural 
areas in any one year.  Concern was expressed that Carmarthenshire 
contained a vast rural area and that only one application per year would not be 
enough to provide the necessary funding for safer routes in a timely manner.  
It was asked if this could be improved upon?  The Cabinet Member for 
Environment stated that bids were based on the available grants from the 
Welsh Government and in this case, it was one urban and one rural per year.  
The concerns were substantiated, in the confirmation that following 
advertisement and criteria matching, 300+ applications had been received for 
the provision of safer routes.  The Director of Environment specified that in 
terms of the performance report the action was on target aligned to the 
available budget. 
 
In an effort to encourage the Welsh Government to increase the opportunity to 
obtain funding for Safer Routes in communities, it was proposed that the 
Committee write a letter to the appropriate Minister within the Welsh 
Government to request that funding for Safer Routes in Communities is 
increased and that the eligibility criteria widened to support the development of 
more projects.  This was duly seconded. 
 

No comments/queries were raised in relation to the actions attributed to the Public 
Protection portfolio. 
 
In the absence of the Cabinet Member for Communities and Rural Affairs, the 
Chair invited comments/queries from Committee Members in relation to the 
actions attributed to the Communities and Rural Affairs portfolio.  No 
comments/queries were raised. 

Page 151



 
 

 
The following comments/queries were raised on in relation to the actions attributed 
to the Social Care and Health portfolio:- 
 

 Reference was made to WBO7. Help people live healthy lives (Tackling risky 
behaviour and obesity) Sub-theme: D - Substance Misuse located on page 20 
of the agenda pack.  It was asked what the definition of ‘Risky Behaviour’ was 
in respect of this WBO?  To ensure to provide an accurate definition the 
Cabinet Member for Social Care and Health offered to forward the definition of 
risky behaviour in the context of substance misuse to Committee members by 
e-mail.  

 
UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED that: 
 
4.1 the 2021/22 Quarter 2 Performance Report (1st April to 30th September 

2021) be received; 
 
4.2 that the Committee write a letter to the Deputy Minister for Climate 

Change to request that funding for Safer Routes in Communities is 
increased and that the eligibility criteria widened to support the 
development of more projects. 

 
5. LOCAL TOILETS STRATEGY INTERIM PROGRESS REPORT 

 
The Committee considered the Local Toilets Strategy Interim Progress Report 
presented by the Cabinet Member for Environment. 
 
The strategy had been developed in accordance with Part 8 of the Public Health 
(Wales) Act 2017 which placed a duty on each Local Authority in Wales to prepare 
and publish a local toilets strategy for its area. 
 
It was reported that there was no statutory requirement for Local Authorities to 
provide public toilets and the duty to prepare a strategy did not in itself require 
Local Authorities to provide and maintain public toilets themselves, however Local 
Authorities were required to take a strategic view across their area on how toilet 
provisions could be provided and accessed by the local population. 
 
Carmarthenshire County Council published its Local Toilets Strategy during 
August 2019. The progress of the strategy’s 10 key recommendations to enhance 
Carmarthenshire’s long term toilet provision was included in the report.  
 
The following comments/queries were raised in relation to the report:- 
 

 It was asked if there would be any changes in relation to the charges?  The 
Head of Waste and Environmental Services explained that the current charge 
was maintained at 20p across all units and any future consideration to change 
this would have to be considered as part of the budget consultation. 
 

 In response to a query raised regarding Danfo, the Head of Waste and 
Environmental Services explained that Danfo, the company contracted to 
service and clean 9 of the toilet facilities throughout the County had around 
12-18 months remaining under the current contract. 

Page 152



 
 

 

 It was commented that there had been a noticeable improvement on the 
cleanliness of the toilets within town centres and commended the Officers on a 
well written report. 

 
UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO CABINET that the Local 
Toilets Strategy Interim Progress Report be endorsed. 
 

6. DRAFT PLANNING ENFORCEMENT STATEMENT 
 
The Committee considered the Draft Planning Enforcement Statement presented 
by the Cabinet Member for Public Protection. 
 
It was reported that the recent Wales Audit Office review of Planning Services had 
highlighted the significant backlog of unresolved complaints within 
Carmarthenshire’s Planning Enforcement service and in response to the findings 
of the report, the Council was reviewing how it would carry out its enforcement 
responsibilities.  The current Enforcement Policy developed in 2015 later followed 
by an overarching Corporate Enforcement Policy which was adopted in April 2018.  
There was now a need to review the original Planning Enforcement Statement to 
take account of changes within both the internal and external environment and to 
re-establish as the Planning Enforcement Statement. 
 
The following comments/queries were raised in relation to the report:- 
 

 The Interim Head of Planning, in response to a query raised regarding the 
number of enforcement staff explained that currently there were 4 permanent 
staff and 2 additional staff on a 12-month contract to manage all planning 
enforcement cases across the County. 
 
Furthermore, the team together with the additional staff, had in the last 7 
months successfully reduced the backlog of unresolved enforcement cases by 
closing 428 cases.  Whilst new cases had continued to come in, it was 
reported that the backlog had reduced from just under 1000 cases to 698 as of 
today. 

 

 It was asked how unsolicited siting’s of caravans on parcels of woodland were 
being managed?  The Interim Head of Planning acknowledged that this matter 
was a growing concern in all rural areas across the Country and that the 
planning department deal with such matters in line with standard practice and 
enforcement procedures as and when they are brought to the attention of the 
planning section. 

 
UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO CABINET that the Draft 
Planning Enforcement Statement be endorsed. 

Page 153



 
 

 
7. FORTHCOMING ITEMS 

 
[Note: Due to the Chair having connection issues Councillor Aled Vaughan-Owen 
as Vice Chair presided the meeting for this item] 
 
The Committee considered the list of forthcoming items to be placed on the 
agenda for the next meeting scheduled to take place on 1st February 2022 and 
was afforded the opportunity to request for any specific information that Members 
may wish to include within the reports. 
 
The Committee noted the questions and responses that was received in relation to 
the Budget Monitoring Report (1st April 2021 – 30th August 2021) which was 
circulated to Members outside of the formal Committee process in accordance 
with the Forward Work Programme.   
 
In recognising that the next meeting would be considering the budget consultation, 
it was proposed that the Budget Monitoring Report (1st April 2021 – 30th October 
2021) be placed on the formal agenda for consideration, this was duly seconded.   
 
UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED that: 
 
7.1 the list of forthcoming items to be considered at the next scheduled 

meeting on the 1st February 2022 be noted; 
 
7.2 the queries and responses included in the report in respect of the 

Budget Monitoring Report (1st April 2021 to 30th August 2021) be 
noted. 

 
7.3 the Budget Monitoring Report (1st April 2021 to 30th October 2021) be 

included on the agenda for the next meeting on 1st February 2022. 
 

8. TO SIGN AS A CORRECT RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE 
COMMITTEE HELD ON THE 25TH NOVEMBER 2021 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on the 
25th November, 2021 be signed as a correct record.  
 
 
 

 
________________________    __________________ 
CHAIR       DATE 

 
 
 

Page 154


	Agenda
	4 REVENUE BUDGET STRATEGY CONSULTATION 2022/23 to 2024/25
	Appendix A Revenue Budget Strategy
	Appendix A(i) Efficiency Proposals
	Appendix A(ii) Growth Bids
	Appendix B Budget Monitoring
	Appendix C Charging Digest

	5 REVENUE & CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING REPORT 2021/22
	Appendix A-C
	Appendix D
	Appendix E
	Appendix F

	6 LOCAL ENVIRONMENT QUALITY MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022 - 2026
	Local Environmental Quality Management Plan 2022 - 2026
	LEQ Action Plan 2022 - 2023

	7 FORTHCOMING ITEMS
	Appendix 1 - List of Forthcoming Items
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	8 TO SIGN AS A CORRECT RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE COMMITTEE HELD ON THE 22 DECEMBER 2021

